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Glossary of Terms 

The following is a glossary of certain terms used in this Listing Statement and in certain documents attached 
as schedules hereto.   

“Amalgamation” means the amalgamation between the Issuer and PAI which occurred on May 28, 2020 
pursuant to an amalgamation agreement dated April 30, 2020.  

“Auditors” means DeVisser Gray LLP, the auditors of the Issuer. 

“BCBCA” means the Business Corporations Act (British Columbia) including the regulations thereunder, 
as amended. 

“BCSC” means the British Columbia Securities Commission.   

“Board” means the board of directors of the Issuer, as it may be comprised from time to time. 

“CEO” means an individual who acted as the chief executive officer of the Issuer, or acted in a similar 
capacity, for any part of the most recently completed financial year. 

“CFO” means an individual who acted as the chief financial officer of the Issuer, or acted in a similar 
capacity, for any part of the most recently completed financial year. 

“Common Shares” or “Shares” means common shares without par value in the capital of the Issuer, either 
on a pre or post consolidated basis as the context requires. 

“CSE” means the Canadian Securities Exchange. 

“CSE Policies” mean the policies published by the CSE from time to time, applicable to companies listed 
on the CSE. 

“Investee” means an entity in which the Issuer holds an investment. 

“Issuer” or “Company” means Pioneer Media Holdings Inc. 

“Listing Statement” means this CSE Form 2A Listing Statement. 

“MD&A” means management’s discussion and analysis. 

“Named Executive Officers” means Michael Edwards (the Chief Executive Officer), and Andrew Stewart 
(the Chief Financial Officer). 

“PAI” means Pioneer Acquisition I Inc. 

“Related Person” has the meaning as described thereto in CSE Policy 1. 

“SEDAR” means the System for Electronic Document Analysis and Retrieval, at www.sedar.com. 

“Shareholders” means the holders of the Issuer’s Common Shares. 

“Stock Option Plan” or “Plan” means the stock option plan of the Issuer. 

 
  



 

{01968205;1} FORM 2A – LISTING STATEMENT  Page 4 
 
 

Forward-Looking Statements 

Certain statements in this Listing Statement may constitute “forward-looking” statements involving known 
and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors regarding the Company’s intentions, beliefs, 
expectations and future results as they pertain to the Company and its proposed business.  This may cause 
the actual results, performance or achievements of the Company, or industry results, to be materially 
different from any future results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by such forward-
looking statements.  This forward-looking information also includes information regarding the financial 
condition and business of the Company, as they exist at the date of this Listing Statement and as they are 
expected to be after the Financing. 
 
Forward-looking statements may include, but are not limited to, statements regarding the Company’s 
opportunities, investment strategies, competition, expected activities and expenditures as the Company 
pursues its business plan, the adequacy of the Company’s available cash resources and other statements 
about future events or results. In particular, and without limiting the generality of the foregoing, this Listing 
Statement contains forward-looking information concerning: 

 the Company’s future investments; 
 general market conditions;  
 the availability of financing for proposed investments on reasonable terms;  
 the ability to contract outside service providers and the reliability of those outside service providers 

in delivering services in a satisfactory and timely manner; 
 expectations with respect to the returns on investment activities of the Company; 
 the use of the available funds; 
 the performance of the Company’s business and operations; 
 the Company’s expectations regarding expenses and anticipated cash needs; 
 the intention to grow the Company’s business and operations;  
 the competitive conditions of the industry in which the Company operates; 
 the regulations pertaining to each industry or business in which the Company invests; 
 the expected timing and completion of the Company’s near-term objectives; 
 laws and any amendments thereto applicable to the Company; 
 the competitive advantages and investment strategies of the Company; 
 the Company’s plans with respect to the payment of dividends; 
 the identity of the NEOs of the Company and the expected compensation payable to them; and 
 corporate governance matters, including the adoption of Board committee mandates, the 

membership of such committees and the adoption of various corporate policies. 
 
The Company’s forward-looking information is based on the beliefs, expectations and opinions of 
management of the Company on the date the information is provided. Investors should not place undue 
reliance on forward-looking information. 
 
In certain cases, forward-looking statements can be identified by the use of such words as “may”, “would”, 
“could”, “will”, “intend”, “expect”, “believe”, “plan”, “anticipate”, “estimate”, “seek”, “project”, “should”, 
“strategy”, “future”, “consider” and other similar terminology. These statements reflect the Company’s 
current expectations regarding future events and operating performance and speak only as of the date of 
this Listing Statement. 
 
Forward-looking statements in this Listing Statement include risk statements regarding: 

 compliance with regulatory requirements relating to Company’s business;  
 changes in laws, regulations and guidelines relating to Company’s business;  
 limited operating history;  
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 reliance on management; 
 competition in Company’s industry; 
 market price volatility of industries the Company is targeting;  
 inherent risks associated with the investing and holding minority interests in businesses;  
 conflicts of interest of the Company’s officers and directors;  
 volatility in the market price for the securities of the Company; 
 no dividends for the foreseeable future; 
 future sales of Common Shares or other securities by existing shareholders causing the market price 

for the securities to fall; and 
 the issuance of shares or other securities in the future causing dilution. 

 
With respect to forward-looking statements and forward-looking information contained in this Listing 
Statement, assumptions have been made regarding, among other things: 

 the availability of investment opportunities on terms satisfactory to the Company; 
 the Company’s ability to obtain and retain qualified personnel or advisers; 
 the regulatory framework governing foreign ownership in the jurisdictions in which the Company 

may be investing; 
 future expenses and level of investments to be made by the Company; 
 future sources of funding for the Company’s business; 
 the intentions of the Board with respect to the executive compensation plans and corporate 

governance programs described herein; 
 the impact of competition on the Company; and 
 the Company’s ability to obtain financing on acceptable terms. 

 
Actual results could differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a result 
of the risk factors set forth below and included elsewhere in this Listing Statement, including: 

 general economic, market and business conditions; 
 uncertainties surrounding the local, national and global impact of the COVID 19 pandemic; 
 uncertainties surrounding the availability of investment opportunities; 
 volatility in market prices for securities held by the Company; 
 potential conflicts of interest; 
 risks related to the underlying business of each Investee; 
 current global financial conditions, including fluctuations in interest rates, foreign exchange rates 

and stock market volatility; 
 the Company’s status and stage of development; 
 failure by counterparties to make payments or perform their operational or other obligations to the 

Company in compliance with the terms of contractual arrangements between the Company and 
such counterparties; 

 competition for, among other things, capital and skilled personnel; 
 failure of third parties’ reviews, reports and projections to be accurate;  
 the availability of capital on acceptable terms; 
 political risks; 
 changes to royalty or tax regimes; 
 operating and capital costs; 
 risks arising from future acquisition activities; 
 the potential for management estimates and assumptions to be inaccurate; 
 risks associated with establishing and maintaining systems of internal controls; 
 risks related to the reliance on historical financial information; 
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 volatility in the market price of the Common Shares; 
 the effect that the issuance of additional securities by the Company could have on the market price 

of the Common Shares; 
 discretion in the use of proceeds of the Financing; and 
 the other factors discussed under “Risk Factors”. 

Although the forward-looking statements contained in this Listing Statement are based upon what 
management of the Company believes are reasonable assumptions, the Company cannot assure investors 
that actual results will be consistent with these forward-looking statements.  These forward-looking 
statements are made as of the date of this Listing Statement and are expressly qualified in their entirety by 
this cautionary statement; and we disclaim any obligation to update any forward-looking statements, 
whether because of  new information or future events or results, except to the extent required by applicable 
securities laws.  Accordingly, potential investors should not place undue reliance on forward-looking 
statements or the information contained in those statements.  

 

GENERAL MATTERS 

Any market data or industry forecasts used in this Listing Statement, unless otherwise specified, were 
obtained from publicly available sources. Although the Issuer believes these sources to be generally 
reliable, the accuracy and completeness of such information are not guaranteed and have not been 
independently verified. 

Statistical information included in this Listing Statement and other data relating to the industry in which 
the Issuer intends to operate is derived from recognized industry reports published by industry analysts, 
industry associations and independent consulting and data compilation organizations but are not guaranteed 
and have not been independently verified. 
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2.  CORPORATE STRUCTURE 

2.1  Corporate Name and Head and Registered Office 

PIONEER MEDIA HOLDINGS INC.   
 
The registered office of the Issuer is Suite 2900 – 595 Burrard Street, Vancouver, BC, V7X 1J5, Canada; 
and its head office is D25 - 1525 Coal Harbour Quay, Vancouver, British Columbia V6G 3E7.   

2.2 Jurisdiction of Incorporation 

The Issuer was incorporated pursuant to the BCBCA on November 9, 2017 under the name “Haro Metals 
Corp.”  The Issuer changed its name to “Pioneer Media Holdings Inc.” on October 25, 2019.  On May 28, 
2020 the Issuer amalgamated with Pioneer Acquisition I Inc. (then a private British Columbia company) 
pursuant to the provisions of the BCBCA, with the Issuer being the surviving amalgamated company. 

The Issuer is a reporting issuer in each of British Columbia, Alberta and Ontario; but is not listed on any 
stock exchange. 

2.3 Inter-corporate Relationships 

The Issuer has no subsidiaries, affiliates or associates.  It holds a number of investments in Investee 
companies, but does not hold a controlling interest in any Investee. 

2.4  Fundamental Change  

The Issuer is not seeking to requalify for listing on the CSE.   
 

3.  GENERAL DEVELOPMENT OF THE BUSINESS 
 
3.1  The following is a general description of the development of the Issuer’s business since its date of 
incorporation, to and including the date of this Listing Statement: 
 
 Effective November 10, 2017, the Issuer issued a total of 2,000,000 Shares at $0.01 per Share to 

its five original directors.   

 On November 30, 2017 the Issuer entered into a mineral property option agreement, and was 
granted the exclusive option to acquire a 60% interest in five mineral claims totaling approximately 
716.31 hectares located 2.5 kilometers northeast of Harrison Hot Springs, British Columbia, 
Canada, collectively referred to as the Harrison South Gold Property.  The option exercise price 
was the payment of $100,000 and incurring an aggregate of $500,000 of expenditures toward 
exploration on the property.  

 During the month of December 2017, the Issuer completed two private placements of (i) 2,200,000 
Shares at $0.05 per Share, issued on a flow-through basis; and (ii) 600,000 Shares at $0.05 per 
Share.  The Issuer used the net proceeds of the placements to, among other things, incur $123,776 
toward an exploration program on the property.  The Issuer then had 4,800,000 Shares outstanding. 

 The Issuer prepared and obtained receipts for a preliminary long-form prospectus dated February 
28, 2019 and a final long-form prospectus dated June 3, 2019.  Upon obtaining a receipt to a final 
prospectus, the Issuer became a “reporting issuer” in each of British Columbia, Alberta and 
Ontario.  The prospectus contemplated the Issuer distributing 3,400,000 Shares at $0.10 per Share 
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to raise $340,000.  The proceeds of the prospectus offering were to be used to undertake a $110,000 
recommended work program on the Harrison South Gold Property, so as to comply with the terms 
of the option agreement.  

 The Issuer was unable to complete its prospectus offering within the 90 days following the date of 
its final prospectus (expiring September 1, 2019), and the prospectus offering was terminated.   

 Effective October 3, 2019 the former management and board of directors resigned, and David 
Patterson of Vancouver, B.C. was appointed as the sole director, CEO, CFO and Corporate 
Secretary.  In connection therewith, Mr. Patterson acquired 1,700,000 escrowed shares from the 
former directors. 

 Effective October 25, 2019: 

o the Issuer’s 4,800,000 outstanding shares were consolidated on a ten-for-one basis to 480,000 
Shares; 

o the Issuer changed its business from mineral exploration to becoming an investment company 
with an initial focus on the eSport sector; and  

o the Issuer changed its name to “Pioneer Media Holdings Inc.” 

 On October 30, 2019: 

o the Issuer completed a private placement raising $500,000 through the sale of 25,000,000 
post-consolidated Shares at $0.02 per Share.  The Issuer then had 25,480,000 Shares 
outstanding;  

o Mr. Michael Edwards, of Whistler, British Columbia, joined the Board of the Issuer, and 
became the CEO;   

o the Issuer disposed of its interests in the Harrison South Gold Property to an arm’s length 
party for nominal consideration and assumption of the Issuer’s obligations under its option 
agreement. The Issuer is no longer subject to any commitments with respect to the option 
agreement or the Harrison South Gold Property; and holds no mineral property interests of 
any nature; 

 the Issuer made its initial seven investments in existing eSport and gaming businesses (Investees);  

 each of Mark Rutledge and Darcy Taylor were appointed as directors of the Issuer; David Patterson 
resigned as a director and officer of the Issuer; and Andrew Stewart was appointed as the Issuer’s 
CFO; 

 Effective May 28, 2020 the Issuer completed the non-arm’s length Amalgamation with PAI, 
pursuant to which: 

o as approved by the shareholders of the Issuer, one-half of their Shares were cancelled, such 
that 12,740,000 of the 25,480,000 outstanding Shares of the Issuer were cancelled; and 

o 14,222,000 new Shares of the Issuer were issued in exchange for the 14,000,000 shares and 
222,000 special warrants outstanding in PAI.  The Issuer then had 26,962,000 Shares 
outstanding; 

 the Issuer subsequently raised an additional $2,377,000 through the distribution of an aggregate of 
11,885,000 Shares at $0.20 per Share; and 

 the Issuer made another four investments in Investees. 
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Pioneer Acquisition I Inc. 
 
PAI was a private company incorporated pursuant to the BCBCA on July 4, 2019.  Its directors were 
Michael Edwards (the CEO and a director of the Issuer), and Jonathan Bixby.  PAI raised $1,600,000 
through the distribution of the following securities: 

(i)  6,000,000 shares to its founders at $0.005 per share (July 19, 2019); 

(ii)  222,000 special warrants at $0.10 per special warrant to 153 separate investors pursuant to a crowd-
funding offering (which closed October 16, 2019); 

(iii)  150,000 shares to the crowd-funding portal operator (effective October 16, 2019); 

(iv)  2,000,000 shares by way of private placement at $0.20 per share (March 6, 2020); and 

(v)  5,850,000 shares by way of private placement at $0.20 per share (April 20 – May 13, 2020). 
 
PAI was formed principally to create at least 150 shareholders through its crowd-funding placement of 
special warrants.  Commencing in March 2020, PAI used some of its available funds to acquire shares of 
various Investees.  The Issuer’s amalgamation with PAI was a non-arm’s length transaction in that Michael 
Edwards, a director and officer of the Issuer, was a director, officer and significant shareholder of PAI.  No 
valuation of either the Issuer or PAI was prepared in connection with the Amalgamation.  The 
Amalgamation was approved by the shareholders of each of the Issuer and PAI on April 27, 2020. 
 
3.2  Other than the Amalgamation with PAI, there have not been any significant acquisitions completed 
by the Issuer, nor are there any significant probable acquisitions proposed by the Issuer, for which financial 
statements would be required under National Instrument 41-101 General Prospectus Requirements if this 
Listing Statement were a prospectus.  Similarly, there have not been any significant dispositions completed 
by the Issuer during the most recently completed financial year or the current financial year for which pro 
forma financial statements would be required under National Instrument 41-101 General Prospectus 
Requirements if this Listing Statement were a prospectus.  In this latter regard, the Issuer’s financial 
statements for the nine months ended February 29, 2020 reflect its disposition and write-down of its 
interests in the Harrison South Gold Property.  
 
3.3  There are material trends and uncertainties that are both presently known to management and 
reasonably expected to have a material effect on the Issuer's business, financial condition or results of 
operations, as of the date of this Listing Statement, as set forth herein.  Particularly, this Listing Statement 
outlines trends in the eSport sector, and summarizes some of the risks associated with making investments 
in that sector.  In addition, the recent COVID-19 pandemic is expected to have a material impact on the 
Issuer’s business.  In March 2020 the World Health Organization declared coronavirus COVID-19 a global 
pandemic. This contagious disease outbreak, which has continued to spread, and any related adverse public 
health developments, have adversely affected workforces, economies, and financial markets globally, 
potentially leading to an economic downturn.  It is not possible at this time for the Company to predict the 
duration or magnitude of the impact of the outbreak and its effects on the Company’s business or ability to 
raise funds in the future.  In the short-term, the eSport sector has seen (i) an increase in the number of people 
involved in electronic gaming, and the amount each person is spending on such gaming, (ii) closure of large 
live-audience eSporting events, but increased viewing through on-line formats.  While these two trends are 
positive for the Issuer’s investments and business, it is not possible to determine the long-term effects of 
the pandemic and its impact on the general economy and eSports in particular. 
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4.  NARRATIVE DESCRIPTION OF THE BUSINESS 
 
General 

The Issuer is an investment company whose primary objective is to invest its funds for purposes of 
generating returns from capital appreciation and investment income.  It intends to accomplish these goals 
through the identification of and investment in securities of private and publicly listed entities that are 
involved in or connected with the eSports and mobile gaming industries.  The Issuer’s Investment Policy is 
set out in Schedule “A” hereto. 

As of the date of this Listing Statement, the Issuer holds investments in 11 Investees, as described below:   

Investee Business 
Formation & 

Operating 
Jurisdictions 

Investment /  
% ownership 

Investment Date 
& Cost / Arm’s 

Length 

Estimated 
Market Value3 

The Drops eSports 
Inc. 

Proposed 
eSport 

Franchise 
Canada 

6,666,667 shares 
5.7% 

10/19 

$100,000 

Arm’s Length 

$100,000 

The Dibs eSports 
Corp. 

Proposed 
Female eSport 

Franchise 
United States 

$50,000  
convertible note 

10/19 

$50,000 
NAL1 

$52,307 

The Guild eSports 
Plc 

Proposed 
eSport 

Franchise 

UK  
Europe 

31,000,000 
shares 6.0% 

04/19 – 07/20  

$1,472,631 

Arm’s Length 

$3,406,687 

Googly eSports Plc 
Proposed 
eSports 

Franchise 

UK  
India 

19,000,000 
shares 15.4% 

10/19 – 07/20  

$156,533 

Arm’s Length 

$157,485 

Diemens eSports 
Pty Ltd 

Proposed 
eSport 

Franchise 
Australia 

3,333,333 shares  
2.7% 

10/19 

$44,995 

Arm’s Length 

$47,720 

Dynasty eSports 
Pte Ltd 

Proposed 
eSports 

Franchise 

Singapore/ 

Malaysia 

272,154 shares  
10% 

10/19 – 09/20  

$492,338 

Arm’s Length 

$491,368 

Leaf Mobile Inc. 
Mobile Game 

Developer 
British 

Columbia 
13,225,000 
shares 6.2% 

03/20 – 08/20 

$525,640 

NAL2 

$2,975,625 

Formation eSports 
SaS 

eSports 
Platform 

France / 

Europe 

12,500,000 
shares 7.5% 

09/20 

$39,147 

Arm’s Length 

$38,928 

Blue Star Capital 
Plc 

eSport 
Investment 
Company 

UK 
114,583,333 
shares 2.8% 

04/20 

$210,648 

Arm’s Length 

$327,191 
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Streaks eSports Plc 
European 
eSports 

UK /  

Europe 

5,000,000 shares 
4.6% 

03/20 – 07/20 

$86,827 

Arm’s Length 

$86,530 

Eastside Games Inc. 
Mobile Game 

Developer 
British 

Columbia 
74,258 shares   

1.6% 

04/20 – 05/20 

$381,024 

Arm’s Length 

$381,024 

Totals    $3,559,936 $7,579,764 

1.  Darcy Taylor is a director of The Dibs eSports Corp. 

2.  Darcy Taylor is a director and officer of Leaf Mobile Inc.  

3.  Values as of November 30, 2020, as stated in the Company’s financial statements for the six months ended November 
30, 2020.  

 
1.  The Drops eSports Inc. 

The Company holds 6,666,667 common shares of The Drops Esports Inc. (“Drops”), which represents 
approximately 5.7% of the issued and outstanding common shares of Drops.  The shares of Drops were 
acquired for $100,000 ($0.015 per share), and are estimated to have a current value of $100,000.  Drops is 
a Canadian based private company with a focus on the Canadian eSports market.  Drops intends to create 
or acquire a competitive eSports franchise to generate revenue from tournament winnings, digital marketing 
opportunities, sponsorships, membership, merchandise and promotional tours and events.  

2.  The Dibs eSports Corp. 

The Company holds a $50,000 (US$38,196) convertible promissory note of The Dibs eSports Corp. 
(“Dibs”).  The note pays 5% simple annual interest. All unpaid principal and accrued interest is due and 
payable on the earliest to occur of (i) 36 months from the date of register (the “Maturity Date”); (ii) upon 
the closing of a sale of Dibs; or (iii) upon an event of default. 

The note is convertible into shares of Dibs; and if converted the Company would own approximately 3% 
of the issued and outstanding common shares of Dibs.  Such shares of Dibs are estimated to have a current 
value of $52,180.  Dibs is a US based private company with a focus on the North American eSports market.  
Dibs intends to create or acquire an all-female competitive eSports franchise to generate revenue from 
tournament winnings, digital marketing opportunities, sponsorships, membership, merchandise and 
promotional tours and events.  
 
3. The Guild eSports Plc 

The Company holds 31,000,000 common shares The Guild Esports plc (formerly The Lords Esports plc) 
(“Guild”), which represents approximately 6% of the issued and outstanding common shares of Guild.  The 
Company acquired 3,000,000 common shares at 1 pence per share in October 2019 for $50,553 (30,000 
Pounds Sterling); in March 2020 the Company (through PAI) purchased an additional 2,500,000 shares at 
1 pence per share for $43,078 (25,000 Pounds Sterling); in April 2020 the Company (through PAI) 
purchased a further 5,000,000 shares at 1 pence per share for $90,000 (50,000 Pounds Sterling); in June 
2020 the Company purchased an additional 12,500,000 shares at 6 pence per share for $1,275,000 (750,000 
Pounds Sterling); and in July 2020 the Company purchased an additional 8,000,000 shares at £0.001 for 
$14,000 (8,000 Pounds Sterling).  The shares of Guild held by the Company are estimated to have a current 
value of $2,962,137.  Guild is a United Kingdom based public company listed on the London Stock 
Exchange (LSE: GILD), with a focus on the European eSports market.  Guild intends to create or acquire 
a competitive eSports franchise to generate revenue from tournament winnings, digital marketing 
opportunities, sponsorships, membership, merchandise and promotional tours and events.  
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4. Googly eSports Plc 

The Company holds 19,000,000 common shares of Googly eSports Plc (“Googly”), which represents 
approximately 15.4% of the issued and outstanding common shares of Googly.  In October 2019 the 
Company acquired 3,000,000 common shares at 1 pence per share for $50,553 (30,000 Pounds Sterling); 
in March 2020, the Company (through PAI) acquired an additional 5,000,000 common shares at 1 pence 
per share for $86,730 (50,000 Pounds Sterling); and in July 2020 the Company acquired a further 
11,000,000 shares at £0.001 per share for $19,250 (11,000 Pounds Sterling).  The shares of Googly held by 
the Company are estimated to have a current value of $155,273.  Googly is a United Kingdom/India based 
private company with a focus on the Indian eSports market. Googly intends to create or acquire a 
competitive eSports franchise to generate revenue from tournament winnings, digital marketing 
opportunities, sponsorships, membership, merchandise and promotional tours and events.  
 

5. Diemens eSports Pty Ltd. 

The Company holds 3,333,333 common shares of Diemens eSports Pty Ltd. (formerly The Cubs eSports 
Pty Ltd.) (“Diemens”) which it acquired at AUD$0.015 per share for $44,995 (AUS$50,000).  The shares 
held by the Company represent approximately 2.7% of the issued and outstanding common shares of 
Diemens; and are estimated to have a current value of $47,310.  Diemens is an Australian based private 
company with a focus on the Australian eSports market.  Diemens intends to create or acquire a competitive 
eSports franchise to generate revenue from tournament winnings, digital marketing opportunities, 
sponsorships, membership, merchandise and promotional tours and events.  
 
6. Dynasty eSports Pte Ltd. 

The Company holds 272,154 common shares of Dynasty eSports Pte Ltd. (“Dynasty”), which represents 
approximately 10% of the issued and outstanding common shares of Dynasty.  In October 2019 the 
Company acquired 95,686 common shares at SGD1.045082 per share of for $96,140 (100,000 Singapore 
Dollars); in March 2020, the Company (through PAI) acquired an additional 138,038 common shares at 
SGD1.045083 per share for $140,080 (144,261 Singapore Dollars); in July 2020, the Company acquired an 
additional 10,122 common shares at SGD6.85 per share for $67,455 (69,332 Singapore Dollars); and in 
September 2020, the Company acquired an additional 28,308 common shares at SGD6.85 per share for 
$188,663 (193,913 Singapore Dollars).  The shares of Dynasty held by the Company are estimated to have 
a current value of $489,084.  Dynasty is a Singapore based private company with a focus on the Singapore 
and Malaysian eSports markets.  Dynasty intends to create or acquire a competitive eSports franchise to 
generate revenue from tournament winnings, digital marketing opportunities, sponsorships, membership, 
merchandise and promotional tours and events.  
 

7.  Leaf Mobile Inc. 

The Company owns 13,225,000 common shares in the capital of Leaf Mobile Inc. (“Leaf”), which 
represents approximately 6.2% of the issued and outstanding common shares of Leaf.  In March 2020 the 
Company (through PAI) acquired 10,000,000 common shares for nominal consideration of $100; in April 
2020 the Company acquired an additional 3,125,000 (2,656,250 through PAI) common shares at $0.16 per 
share for $500,000; and in August 2020, the Company acquired a further 100,000 common shares at $0.255 
per share for $25,540.  Leaf is a public company listed on the TSX Venture Exchange (symbol: LEAF).  
The shares of Leaf held by the Company are estimated to have a current value of $2,975,625.  Leaf is a 
creator of counterculture mobile games.  Headquartered in Vancouver, with a development studio based in 
Nanaimo, BC, the company is principally involved in intellectual property, mobile game development, 
marketing and publishing.  
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8.  Formation Esports SaS 

The Company holds 12,500,000 common shares of Formation eSports SaS (“Formation”), which represents 
approximately 7.5% of the issued and outstanding common shares of Formation.  In September 2020, the 
Company acquired 10,000,000 common shares for nominal consideration (€100), and 2,500,000 common 
shares at €0.01 per share for $39,147 (€25,000). The shares of Formation held by the Company are 
estimated to have a current value of $38,546.  Formation is incorporated in France, and has been established 
to launch a dedicated esports platform aimed at providing contact sports clubs with revenue and sponsorship 
generating opportunities and increased exposure.  Formation will cover the entire spectrum of contact sports 
fans and clubs.  In addition, Formation expects to launch its own academy with physical workshops across 
France and Europe. 

9. Blue Star Capital Plc 

The Company holds 114,583,333 common shares of Blue Star Capital Plc (“Blue Star”), which represents 
approximately 2.8% of the issued and outstanding common shares of Blue Star.  The shares were acquired 
for aggregate consideration of $210,648.  The shares of Blue Star held by the Company are estimated to 
have a current value of $293,270.  Blue Star is a UK based public company with a focus on investing in 
new technologies.  Blue Star is a co-investor with the Issuer in a number of its eSports portfolio companies, 
including: Guild, Dynasty, Googly, Dibbs, Diemens, Drops, Formation, and Leaf. 

10. Streaks eSports Plc 

The Company holds 5,000,000 common shares of Streaks eSports Plc (“Streaks”), which represents 
approximately 4.6% of the issued and outstanding common shares of Streaks. In March 2020, the Company 
(through PAI) acquired 2,500,000 common shares at 1 pence per share for $43,077 (25,000 Pounds 
Sterling); and in July 2020 the Company acquired an additional 2,500,000 common shares at 1 pence per 
share for $43,750 (25,000 Pounds Sterling).  The shares of Streaks held by the Company are estimated to 
have a current value of $85,315.  Streaks is a UK based private company with a focus on the European 
eSports market.  

11.  Eastside Games Inc. 

The Company holds 74,258 Class A common shares of Eastside Games Inc. (“Eastside”), which represents 
approximately 1.6% of the issued and outstanding common shares of Eastside.  The shares were acquired 
at $5.13 per share for $381,024.  The shares of Eastside held by the Company are estimated to have a current 
value of $381,024.  Eastside is a privately owned game studio based in Vancouver, B.C.  
 
The Business 

Background to eSports 

eSport is a form of sport competition using video games. eSports often takes the form of organized, 
multiplayer video game competitions, particularly between professional players, individually or as teams. 
Although organized competitions have long been a part of video game culture, these were largely between 
amateurs until the late 2000s, when participation by professional gamers and spectatorship in these events 
through live streaming saw a surge in popularity.  By the 2010s, eSports was a growing factor in the video 
game industry, with many game developers actively designing and providing funding for tournaments and 
other events. 

Although the legitimacy of eSports as a true sporting competition remains in question, they have been 
featured alongside traditional sports in some multinational events in Asia, with the International Olympic 
Committee also having discussed their inclusion into future Olympic events. 
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Almost all eSports competitions are physical events. Players and teams travel to one location to play live 
in front of an audience and camera, which live-streams the action in real-time to viewers around the world.  
Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, team travelling, and audience attended events have given way to 
competing remotely, but with continued streaming to viewers on a global basis.  
 
Management Experience 

Each of the three directors has experience in managing investment companies, and / or in providing 
operational experience to companies.  
 
Mike Edwards has operated a private investment company – Marallo Holdings Inc. for several years.  Mr. 
Edwards is president of Marallo Holdings Inc., and was and continues to be primarily responsible for the 
identification, acquisition and divestiture of its investments, all of which have been in arm’s length entities. 
Most of its investments have focused on consumer technology companies.  In 2018 Mr. Edwards was named 
as “BC Angel Investor of the Year” at the 32nd Angel Forum in Vancouver.  In the two years prior to earning 
the award, Mr. Edwards had invested in over 50 companies, most of which were start-up businesses.  
 
Mark Rutledge has also operated a private investment company – Carraway Capital Corp., for several years.  
Mr. Rutledge is president of Carraway Capital Corp., and was and continues to be primarily responsible for 
the identification, acquisition and divestiture of its investments, all of which have been in arm’s length 
entities.  Carraway is a Vancouver-based private investment company that invests primarily in early-stage 
technology companies involved in, among other things, digital media, film, entertainment, eSports and 
gaming.   
 
Darcy Taylor is more of an operator than an investor.  His forte is to provide operational experience to start-
up companies, mostly in the consumer technology sectors, including Fintech, Blockchain, sports and 
entertainment, mobile games, eSports, digital marketing and media.   
 
See “Item 13 – Directors and Officers” for more details.  See also “Item 17 – Risk Factors – Competition 
from other eSport and Investment Companies; Available Opportunities and Competition for Investments; 
Limited Management Experience; and Reliance on Key Personnel”. 
 
Competition 

eSports competes with traditional sporting events in terms of the amount of time people will allocate among 
different sporting events.  As the amount of leisure time is limited, each sport competes with the others for 
the attention of participants and viewers.   

The Issuer faces competition when pursuing investments from other eSports organizations seeking full 
acquisitions as well as from eSports-focused ETFs, other investment companies, and institutional investors.  
Competitors include Bitkraft which is an active eSports investment fund, Trust Esport which is a venture 
capital fund for eSports technologies, New Wave Esports which is a public investment company, and 
Vaneck which is a gaming and eSports ETF.  If any of those competitors make an investment, it may limit 
the Issuer’s ability to invest or provide any advisory or consultancy services.  

Laws Applicable to eSports 

Investees currently carry on business in Canada, the United States, Europe (including the United Kingdom 
and France), Australia, Singapore, Malaysia and India.  None of these jurisdictions have any specific laws 
or regulations governing eSports.  There are however laws of general application in each jurisdiction that 
Investees need to be cognizant of, including laws and regulations pertaining to: 

 gambling 
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 advertising standards 

 consumer protection 

 intellectual property 

 use of personal information 

 certifications of video games 

Investments in Foreign Jurisdictions 

The Issuer holds investments in Investees located or operating in each of Canada, the United States, Europe 
(including the United Kingdom and France), Australia, Singapore, Malaysia and India.  The Issuer may in 
the future hold investments in other countries outside of Canada.  Such foreign jurisdictions may have laws, 
customs, business culture, language, and politics which differ markedly from Canada.  While the Issuer 
will not itself be carrying on operations in any foreign jurisdiction, and so is not required to comply with 
the laws and regulations of such jurisdictions, it is aware of the risks associated with holding investments 
in companies operating in foreign jurisdictions.   

The economies of emerging market countries have been and may continue to be adversely affected by 
economic conditions in the countries with which they trade.  The economies of emerging market countries 
may also be predominantly based on only a few industries or dependent on revenues from particular 
commodities.  In addition, custodial services and other investment-related costs may be more expensive in 
emerging markets than in many developed markets, which could reduce the Company’s income from 
securities or debt instruments of emerging market country issuers.  

There is a heightened possibility of imposition of withholding taxes on interest or dividend income 
generated from emerging market securities.  Governments of emerging market countries may engage in 
confiscatory taxation or expropriation of income and/or assets to raise revenues or to pursue a domestic 
political agenda.  In the past, emerging market countries have nationalized assets, companies and even 
entire sectors, including the assets of foreign investors, with inadequate or no compensation to the prior 
owners.  There can be no assurance that the Company will not suffer a loss of any or all of its investments 
or, interest or dividends thereon, due to adverse fiscal or other policy changes in emerging market countries.  

Governments of many emerging market countries have exercised and continue to exercise substantial 
influence over many aspects of the private sector.  In some cases, the government owns or controls many 
companies, including some of the largest in the country.  Accordingly, government actions could have a 
significant effect on economic conditions in an emerging country and on market conditions, prices and 
yields of securities in the Company’s portfolio. 

Bankruptcy law and creditor reorganization processes may differ substantially from those in Canada, 
resulting in greater uncertainty as to the rights of creditors, the enforceability of such rights, reorganization 
timing and the classification, seniority and treatment of claims.  In certain emerging market countries, 
although bankruptcy laws have been enacted, the process for reorganization remains highly uncertain.  In 
addition, it may be impossible to seek legal redress against an issuer that is a sovereign state.  

Also, because publicly traded debt instruments of emerging market issuers represent a relatively recent 
innovation in the world debt markets, there is little historical data or related market experience concerning 
the attributes of such instruments under all economic, market and political conditions.  

Other heightened risks associated with emerging markets investments include without limitation: (i) risks 
due to less social, political and economic stability, including the risk of war, terrorism, nationalization, 
limitations on the removal of funds or other assets, or diplomatic developments that affect investments in 
these countries; (ii) the smaller size of the market for such securities and a lower volume of trading, resulting 
in a lack of liquidity and in price volatility; (iii) certain national policies which may restrict the Company’s 
investment opportunities, including restrictions on investing in issuers or industries deemed sensitive to 
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relevant national interests and requirements that government approval be obtained prior to investment by 
foreign persons; (iv) certain national policies that may restrict the Company’s repatriation of investment 
income, capital or the proceeds of sales of securities, including temporary restrictions on foreign capital 
remittances; (v) the lack of uniform accounting and auditing standards and/or standards that may be 
significantly different from the standards required in Canada; (vi) less publicly available financial and other 
information regarding issuers; (vii) potential difficulties in enforcing contractual obligations; and (viii) 
higher rates of inflation, higher interest rates and other economic concerns.  The Company may invest to a 
substantial extent in securities of Investees that are denominated in the domestic currency, subjecting the 
Company to a greater degree of foreign currency risk.   

Legal principles relating to corporate affairs and the validity of corporate procedures, directors’ fiduciary 
duties and liabilities and shareholders’ rights may differ from those that may apply in other jurisdictions.  
Shareholders’ rights may not be as extensive as those that exist under the laws of Canada.  The Company 
may therefore have more difficulty asserting its rights as a shareholder of an Investee in an emerging market 
than it would as a shareholder of a comparable Canadian company.  Laws relating to the enforcement of 
foreign judgments and arbitral awards may not exist, or provide for broad exceptions.  In addition, 
government approval may be required to repatriate certain amounts relating to restricted capital account 
transactions, such as indemnity payments by Investee companies. 

As reflected in the above discussion, investments in emerging market securities involve a greater degree of 
risk than, and special risks in addition to the risks associated with, investments in domestic securities or in 
securities of foreign developed countries. 

See “Risk Factors - Risk Factors Related to Investments in Emerging Markets”  

 
Stated Business Objectives and Milestones 

The Issuer’s business objectives that it expects to accomplish in the forthcoming 12 month period are:  

1.  investigate and make additional investments in the eSport and on-line gaming sectors; and 

2.  work with Investees to facilitate their going public transition.  

The Issuer does not have any additional investments identified as of the date of this Listing Statement, and 
as such (i) the number and dollar amount of future investments is uncertain, and (ii) there is no assurance 
the Issuer will be successful in identifying any additional investments in the next 12 months.  If an 
investment is sourced and favourably evaluated, the Issuer will likely require additional funds, as it does 
not have a significant cash reserve.  However, once the Issuer’s Shares are publicly traded, it may be able 
to acquire investments by issuing Shares.  

Funds Available 

The Issuer’s working capital as of March 15, 2021 was approximately $656,000.  There are no other funds 
that are available to achieve the objectives and milestones set out above.  The following table outlines the 
Issuer’s expected use of its available funds, and well as expenses it expects to incur over the next 12 months:  

Category of Expense 
Expected 12 Months 
Expenditures (C$) 

Additional Investments 526,000 

General & Administrative Expenses 130,000 

    TOTAL 656,000 
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The Company’s general and administrative expenses are expected to consist of the following: 

G&A Expense Amount 

Accounting and Audit $20,000 

Legal and corporate $25,000 

Management fees $22,000 

Rent and other office costs $20,000 

Shareholder communication $11,000 

CSE and SEDAR fees $22,000 

Miscellaneous $10,000 

   Total $130,000 
 
To materially increase the Issuer’s investment portfolio, the Issuer will be required to raise additional funds, 
which it anticipates will be by way of equity distributions.  There is no assurance the Issuer will be 
successful in raising funds through the sale of its Shares on terms acceptable to it, or at all.  If the Issuer 
does not raise additional funding, it may not be able to invest in any new opportunities it identifies, and will 
seek to grow more slowly through the sale of some existing investments to acquire new ones.   
 
New investments will be made in accordance with the Issuer’s Investment Policy, a copy of which is 
attached as Schedule “A” hereto. 
 
As the Issuer is involved in sourcing, investigating, evaluating, negotiating and making investments in 
specific industries, it relies on the skill and knowledge of its directors and officers to undertake such tasks.  
Two of the Issuer’s directors have operated, and continue to operate private investment companies, and 
they all display entrepreneurial skills (most having started several new businesses), and the ability to 
manage and grow businesses.  They recognize the skills that management of Investee companies must have 
in order to succeed, and are willing to assist the Investees in areas such as going public and raising additional 
funding.  See “Management Experience” above.  
 
The Issuer has no employees.  It presently relies on its management and directors to conduct the Issuer’s 
business, all of whom are independent contractors or advisors. 
 
The Issuer has not been the subject of any bankruptcy, receivership or similar proceedings, or any voluntary 
bankruptcy, receivership or similar proceedings since its date of incorporation.  
 
The Issuer has been subject to two material restructuring transactions since its date of incorporation, being 
(i) on October 25, 2019, the Issuer consolidated its 4,800,000 outstanding shares on a ten-for-one basis to 
480,000 Shares, and concurrently changed its name from “Haro Metals Corp.” to “Pioneer Media Holdings 
Inc.”; and (ii) on May 28, 2020, the Issuer completed the Amalgamation with PAI.  
 
4.2  The Issuer does not have any asset-backed securities outstanding.  
 

5.  SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL INFORMATION 

5.1  Annual Information 

The following table sets forth selected financial information for the Issuer for the fiscal years ended May 
31, 2020 and 2019, the period from incorporation (November 9, 2017) to May 31, 2018, and the six months 
ended November 30, 2020. Such information is derived from the financial statements of the Issuer and 
should be read in conjunction with such financial statements which are attached as Schedule C hereto.  
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 Six Months Ended 
Nov. 30/20 

Year Ended  
May 31/20 

Year Ended 
May 31/19 

Period Ended 
May 31/18 

Revenues $nil $nil $nil $nil 

G&A Expenses $52,599 $98,684 $71,035 $86,433 

Income/(loss)  ($785,009)1 ($748,122)2 ($52,035) ($114,433) 

Loss per share ($0.02) ($0.10) ($0.01) ($0.03) 

Current Assets $136,782 $115,575 $50,307 $54,303 

Exploration and Evaluation $nil $nil $123,776 $123,776 

Investments $8,064,863 $7,287,140 $nil $nil 

Total Assets $8,201,645 $7,402,715 $174,083 $178,079 

Current Liabilities $250,225 $121,786 $91,551 $24,512 

Long-term liabilities3 $536,000 $678,000 $9,000 $28,000 

Shareholders’ Equity $7,415,420 $6,602,929 $73,532 $125,567 

1.  Includes a reduction in the fair value of investments of $896,651, and recovery of deferred income tax of $142,000. 

2.  Includes (i) the write-off of $123,776 of past exploration and evaluation assets associated with the Harrison South Gold 
Property; (ii) a fair value increase on investments of $141,764; and (iii) deferred income tax expense of $669,000.  

2.  Deferred income tax liability. 

 
The Issuer was originally incorporated to be a mineral exploration company.  It negotiated and was granted 
an option to acquire a 60% interest in the Harrison South Gold Property, raised funds to conduct an initial 
$123,776 work program on that property, incurred costs toward a prospectus offering (which failed to 
close), and subsequently wrote-off all of its investment in the said property.  During the fiscal year ended 
May 30, 2020 the Issuer changed its business focus to become an investment company and it made its initial 
investments in several companies involved in the eSport industry.  It subsequently amalgamated with PAI, 
which had raised funds from over 160 investors and made similar investments in the eSport sector. 

Other than as noted above and in the footnotes to the above table, there were no factors affecting the 
comparability of the above data, including discontinued operations, changes in accounting policies, 
significant acquisitions or significant dispositions or major changes in the direction of the Issuer’s business.  

5.2  Quarterly Information 

The results for each of the eight most recently completed quarters ending at the end of the most recently 
completed financial year, namely May 31, 2020, are summarized below: 

 May 31, 2020 Feb. 29, 2020 Nov. 30, 2019 Aug. 31, 2019 

Revenue $nil $nil $nil $nil 

Net Income (loss) $563,958 ($4,681) ($23,218) ($156,265) 

Basic and diluted income 
(loss) per common share 

($0.07) ($0.01) ($0.01) ($0.33) 

 
 May 31, 2019 Feb. 29, 2019 Nov. 30, 2018 Aug. 31, 2018 

Revenue $nil $nil n/a n/a 

Net Income (loss) ($31,166) ($5,024) n/a n/a 

Basic and diluted income 
(loss) per common share 

($0.00) ($0.01) n/a n/a 
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The net loss for the three months ended August 31, 2019 included $123,776 for impairment of the Issuer’s 
mineral exploration property.  The Issuer became a reporting issuer in June 2019, and did not prepare 
quarterly financial statements prior to November 30, 2018.   

5.3  Dividends 

There are no restrictions in the Issuer’s corporate articles on its ability to pay dividends.  However, (i) the 
Issuer has never paid a dividend nor made a distribution on any of its securities, (ii) the Issuer has no history 
of income or sources of funds from which to pay dividends, and (iii) given the stage of the Issuer’s 
development, it could be a long period of time before the Issuer may be in a position to pay dividends or 
make distributions to its shareholders.   

The payment of any future dividends by the Issuer will be at the sole discretion of the Board.  In this regard, 
the Issuer expects it will retain any earnings to finance further growth of the Issuer. 

5.4  Foreign GAAP 

The Issuer’s financial information is not prepared or presented on the basis of foreign GAAP.  

6.  MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS  

Please refer to Schedule “D” for the Issuer’s MD&A pertaining to its May 31, 2020 annual financial 
statements and its November 30, 2020 interim financial statements.   

7.  MARKET FOR SECURITIES 

The Issuer’s Common Shares have never been listed or posted for trading on any stock exchange.  

8.  CONSOLIDATED CAPITALIZATION  

The Issuer is authorized to issue an unlimited number of Common Shares.  As the date of this Listing 
Statement, the outstanding capital of the Company consists of the following: 

Designation of Security Number Authorized 
Amount Outstanding  

as of May 31, 2020 

Amount Outstanding  
as of the date of this 
Listing Statement 

Common Shares unlimited 26,962,000 38,847,000 

There are no options, warrants or other convertible securities outstanding in the capital of the Issuer. 

Since May 31, 2020, the only material changes which have occurred with respect to the Issuer’s share and 
loan capital structure have been the issuance of an aggregate of 11,885,000 Shares to raise $2,377,000, 
pursuant to a series of private placements at $0.20 per Share.  

For further details about the Issuer’s outstanding securities, see Section 10 – Prior Sales. 

9.  OPTIONS TO PURCHASE SECURITIES 
 
The Issuer, under its current stock option plan (the “Plan”), may issue options to acquire Shares in a quantity 
of up to 10% of the Issuer’s issued and outstanding Shares from time to time.  The purpose of the Plan is 
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to offer to the Issuer’s directors, officers, employees and consultants the opportunity to acquire a proprietary 
interest in the Issuer, thereby providing an incentive to such persons to promote the best interests of the 
Issuer, and to provide us with the ability to attract qualified persons as directors, officers and employees.  
The following is a brief description of the principal terms of the Plan: 

Number of Shares Reserved.  The maximum number of Shares which may be issued pursuant to options 
granted under the Plan shall not exceed 10% of the issued and outstanding Shares from time to time as at 
the date of grant. 
 
Maximum Term of Options.  The term of any options granted under the Plan is fixed by the board of directors 
and may not exceed 10 years from the date of grant.  The options are non-assignable and non-transferable. 
 
Exercise Price.  The exercise price of options granted under the Plan is determined by the board of directors, 
provided that the exercise price is not less than the greater of the closing market prices of the Issuer’s Shares 
on (a) the trading day prior to the date of grant of the stock options; and (b) the date of grant of the stock 
options, or if the Issuer’s Shares are no longer listed on the CSE, then in accordance with the rules or 
policies of such other exchange or quotation system on which the Issuer’s shares are listed or quoted for 
trading. 
 
Amendment and Cancellation.  The terms of an option may not be amended once issued.  If an option is 
cancelled prior to the expiry date, the Issuer post notice of such cancellation, and will not grant new options 
to the same person until 30 days have elapsed from the date of cancellation.  
 
Vesting.  Vesting, if any, and other terms and conditions relating to such options, shall be determined by 
the board of directors of the Issuer in accordance with CSE requirements. 
 
Termination.  Options granted pursuant to the Plan will terminate on the earlier of the stated expiry date of 
the option, or, as applicable, (i) 90 days of the option holder ceasing to act as a director, officer, employee, 
management company or consultant of the Issuer or any of its affiliates, (ii) 30 days of the option holder 
ceasing to act as an employee engaged in investor relations activities, unless such cessation is on account 
of death, or (iii) 12 months if such cessation is on account of death.  If such cessation is on account of cause, 
or terminated by regulatory sanction or by reason of judicial order, the options will terminate immediately.   
 
Administration.  The Plan is administered by the board of directors of the Issuer, or if the board of the Issuer 
so elects, by a committee, which committee consists of at least two board members. 
 
Board Discretion.  The Plan provides that, generally, the number of Shares subject to each option, the 
exercise price, the expiry time, the extent to which such option is exercisable, including vesting provisions, 
and other terms and conditions relating to such options shall be determined by the board of directors of the 
Issuer, all in accordance with CSE requirements. 
 
General.  Options that have been cancelled or that have expired without having been exercised shall 
continue to be issuable under the Plan.  The Plan also provides for adjustments to outstanding options in 
the event of any consolidation, subdivision or exchange of the Issuer’s shares. 
 
The Plan has not been put forward for Shareholders’ approval.  Until such time as the Plan has been 
approved by Shareholders, implementation of the Plan will remain subject to the provisions of National 
Instrument 45-106, Prospectus Exemptions.  
 
As of May 31 2020 (the date of the Issuer’s most recent audited financial statements), and as of the date of 
this Listing Statement, there are no stock options issued and outstanding in the capital of the Issuer.   
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10.  DESCRIPTION OF THE SECURITIES 

10.1  Common Shares:  The Issuer is authorized to issue an unlimited number of Common Shares, of 
which there are 38,847,000 Common Shares outstanding as of the date of this Listing Statement. 

Each holder of a Common Share is entitled to: (i) one vote at all meetings of shareholders; (ii) a pro rata 
share of any dividends or other distributions declared payable by the Board; and (iii) a pro rata share of any 
distribution of the Issuer’s assets on any winding up or dissolution of the Issuer.  There are no pre-emptive 
rights; conversion or exchange rights; redemption, retraction, purchase for cancellation or surrender 
provisions; sinking or purchase fund provisions; provisions permitting or restricting the issuance of 
additional securities; or any other restrictions or provisions requiring a security holder to contribute 
additional capital, which are applicable to the Issuer’s Common Shares. 

10.2 Debt securities:  The Issuer has no debt securities that are to be listed on the CSE.  

10.3 Other securities:  The Issuer has no other securities that are to be listed on the CSE. 

10.4 Modification of terms:  The rights and restrictions applicable to the Common Shares may only be 
modified by special resolution of the Shareholders, at a duly called meeting. 

10.5  Other Attributes:  There are no rights attaching to the Common Shares that are materially limited 
or qualified by the rights of any other class of securities, nor is there any other class of securities which 
ranks ahead of or equally with the Common Shares. 
 
10.6  Prior Sales:  As of October 25, 2019 the Issuer completed a 10:1 consolidation of its outstanding 
common shares, and had 480,000 Shares outstanding.  The table below sets out the sales of the Issuer’s 
securities since that date: 
 

Date of issuance 
Security 
Issued 

No. of 
Securities 

Issued1 

Price per 
security 

($) 

Value 
received 

($) 
Type of transaction 

Opening Balance  480,000    

October 30, 2019 Shares 25,000,000 $0.02 $500,000 Private Placement 

May 28, 2020 Shares (12,740,000) $0.02 n/a Cancellation2 

May 28, 2020 Shares 14,222,000 $0.20 $2,844,400 Amalgamation2 

June 12, 2020 Shares 6,375,000 $0.20 $1,275,000 Private Placement 

August 28, 2020 Shares 250,000 $0.20 $50,000 Private Placement 

Sept. 14, 2020 Shares 1,250,000 $0.20 $250,000 Private Placement 

Dec. 15, 2020 Shares 510,000 $0.20 $103,836 Private Placement 

January 8, 2021 Shares 2,000,000 $0.20 $400,000 Private Placement 

March 12, 2021 Shares 1,500,000 $0.20 $300,000 Private Placement 

   Total  38,847,000    

1.  All figures are on a post-consolidation basis. 

2.  Amalgamation with PAI.  Pursuant to the Amalgamation, shareholders of the Issuer agreed to cancel one-half of their Shares, 
and shareholders of PAI received Shares of the Issuer on a one-for-one basis. 
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10.7  Stock Exchange Price:  The Issuer’s Shares are not listed, and have never been listed on any stock 
exchange or market. 

11.  ESCROWED SECURITIES 
 
There are an aggregate of 172,500 Shares held in escrow pursuant to an escrow agreement dated February 
25, 2019, none of which have been released.  These Shares are held by former “principals” of the Company 
(being former officers and directors).  There are an additional 13,260,000 Shares held in escrow pursuant 
to an escrow agreement dated February 25, 2021, none of which have been released.  These Shares are held, 
directly and indirectly, by Michael Edwards, the Company’s current CEO, and Julie Hamilton (the spouse 
of Michael Edwards).  All of these 13,432,500 escrowed Shares are held in escrow in accordance with 
National Policy 46 – 201, Escrow for Initial Public Offerings, which sets out a national escrow regime 
applicable to initial public distributions.  Pursuant to that policy, the Issuer is deemed to be an “emerging 
issuer”, such that the escrowed Shares will be released as to 10% (1,343,250 Shares) on the date the Issuer 
obtains a listing on the CSE, and an additional 15% (2,014,875 Shares) every six months thereafter over 36 
months.  The escrowed Shares are held and disbursed by National Securities Administrators Ltd. (formerly 
National Issuer Services Ltd.), the Issuer’s transfer agent, in accordance with the said escrow agreement.  
 
The following table summarizes the escrowed Common Shares of the Issuer: 
 

Name of Shareholder 
Number of  

Escrowed Shares  
Percentage of 

Shares Outstanding 

Michael Edwards1 13,010,000 33.49% 

Julie Hamilton2 250,000 0.64% 

David Patterson 85,000 0.22% 

Steve Smith 17,500 0.05% 

Iqbal Boga 17,500 0.05% 

Zachery Dingsdale 17,500 0.05% 

Pan Pacific Power Corp.3 17,500 0.05% 

Tyro Industries Corp.4 17,500 0.05% 

    Totals 13,432,500 34.58% 

1.  Held as to 5,000,000 Shares by Pioneer Financial Holdings Inc., 6,260,000 Shares by Marallo Holdings 
Inc. (private companies controlled by Michael Edwards) and 1,750,000 Shares personally. 

2.  Spouse of Michael Edwards. 

3.  A private company controlled by Kenneth MacLeod, a former director of the Issuer. 

4.  A private company controlled by Derrick Strickland, a former director of the Issuer. 

12.  PRINCIPAL SHAREHOLDERS 
 
To the knowledge of the Issuer’s directors and officers, no person beneficially owns, as of the date hereof, 
directly or indirectly, or exercises control or direction over, more than 10% of the Issuer’s Shares except 
for:   
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Name of Shareholder 
Number of  

Shares Held 
How Held 

Percentage of 
Shares Outstanding 

Michael Edwards 13,010,000 Directly and Indirectly1,2 33.49% 

1.  Includes 5,000,000 Shares held by Pioneer Financial Holdings Inc. and 6,260,000 Shares held by Marallo Holdings Inc, 
private companies controlled by Michael Edwards.  

2.  In addition, Julie Hamilton, the spouse of Michael Edwards, holds 250,000 Shares.  

To the knowledge of the Issuer, there are no Shares held, or to be held, subject to any voting trust or other 
similar agreement.  

13.   DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS 

13.1-13.2   The below table lists the name and municipality of residence of each director and executive 
officer of the Issuer, and indicates their respective positions and offices held with the Issuer, the period or 
periods during which each director has served as a director, and their respective principal occupations 
within the five preceding years:  
 

Name, Municipality of 
Residence and Offices Held 

Date 
Appointed 

Principal Occupation 

Michael Edwards 

CEO & Director 
Whistler, B.C. 

Oct. 8, 2019 CEO of the Issuer.  President of Marallo Holdings Inc. (a private 
investment company). Previously Executive Chairman of Argo 
Blockchain PLC (a public company involved in mining of 
cryptocurrencies); CEO of Creative Labs Management (a media 
and entertainment studio); CEO of Mobio Technologies Inc. (a 
private company that developed online social media platforms). 

Mark Rutledge 
Director 
Vancouver, B.C. 

May 12, 2020 President of Carraway Capital Corp. (a private investment 
company).  Co-Founder and President, Sosido Networks Inc., a 
knowledge sharing platform for medical professionals.  
Previously CEO of Motto Technologies PLC (a public company 
developing a wealth management platform centered on digital 
currencies); and a co-founder of InternetStudios.com Inc. (a 
public company that provided a means to trade filmed 
entertainment). 

Darcy Taylor 

Director 
West Vancouver, B.C. 

Nov. 7, 2019 CEO of Leaf Mobile Inc.  Director of each of The Dibs eSports 
Corp., Level Sport CBD (a private company selling CBD based 
products), and Leaf Studios PLC (a public UK based company 
that designs and publishes computer games).  President of Letter 
4 Consulting Ltd. (a private consulting company) 

Andrew Stewart 
CFO & Corporate Secretary 
Vancouver, B.C. 

May 26, 2020 Chartered Professional Accountant, providing accounting 
services to private and public companies.  

 
13.3  Aggregate Ownership.   The directors and officers of the Issuer as a group, beneficially own, 
directly or indirectly, or exercise control or direction over a total of 13,012,000 Common Shares, 
representing approximately 33.50% of the total votes attached to the Issuer’s issued and outstanding 
Common Shares.  
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13.4  Board Committees.   The Board has one committee, being the Audit Committee which is comprised 
of Mark Rutledge (Chair), Darcy Taylor and Mike Edwards.   
 
13.6  Orders and Insolvency.   no director or officer of the Issuer or a shareholder holding a sufficient 
number of securities of the Issuer to affect materially the control of the Issuer, is, or within 10 years before 
the date of the Listing Statement has been, a director or officer of any other Issuer that, while that person 
was acting in that capacity: 

(a)  was the subject of a cease trade or similar order, or an order that denied the issuer access to any 
exemptions under Ontario securities law, for a period of more than 30 consecutive days; 

(b) was subject to an event that resulted, after the director or executive officer ceased to be a director 
or executive officer, in the company being the subject of a cease trade or similar order or an order 
that denied the relevant company access to any exemption under securities legislation, for a period 
of more than 30 consecutive days; 

(c) became bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency or 
was subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or compromise with creditors or had a 
receiver, receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold its assets; or 

(d) within a year of that person ceasing to act in that capacity, became bankrupt, made a proposal under 
any legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency or was subject to or instituted any proceedings, 
arrangement or compromise with creditors or had a receiver, receiver manager or trustee appointed 
to hold its assets.   

 
13.7  Penalties and Sanctions.   No director or officer of the Issuer, or a shareholder holding sufficient 
securities of the Issuer to affect materially the control of the Issuer, has: 

(a) been subject to any penalties or sanctions imposed by a court relating to Canadian securities 
legislation or by a Canadian securities regulatory authority or has entered into a settlement 
agreement with a Canadian securities regulatory authority; or 

(b) been subject to any other penalties or sanctions imposed by a court or regulatory body that would 
be likely to be considered important to a reasonable investor making an investment decision.  

 
13.9  Personal Bankruptcy.   No director or officer of the Issuer, or a shareholder holding sufficient 
securities of the Issuer to affect materially the control of the Issuer, or a personal holding company of any 
such persons has, within the 10 years before the date of the Listing Statement, become bankrupt, made a 
proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency, or been subject to or instituted any 
proceedings, arrangement or compromise with creditors, or had a receiver, receiver manager or trustee 
appointed to hold the assets of the director or officer.  
 
13.10  Conflicts of Interest.  The Issuer’s directors and officers may serve as directors or officers of other 
companies or have significant shareholdings in other companies and as such conflicts of interest may occur 
with respect to business opportunities, or to the extent that such other companies may participate in a 
venture in which the Issuer may participate, the directors of the Issuer may have a conflict of interest in 
negotiating and concluding terms respecting the extent of such participation.  In the event that any conflict 
of interest arises at a meeting of the Issuer’s directors, a director who has such a conflict is required to 
disclose such interest and abstain from voting for or against the matter.  The directors of the Issuer are 
required to act honestly in good faith and in the best interests of the Issuer.  
 
The directors and officers of the Issuer are aware of the existence of laws governing the accountability of 
directors and officers for corporate opportunity and requiring disclosures by the directors of conflicts of 
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interest and the Issuer will rely upon such laws in respect of any directors’ and officers’ conflicts of interest 
or in respect of any breaches of duty by any of its directors and officers.  All such conflicts will be disclosed 
by such directors or officers in accordance with applicable laws, and they shall govern themselves in respect 
thereof to the best of their ability in accordance with the obligations imposed upon them by law.  The 
directors and officers of the Issuer are not aware of any such conflicts of interest. 
 
13.11  Management.   Further information on the business experience and professional qualifications of 
the Issuer’s directors, officers and promoters is set forth below: 
 
Michael Edwards, CEO & Director 

Mr. Edwards, age 52, is currently the Chief Executive Officer of the Issuer.   

Mr. Edwards is President of Marallo Holdings Inc. (a private investment company).  Previously he was the 
Executive Chairman of Argo Blockchain PLC, a publicly-traded blockchain mining company, from August 
2018 until January 2020; was the CEO of Creative Labs Management, a startup studio focused on next 
generation media and entertainment experiences, from August 2016 to July 2018; was the CEO of Mobio 
Technologies Inc., a developer of online social media platforms, from October 2012 to August 2016; was 
a founding partner of InitioGroup, a seed investment fund, from 2010 to July 2016; and Executive Director 
of GrowLab Ventures Inc., a Vancouver-based start-up accelerator, from March 2012 to November 2013.   

Mr. Edwards, in his capacity as CEO, is not an employee of the Company, acts as an independent contractor, 
and will dedicate approximately 40% of his time to the affairs of the Company.  Mr. Edwards is not 
currently subject to any written consulting or management agreement, or any written non-competition or 
confidentiality agreement with the Company.  

Mark Rutledge, Director 

Mr. Rutledge, age 61, has experience in technology, start-up structure and financing, and public markets.  
He was formerly the CEO of Motto Technologies PLC, headquartered in London, UK, a wealth 
management platform centered on digital currencies, aimed at millennials.  Mr. Rutledge is also the 
President of Carraway Capital Corp., a Vancouver-based early-stage angel investment company.  He is a 
Co-Founder and Director of Sosido Technologies Inc., a leading knowledge exchange platform for Health 
Care Professionals.  Mr. Rutledge is an active member of the technology start-up community in Vancouver.  
Earlier in his career, he practised securities and entertainment law in Vancouver.  Mr. Rutledge holds a BA 
cum laude and a JD from the University of British Columbia.  

Mr. Rutledge, in his capacity as a director, will dedicate approximately 10% of his time to the affairs of the 
Company.  Mr. Rutledge is not currently subject to any written consulting or advisory agreement, or any 
written non-competition or confidentiality agreement with the Company.  

Darcy Taylor, Director 

Mr. Taylor, age 52, has over 20 years of senior executive experience building successful companies and 
brands spanning, Asia, Europe and North America.  He is currently CEO of Leaf Mobile Inc., a public 
company listed on the TSXV which develops digital games for mobile devices.  He is a director of each of 
The Dibs eSports Corp., Level Sport CBD (a private company selling CBD based products), and Leaf 
Studios PLC (a public UK based company that designs and publishes computer games); and is president of 
Letter 4 Consulting Ltd. (a private consulting company).   

Mr. Taylor, in his capacity as a director, will dedicate approximately 10% of his time to the affairs of the 
Company.  Mr. Taylor is not currently subject to any written consulting or advisory agreement, or any 
written non-competition or confidentiality agreement with the Company.  
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Andrew Stewart, CFO and Corporate Secretary 

Mr. Stewart, age 47, is a Chartered Professional Accountant providing accounting services to private and 
public companies.  Mr. Stewart has over 20 years of experience working as a financial manager and 
controller within resource based industries, technology, shell corporations, and early stage start-up 
enterprises.  Mr. Stewart holds a Bachelors of Commerce (Accounting) from the University of British 
Columbia. 

Mr. Stewart, in his capacity as CFO, is not an employee of the Company, acts as an independent contractor, 
and, will dedicate approximately 25% of his time to the affairs of the Company.  Mr. Stewart is not currently 
subject to any written consulting agreement, or any written non-competition or confidentiality agreement 
with the Company.  
 

14.  CAPITALIZATION 

The following tables provide information about the Issuer’s capitalization as of the date of this Listing 
Statement, and refers to the Issuer’s outstanding Common Shares: 

Issued Capital 

Number of 
Securities 

(non-diluted) 

Number of 
Securities  

(fully-diluted) 
% of Issued 
(non-diluted) 

% of Issued 
(fully diluted) 

 
Public Float 
 

    

Total outstanding (A)  38,847,000 38,847,000 100% 100% 
     
Held by Related Persons or employees 
of the Issuer or Related Person of the 
Issuer, or by persons or companies who 
beneficially own or control, directly or 
indirectly, more than a 5% voting 
position in the Issuer (or who would 
beneficially own or control, directly or 
indirectly, more than a 5% voting 
position in the Issuer upon exercise or 

conversion of other securities held) (B) 13,012,000 13,012,000 33.50% 33.50% 
     
Total Public Float (A-B) 25,835,000 25,835,000 66.50% 66.50% 
     
Freely-Tradeable Float 
 

    

Number of outstanding securities 
subject to resale restrictions including 
restrictions imposed by pooling or 
other arrangements or in a 
shareholder agreement and securities 

held by control block holders (C)  

13,432,500 13,432,500 34.58% 34.58% 

Total Tradeable Float (A-C) 25,414,500 25,414,500 65.42% 65.42% 
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Public Security holders (Registered)  

For the purposes of this table, “public security-holders” are persons other than persons enumerated in 
section (B) of the previous chart (registered shareholders only).  

 
Size of Holding   Number of holders  Total number of Shares 
1 – 99 securities  -  - 
100 – 499 securities  -  - 
500 – 999 securities  -  - 
1,000 – 1,999 securities  127  127,000 
2,000 – 2,999 securities  13  26,000 
3,000 – 3,999 securities  -  - 
4,000 – 4,999 securities  3  12,000 
5,000 or more securities  30  25,670,000 

 Totals  183  25,835,000 

 
Public Security holders (Beneficial) 
The following table includes (i) beneficial holders holding securities in their own name as registered 
shareholders; and (ii) beneficial holders holding securities through an intermediary where the Issuer has 
been given written confirmation of shareholdings.  

 
Size of Holding   Number of holders  Total number of Shares 
1 – 99 securities  -  - 
100 – 499 securities  -  - 
500 – 999 securities  -  - 
1,000 – 1,999 securities  127  127,000 
2,000 – 2,999 securities  13  26,000 
3,000 – 3,999 securities  -  - 
4,000 – 4,999 securities  3  12,000 
5,000 or more  securities  30  25,670,000 
Unable to confirm  -  - 
  Totals   183  25,835,000 

 
Non-Public Security-holders (Registered) 
 
The following table includes "non-public security holders", being those related persons enumerated in 
section (B) of the issued capital chart.  

 
Size of Holding   Number of holders  Total number of Shares 
1 – 99 securities  -  - 
100 – 499 securities  -  - 
500 – 999 securities  -  - 
1,000 – 1,999 securities  2  2,000 
2,000 – 2,999 securities  -  - 
3,000 – 3,999 securities  -  - 
4,000 – 4,999 securities  -  - 
5,000 or more  securities  3  13,010,000 

   Totals  5  13,012,000 
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14.2 There are no securities outstanding in the capital of the Issuer (including options or warrants) that 
are convertible or exchangeable into Shares. 

14.3 There are no other Shares reserved for issuance that are not included in section 14.2. 

15.  EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION 

See “Statement of Executive Compensation” in Schedule B hereto. 

16. INDEBTEDNESS OF DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS  

No individual who is, or at any time during the most recently completed financial year was, a director 
or executive officer of the Issuer, nor any proposed nominee for election as a director of the Issuer, 
and no associate of any such director, executive officer or proposed nominee, 

(a) is, or at any time since the beginning of the most recently completed financial year of the Issuer 
has been, indebted to the Issuer or any of its subsidiaries, or 

(b) is or has been indebted to another entity that is, or at any time since the beginning of the most 
recently completed financial year has been, the subject of a guarantee, support agreement, 
letter of credit or other similar arrangement or understanding provided by the Issuer or any of 
its subsidiaries.  

17. RISK FACTORS  

The Issuer’s business, operating results and financial condition could be adversely affected by any of the 
risks outlined below.  These risks and uncertainties are not the only ones facing the Issuer.  Additional risks 
and uncertainties not currently known to the Issuer, or that the Issuer currently deems immaterial, may also 
impair the operations of the Issuer.  If any such risks actually occur, the financial condition, liquidity and 
results of operations of the Issuer could be materially adversely affected and the ability of the Issuer to 
implement its growth plans could be adversely affected.  

An investment in the Issuer’s Shares is speculative and will be subject to material risks; and investors 
should not invest in securities of the Issuer unless they can afford to lose their entire investment.  

Risks Related to Holding Securities of the Issuer 

Market Risk for Securities   

There can be no assurance that an active trading market for the Issuer’s Shares will be sustained.  The 
market price for the Issuer’s Shares may be subject to wide fluctuations.  Factors such as government 
regulation, demand for eSports, the recent COVID-19 pandemic, share price movements of peer companies 
and competitors, as well as overall market movements, may have a significant impact on the market price 
of the Issuer’s securities.  The stock market has from time to time experienced extreme price and volume 
fluctuations, which have often been unrelated to the operating performance of particular companies.   

COVID-19 Outbreak  

On March 11, 2020, the World Health Organization declared the outbreak of novel strain of coronavirus 
(“COVID-19”) a global pandemic.  In response to the outbreak, governmental authorities in Canada and 
other countries introduced various recommendations and measures to try to limit the pandemic, including 
travel restrictions, border closures, non-essential business closures, quarantines, self-isolations, shelters-in-
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place and social distancing.  To date, the COVID-19 outbreak and the response of governmental authorities 
to try to limit it have had a significant impact on the eSport industry, in that while public events and 
tournaments have ceased, the number of players and quantity of time playing eSports has increased.  An 
expanded global spread of COVID-19 could have an adverse impact on the Company’s investments and 
financial results.  The continued spread of COVID-19 globally could also lead to a deterioration of general 
economic conditions including a possible global recession.  Due to the speed with which the COVID-19 
situation is developing and the uncertainty of its magnitude, outcome and duration, it is not possible to 
estimate its impact on the Company’s business, operations or financial results; however, the impact could 
be material. 

Volatility of Share Prices 

The trading price of the Issuer’s Shares will be subject to change because of numerous factors, including 
reports of new information, changes in the Issuer’s financial situation, the supply and demand for Shares in 
the market, failure to achieve financial results in line with the expectations of analysts, or announcements 
concerning results.  Price volatility will also be subject to a number of factors beyond the control of the 
Issuer including the global economy, the effects of epidemics or pandemics, interest rates, political and 
geo-political events in various countries around the world, inflation, deflation, armed conflicts, trade wars, 
and the like.  There is no guarantee that the market price of the Shares will be protected from any such 
fluctuations in the future; and future changes may be material.  

Litigation Associated with Share Price Volatility 

In the past, certain companies that have experienced volatility in their share value, have been the subject of 
securities class action litigation.  The Issuer might become involved in securities class action litigation in 
the future.  Such litigation often results in substantial costs and diversion of management’s attention and 
resources and could have a negative effect on business and results of operation. 

Possible Dilution 

Making additional investments will require additional capital; and the ongoing costs of operations may not 
generate positive cash flow for the near or long term.  The Issuer’s ability to secure any required financing 
to expand operations will depend in part upon prevailing capital market conditions and business success.  
There can be no assurance that the Issuer will be successful in its efforts to secure any additional financing 
on terms satisfactory to management.  If additional financing is raised by issuance of additional shares from 
treasury, control may change and shareholders may suffer dilution.   

Risks Related to the Issuer’s Business  

General Matters 

Limited operating history 

The Issuer is in the early stage of development and has no history of operations as an investment company.  
The Issuer will be subject to many risks common to start-up enterprises and its viability must be viewed 
against the background of the risks, expenses and problems frequently encountered by companies in the 
early stages of development in new and rapidly evolving markets such as the eSport industry.  This includes 
under-capitalization, cash shortages, limitations with respect to personnel, lack of revenues and financial 
and other resources.  There is no assurance that the Issuer will develop its business profitably, and the 
likelihood of success of the Issuer must be considered in light of the Issuer’s early stage of operations.  
There is no assurance that the Issuer will be successful in achieving a return on shareholders’ investment. 
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Limited Size of Investments 

The Issuer currently has a relatively small number of investments, and limited resources to make additional 
investments.  Its investments are restricted to a narrow range of businesses and industry in which it can 
invest.  This limited diversification may hinder the growth of the Issuer.  

Limited Funds Available 

As of the date of this Listing Statement, the Issuer has insufficient funds to make any material additional 
investments.  There is a risk that the Issuer will be unable to raise additional funds, or generate sufficient 
cash flow from existing investments, to acquire any additional investments.  In such a scenario, 
diversification of the investment portfolio, and the growth potential for the Issuer, may both be materially 
limited.  

Additional Funding Requirements 

Making additional investments will require additional capital; and the ongoing costs of operations may not 
generate positive cash flow for the near or long term.  The Issuer’s ability to secure any required financing 
to expand operations will depend in part upon prevailing capital market conditions and business success.  
There can be no assurance that the Issuer will be successful in its efforts to secure any additional financing 
on terms satisfactory to management.  If additional financing is raised by issuance of additional shares from 
treasury, control may change and shareholders may suffer dilution.  If adequate funds are not available, or 
are not available on acceptable terms, the Issuer may be required to scale back its current business plan or 
cease operating. 

Limited Management Experience 

The existing directors and officers of the Issuer have limited experience in operating a public investment 
company.  While two directors have operated private investment companies for several years, and each 
director has experience in starting new businesses, developing businesses and selling businesses, they have 
not collectively operated a public investment company of the nature being undertaken by the Issuer.  
Further, management has not previously operated an investment company focused solely on eSports.  As 
management is the key component of any investment company’s success, prospective investors should 
carefully evaluate the skills of management prior to investing.  

Reliance on Key Personnel  

The management and governance of the Company depends on the services of the executive officers of the 
Company.  The Company relies on its executive officers with respect to the sourcing, acquiring and 
divesting of investments, as well as advising Investees.  Consequently, the Company’s ability to achieve its 
investment objectives depends in large part on the Company’s executive offices and their ability to identify 
and advise the Company on attractive investment opportunities.  Presently, the Issuer only has three 
directors, one of whom is the CEO.  Each of them will spend only a fraction of their available time on the 
Issuer’s business.  As such the Issuer has very limited management capacity in terms of depth and available 
time.  The loss of the services of any key personnel, could have a material adverse effect on the Company 
and materially adversely affect the Company’s financial condition and results of operations.  The Company 
may be unable to duplicate the quality and depth of its current management.  Prospective investors should 
not purchase any securities of the Company unless they are prepared to rely on the Company’s executive 
officers.  

Allocation of Personnel  

The Company’s officers and employees are not able to devote all of their business time and attention to the 
Company as they will continue to be involved in the operations of other businesses.  The Company’s 
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officers and employees devote such time and attention to the business of the Company as they reasonably 
consider necessary to effectively carry out the operations of the Company.  

Potential Conflicts of Interest  

The Company will rely on management’s expertise in identifying and advising on investment opportunities, 
transaction execution and asset management capabilities. Certain executives may also provide similar 
services to other entities, and there are no restrictions on members of management from providing similar 
services to other entities, or from engaging in other activities in the future (whether or not their investment 
objectives, strategies and policies are similar to those of the Company). Consequently the Company may, 
from time to time, not be provided the opportunity of participating in an investment that would otherwise 
be compatible with the Company’s investment objectives and restrictions.  Applicable corporate law 
contains conflict of interest provisions requiring the Directors to disclose their interests in certain contracts 
and transactions and to refrain from voting on those matters. 

Costs of Operating as a Public Company  

As a public company whose securities will be listed on the CSE, the Issuer will incur significant legal, 
accounting and related continuous disclosure expenses.  The Issuer will be subject to the reporting 
requirements of Canadian securities laws the rules and regulations thereunder, the rules and regulations of 
the CSE, and the provisions of securities laws that apply to public companies such as the Issuer.  The 
expenses that will be required in order to adequately comply with the various reporting and other 
requirements applicable to public companies will require considerable expense, time and the attention of 
management. 

Uninsured or Uninsurable Risks  

The Issuer intends to insure its operations in accordance with industry practice.  However, given the nature 
of the Issuer’s business, such insurance may not be available, may be uneconomical for the Issuer, or may 
be insufficient to provide adequate coverage.  The Issuer may become subject to liability for losses against 
which it cannot insure or against which it may elect not to insure because of high premium costs or for other 
reasons.  The payment of any such liabilities would reduce or eliminate the funds available for operations.  
Payments of liabilities for which the Issuer does not carry insurance may have a material adverse effect on 
its financial position.   

Dividend Risk  

The Issuer has not paid dividends in the past and does not anticipate paying dividends in the near future. 
The Issuer expects to retain earnings to finance further growth and, where appropriate, retire debt.  

Litigation Risk 

The Issuer may be the subject of litigation as it pertains to any aspect of the Issuer’s business.  The Issuer 
may not be successful with respect to any actions it initiates, and may not be successful in defending any 
claims brought against it.  Financial losses resulting from unsuccessful litigation may have a material 
adverse impact on the Issuer.  Any claims, with or without merit, often result in substantial costs and 
diversion of management’s attention and resources and could have a negative effect on business and results 
of operations.  

Foreign Exchange Risk  

The Issuer is a Canadian company, and most of its expenses and fund raising have been are expected to 
continue to be in Canadian dollars.  Most of the expenses and revenues of the Investee entities will be 
denominated in currencies other than Canadian dollars.  As a result, the Issuer is subject to foreign exchange 
risks relating to the relative value of the applicable foreign currency as compared to the Canadian dollar.  
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The Issuer does not currently engage in any hedging activities to offset any currency fluctuations.  Any 
fluctuations in the value of any of these currencies relative to the Canadian dollar may result in variations 
in the comprehensive income of the Issuer and may have an adverse impact on the Issuer’s business and 
financial condition.   

Repatriation of Funds 

Certain countries impose or may impose restrictions upon the ability to transfer funds out of such country.  
None of the Investees in which the Issuer currently holds an investment are subject to any restrictions on 
their ability to transfer funds out of their respective country.  However any change in a country’s laws in 
that regard could materially impact on an Investee’s ability to carry on business in that country and may 
preclude it from paying dividends to the Issuer, and similarly the Issuer’s ability to receive dividends or 
any return of capital, and so materially impact on the value of the Issuer’s investment.   

Risks Related to Operating as an Investment Company  

 eSport Industry 

The further development and acceptance of the eSport industry is subject to a variety of factors that are 
difficult to anticipate and evaluate.  Electronic sports is a new and rapidly evolving industry.  Although it 
is predicted that eSports will become a leading sector in the entertainment and sports industries, it cannot 
be assured that this will in fact occur.  Any slowing or stopping of the development in the acceptance of 
eSports may adversely affect Investees, and the Issuer’s business.  The future operating results of the Issuer 
will depend on certain factors specific to the eSports and online gaming industry, many of which are beyond 
the control of the Issuer, including the continued worldwide growth in the adoption and use of social 
networks, mobile platforms, legal and regulatory developments, data privacy laws and regulation and other 
factors that the Issuer is unable to predict.  Given the dynamic evolution of these industries, it can be 
difficult to plan strategically, and it is possible that competitors will be more successful than the Issuer at 
adapting to change and pursuing business opportunities  

For a number of reasons, eSport activities may in fact prove in the long run to be unprofitable businesses. 
Factors affecting the further development of the eSport industry include: (i) continued worldwide growth 
in the adoption and following of eSport; (ii) government and quasi-government regulation of eSport; (iii) 
changes in consumer demographics and public tastes and preferences; (iv) the availability and popularity 
of other forms entertainment; and (v) the regulatory environment and general economic conditions related 
to eSport.  A decline in the popularity or acceptance of eSport would harm the business and affairs of the 
Issuer. 

Acceptance and/or widespread following of eSports is uncertain  

Currently, there is a relatively small number of eSport teams and companies in the marketplace in 
comparison to a relatively large number of potential investors, thus contributing to price volatility that could 
adversely affect the Issuer’s operations, investment strategies, and profitability.  

As relatively new industry, eSports have not been widely adopted as a means of entertainment by the general 
public.  Conversely, a significant portion of demand for securities of companies in the eSport sector is 
generated by speculators and investors seeking to profit from the short-term gains.   

Any lack of acceptance of eSport as a mainstream sport or entertainment medium, or a contraction of such 
following, may result in increased volatility or a reduction in value of Investees, either of which could 
adversely impact the Issuer’s business.  
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Changes in the value of eSport companies  

The markets for eSport companies and teams have experienced much larger fluctuations than other markets, 
and there can be no assurances that erratic swings in valuations and prices will slow in the future.  In the 
event that the value of eSport companies declines, the value of an investment in the Issuer will likely 
decline.  Several factors may affect the price and valuation of eSports companies including, but are not 
limited to global consumer demand.  As well, momentum pricing is typically associated with assets whose 
valuation, as determined by the investing public, accounts for anticipated future appreciation in value.  
Momentum pricing of Investees may result in speculation regarding future appreciation in the value of 
eSport companies.  As a result, changing investor confidence could adversely affect an investment in the 
Issuer.  

Available Opportunities and Competition for Investments 

The Issuer’s business plan as an investment company depends upon, among other things: (i) the availability 
of appropriate investment opportunities; (ii) its ability to identify, select and acquire successful investments; 
and (iii) its ability to generate or obtain funds for future investments.  The Issuer expects to encounter 
competition from other entities having similar investment objectives, including institutional investors and 
strategic investors.  These groups may compete for the same investments as the Issuer, and will likely have 
a longer operating history, be better capitalized, and have a broader pool of management skills and 
experience, including expertise in operating a public investment company involved in eSports.  There are 
no barriers to entry into the Issuer’s business.  As a result, the Issuer may not be able to compete successfully 
for investments.  

There can be no assurance that the Issuer will have access to a sufficient number of suitable investment 
opportunities or that such investments can be made within a reasonable period of time.  There can also be 
no assurance that the Issuer will be able to complete investments at acceptable prices or on acceptable terms.  
Identifying attractive opportunities is difficult, highly competitive and involves a high degree of 
uncertainty.  Potential returns will be diminished to the extent that the Issuer is unable to find and make a 
sufficient number of investments. 

Operating and Financial Risks of Investments  

Businesses in which the Company invests could deteriorate as a result of, among other factors, an adverse 
development in their business operations, a change in the competitive environment or an economic 
downturn.  As a result, Investees that the Company expects to be stable may operate at a loss or have 
significant variations in operating results, may require substantial additional capital to support their 
operations or to maintain their competitive position, or may otherwise have a weak financial condition or 
experience financial distress.  In some cases, the success of the Company’s investment strategy will depend, 
in part, on the ability of the Company to restructure and effect improvements in the operations of an 
Investee.  The activity of identifying and implementing restructuring programs and operating improvements 
at businesses entails a high degree of uncertainty.  There can be no assurance that the Company will be able 
to successfully identify and implement such restructuring programs or improvements.  

Shareholders Are Not Entitled to Vote on the Company’s Proposed Investments  

Shareholders will not be afforded the opportunity to either approve or oppose an investment opportunity of 
the Company.  Thus, the Company may consummate any such investment even if a majority of the holders 
of its outstanding equity securities do not favour the particular investment. 

Long-Term Nature of Investments  

An investment in Shares requires a long-term commitment with no certainty of return.  Most significant 
investments to be made by the Company are not expected to generate current income.  Therefore, the return 
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of capital to the Company and the realization of gains, if any, from the Company’s investments will 
generally occur only upon the partial or complete realization or disposition of such investment.  While an 
investment of the Company may be realized or disposed of at any time, it is generally expected that the 
ultimate realization or disposition of most of the Company’s investments will not occur for a number of 
years after each such investment is made. 

Lack of Diversification  

The Company’s investments are restricted to eSport and gaming industries.  As such the Company’s 
investments may be more susceptible to fluctuations in value resulting from adverse economic conditions 
affecting those particular industries than would not be the case if the Company’s investment guidelines 
allowed for more diversity. 

Market Fluctuations  

The Company invests in both private businesses and publicly traded businesses. With respect to publicly 
traded businesses, fluctuations in the market prices of such securities may negatively affect the value of 
such investments.  In addition, general instability in the public securities markets may impede the ability of 
an Investee to sell new securities, or the ability of the Issuer to sell its securities held in an Investee, thereby 
limiting the Company’s investment options with regard to a particular Investee.   

Depending on market conditions, the Company may incur substantial realized and unrealized losses in 
future periods, all of which may materially adversely affect its results of operations and the value of the 
Company’s Shares. 

Pace of Completing Investments  

The Company’s business is to identify suitable investment opportunities, pursue such opportunities and 
consummate such investment opportunities.  If the Company is unable to source and manage its investments 
effectively, it would adversely impact the Company’s financial position and earnings.  There can be no 
assurance as to the pace of finding and implementing investment opportunities.  Conversely, there may only 
be a limited number of suitable investment opportunities at any given time.  This may cause the Company 
to hold greater percentages of uninvested capital, for longer periods of time, than desired, which may 
adversely affect the Company’s overall performance.  

Minority Investments  

All of the current investments held by the Company are minority equity investments.  While the Company 
may participate in the management or otherwise seek to influence the business or affairs of the Investees, 
day-to-day operations will primarily be the responsibility of each Investee’s management team and the 
Company may have a limited ability to influence such operations.  

Ranking of the Company’s Investments and Structural Subordination  

The Company will invest in public and private equity securities and debt instruments. Equity positions 
typically rank last in terms of priority in the event of insolvency, liquidation, dissolution, reorganization or 
bankruptcy of an Investee.  Debt investments may have, or may be permitted to allow, other debt that ranks 
equally with, or senior to, the debt in which the Company invests.  By their terms, such debt instruments 
may entitle the holders to receive payment of interest or principal on or before the dates on which the 
Company is entitled to receive payments with respect to the debt instruments in which the Company invests.  
Also, in the event of insolvency, liquidation, dissolution, reorganization or bankruptcy of an Investee, 
holders of debt instruments ranking senior to the Company’s investment in that Investee would typically 
be entitled to receive payment in full before the Company receives any distribution. After repaying such 
senior creditors, such Investee may not have any remaining assets to use to repay its obligation to the 
Company. In the case of debt ranking equally with debt instruments in which the Company invests, the 
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Company would have to share on an equal basis any distributions with other creditors holding such debt in 
the event of an insolvency, liquidation, dissolution, reorganization or bankruptcy of the Investee.   

Follow-On Investments  

Following the initial investment in a business, the Company may be called upon to provide additional funds 
or have the opportunity to increase its investment in such business through the exercise of a warrant or other 
right to purchase securities or to fund additional investments through such business.  There is no assurance 
that the Company will make follow-on investments or that the Company will have sufficient funds to make 
any such investment.  Even if the Company has sufficient capital to make a desired follow-on investment, 
the Company may elect not to make such investment, as the Company may not want to increase its level of 
risk, the Company may prefer other opportunities, or the Company may be restricted from doing so under 
its investment guidelines.  Any decision by the Company not to make follow-on investments or its inability 
to make such follow-on investments may have a negative impact on the Investee in need of such investment, 
may result in a missed opportunity for the Company to increase its participation in a successful operation 
or may reduce the expected return on the investment.  

Failure to comply with laws, regulations and standards  

Any changes to the existing regulatory framework or the imposition of new legislation or regulations 
applicable to eSports in any jurisdiction in which the Issuer holds an investment may adversely affect the 
financial and operating performance of the applicable Investee, and the Issuer.  eSports are not presently 
highly regulated in any jurisdiction in which the Issuer holds an investment, however as eSports is a 
relatively new industry, regulations governing eSports may be subject to quick and dramatic change as 
governments become more aware of it.  Changes to government regulations, including those relating to 
taxes and other government licenses and levies, could significantly affect the financial condition of 
Investees, and thereby the Issuer.  Regulatory reform could significantly delay, hamper or otherwise 
adversely impact the development of the eSport industry, as well as have a material adverse effect on 
Investees’ business, results of operations, and financial condition.  Although eSports are generally legal in 
most jurisdictions, certain countries have laws, regulations or guidelines which preclude the commercial 
growth of the industry.   

Exposure to Investment Portfolio Risks 

Given the nature of the Issuer’s investment activities, the results of operations and financial condition of 
the Issuer will be dependent upon the financial condition and performance of the Investees. The 
performance of these businesses can be affected by the general market conditions that affect a particular 
sector and by specific factors which impact the underlying businesses.  

Private Issuers and Illiquid Securities 

The Issuer invests in securities of private issuers.  The value of these investments may be affected by factors 
such as investor demand, resale restrictions, general market trends and regulatory restrictions. Fluctuation 
in the market value of such investments may occur for a number of reasons beyond the control of the Issuer 
and there is no assurance that an adequate market will exist for investments made by the Issuer, such that 
the Issuer may experience difficulty in exiting investment positions on favourable terms or at all.  Many of 
the investments made by the Issuer will be relatively illiquid and may decline in price if a significant number 
of such investments are offered for sale by the Issuer or other investors. 

Due Diligence and Conduct of Potential Investment Entities  

Before making investments, the Company will typically conduct due diligence that it deems reasonable and 
appropriate based on the facts and circumstances applicable to each investment.  Due diligence may entail 
evaluation of important and complex business, financial, tax, accounting, environmental and legal issues.  
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Outside consultants, legal advisors, accountants, investment banks and other third parties may be involved 
in the due diligence process to varying degrees depending on the type of investment.  Such involvement of 
third party advisers or consultants may present a number of risks primarily relating to the Company’s 
reduced control of the functions that are outsourced.  In addition, if the Company is unable to timely engage 
third-party providers, its ability to evaluate and acquire more complex targets could be adversely affected.  
When conducting due diligence and making an assessment regarding an investment, the Company will rely 
on the resources available to it, including publicly available information, information provided by the 
potential Investee and, in some circumstances, third-party investigations.  The due diligence investigation 
that the Company carries out with respect to any investment opportunity may not reveal or highlight all 
relevant facts that may be necessary or helpful in evaluating such investment opportunity.  Moreover, such 
an investigation will not necessarily result in the investment being successful.  There can be no assurance 
that attempts to provide downside protection with respect to investments will achieve their desired effect 
and potential investors should regard an investment in the Company as being speculative and having a high 
degree of risk.  

In addition, when assessing an investment opportunity for the Company, investment analyses and decisions 
by the Company may be undertaken on an expedited basis in order to take advantage of what it perceives 
to be short-lived investment opportunities.  In such cases, the available information at the time of an 
investment may be limited, inaccurate or incomplete.  

There can be no assurance that the Company will be able to detect or prevent irregular accounting, employee 
misconduct or other fraudulent practices during the due diligence phase or during its efforts to monitor the 
investment on an ongoing basis.  In the event of fraud by any Investee, the Company may suffer a partial 
or total loss of capital invested in that business.  An additional concern is the possibility of material 
misrepresentation or omission on the part of the Investee.  Such inaccuracy or incompleteness may 
adversely affect the value of the Company’s securities and/or instruments in such business.  The Company 
will rely upon the accuracy and completeness of representations made by the Investee in the due diligence 
process to the extent reasonable when it makes its investments, but cannot guarantee such accuracy or 
completeness.  As a result, there can be no assurance that the due diligence investigations carried out by the 
Company will reveal or highlight all relevant facts that may be necessary or helpful in evaluating investment 
opportunities.  Any failure to identify relevant facts may result in inappropriate investment decisions, which 
may have a material adverse effect on the value of any investment in the Company.   

Unknown Merits and Risks of Future Investments  

Although the Company’s officers and directors endeavour to evaluate the risks inherent in a particular 
investment, there can be no assurance that the Company will properly ascertain or assess all of the 
significant risks.  Furthermore, some of these risks may be outside of the Company’s control and leave the 
Company with no ability to control or reduce the chances that those risks will adversely impact an Investee. 

Investments May Be Made In Foreign Private Businesses Where Information Is Unreliable or 
Unavailable  

In pursuing the Company’s investment strategy, the Company may seek to make one or more investments 
in privately-held businesses.  As minimal public information exists about private businesses, the Company 
could be required to make investment decisions on whether to pursue a potential investment in a private 
business on the basis of limited information, which may result in an investment in a business that is not as 
profitable as the Company initially suspected, if at all. Investments in private businesses pose certain 
incremental risks as compared to investments in public businesses, including that they:  

•  have reduced access to the capital markets, resulting in diminished capital resources and ability to 
withstand financial distress;  
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•  may have limited financial resources and may be unable to meet their obligations under any debt 
securities that the Company may hold, which may be accompanied by a deterioration in the value 
of any collateral and a reduction in the likelihood of the Company realizing any guarantees that it 
may have obtained in connection with its investment;  

•  may have shorter operating histories and smaller market shares than larger businesses, which tend 
to render them more vulnerable to competitors’ actions and changing market conditions, as well as 
general economic downturns;  

•  are more likely to depend on the management talents and efforts of a small group of persons; 
therefore, the death, disability, resignation or termination of one or more of these persons could have 
a material adverse impact on a portfolio investment and, as a result, the Company; and  

•  generally have less predictable operating results, may from time to time be parties to litigation, may 
be engaged in rapidly changing business environments, and may require substantial additional 
capital to support their operations, finance expansion or maintain their competitive position.  

Illiquidity of Investments  

Some of the investments of the Company are expected to be in private businesses and, in turn, highly 
illiquid.  Accordingly, there can be no assurance that the Company will be able to realize on its investments 
in a timely manner or at all, which may also make the Investees and the Company difficult to accurately 
value.  Illiquidity may result from the absence of an established market for the investments as well as legal 
or contractual restrictions on their resale.  In addition, private equity investments by their nature are often 
difficult and time consuming to liquidate.  If the Company is required to liquidate all or a portion of its 
portfolio investments quickly, it may realize significantly less than the value at which the Company 
previously recorded such investments.  

Furthermore, it is possible that unlisted Investees in which the Company invests will consider having their 
securities listed on an overseas stock exchange, as a means of creating liquidity for its investors. However, 
there can be no assurance that the listing of these securities will provide a viable exit mechanism, as these 
securities may experience low trading volumes and a low market capitalization at the time of intended 
disposal.  Further, applicable regulations may impose a lock-in period on promoters’ holdings in businesses 
seeking listing through initial public offerings, which would reduce secondary market liquidity.  Although 
the Company would generally endeavour to avoid or minimize such lock-in restrictions on its shareholdings 
in Investees, there can be no assurance that it will be able to do so.  

Competition from other eSport and Investment Companies 

The Company competes with a large number of other investors focused on eSports, such as private equity 
funds, mezzanine funds, investment banks and other equity and non-equity based public and private 
investment funds, and other sources of financing, including traditional financial services companies, such 
as commercial banks.  Competitors may have a lower cost of funds and may have access to funding sources 
that are not available to the Company.  In addition, certain competitors of the Company may have higher 
risk tolerances or different risk assessments, which could allow them to consider a wider variety of 
investments and establish more relationships and build their respective market shares. Competitors may 
also have more management depth and experience than the Issuer. There can be no assurance that the 
competitive pressures faced by the Company will not have a material adverse effect on its activities, 
financial condition and results of operations.  In addition, as a result of this competition, the Company may 
not be able to take advantage of attractive investment opportunities from time to time and there can be no 
assurance that it will be able to identify and make investments.  

The success of the Company will depend on the availability of appropriate investment opportunities and 
the ability of management to identify, source and make investments.  As a result of the competition noted 
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above, there can be no assurance that the Company will be able to locate suitable additional investment 
opportunities, acquire such investments on acceptable terms, or achieve an acceptable rate of return. 

Use of Leverage  

The Company may rely on the use of leverage when making its investments.  As such, the ability to achieve 
attractive rates of return on such investments will significantly depend on the Company’s continued ability 
to access sources of financing on attractive terms.  An increase in either market interest rates or in the risk 
spreads demanded by lenders would make it more expensive for the Company to finance its investments 
and, in turn, would reduce net returns therein.  Increases in interest rates could also make it more difficult 
for the Company to locate and consummate investments because other potential buyers, including operating 
companies acting as strategic buyers, may be able to bid for an asset at a higher price due to a lower overall 
cost of capital.  Availability of capital from debt capital markets is subject to significant volatility and the 
Company may not be able to access those markets on attractive terms, or at all, when completing an 
investment.  Any of the foregoing circumstances could have a material adverse effect on the financial 
condition and results of operations of the Company.  

Investing in Leveraged Businesses  

The Company may invest in highly leveraged businesses which may involve a high degree of risk and may 
increase the exposure of the Company to adverse economic factors, such as downturns in the economy or 
deteriorations in the condition of the Investee or the eSport industry.  In the event that any Investee cannot 
generate adequate cash flow to meet its debt service obligations, the Company may suffer a partial or total 
loss of capital invested in such business.  Such an occurrence may materially adversely affect the 
Company’s return on its investment. 

Valuation Methodologies  

For purposes of IFRS-compliant financial reporting, the Company’s financial assets and liabilities will be 
valued in accordance with IFRS.  Accordingly, the Company is required to follow a specific framework for 
measuring the fair value of its assets and liabilities and, in its audited financial statements, to provide certain 
disclosures regarding the use of fair value measurements.   

The fair value measurement accounting guidance establishes a hierarchal disclosure framework that ranks 
the observability of market inputs used in measuring financial instruments at fair value.  The observability 
of inputs depends on a number of factors, including the type of financial instrument, the characteristics 
specific to the financial instrument and the state of the marketplace, including the existence and 
transparency of transactions between market participants.  Financial instruments with readily quoted prices, 
or for which fair value can be measured from quoted prices in active markets, generally will have a high 
degree of market price observability and less judgment applied in determining fair value.  

A portion of the Company’s portfolio investments are in the form of securities that are not publicly traded.  
The fair value of securities and other investments that are not publicly traded may not be readily 
determinable.  The Company will value these securities quarterly at fair value as determined in good faith 
by the Company and in accordance with the valuation policies and procedures described under “Calculation 
of Total Assets and Net Asset Value”.  However, the Company may be required to value its securities at 
fair value as determined in good faith by the Board to the extent necessary to reflect significant events 
affecting the value of its securities.  The Company may utilize the services of an independent valuation firm 
to aid it in determining the fair value of these securities.  The types of factors that may be considered in fair 
value pricing of the Company’s investments include the nature and realizable value of any collateral, the 
Investee’s ability to make payments and its earnings, the markets in which the Investee does business, 
comparison to publicly traded companies, discounted cash flow and other relevant factors.  Because such 
valuations, and particularly valuations of private securities and private companies, are inherently uncertain, 
such valuations may fluctuate over short periods of time and may be based on estimates, and the Company’s 
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determinations of fair value may differ materially from the values that would have been used if a ready 
market for these securities existed. The value of the Company’s total assets could be materially adversely 
affected if the Company’s determinations regarding the fair value of its investments were materially higher 
than the values that it ultimately realizes upon the disposition of such securities.  

The value of the Company’s investment portfolio may also be affected by changes in accounting standards, 
policies or practices.  From time to time, the Company may be required to adopt new or revised accounting 
standards or guidance.  It is possible that future accounting standards that the Company is required to adopt 
could change the valuation of the Company’s assets and liabilities.  

Due to a wide variety of market factors and the nature of certain securities to be held by the Company, there 
is no guarantee that the value determined by the Company or any third-party valuation agents will represent 
the value that will be realized by the Company on the eventual disposition of the investment or that would, 
in fact, be realized upon an immediate disposition of the investment.  Moreover, the valuations to be 
performed by the Company or any third-party valuation agents are inherently different from the valuation 
of the Company’s securities that would be performed if the Company were forced to liquidate all or a 
significant portion of its securities, which liquidation valuation could be materially lower. 

Cybersecurity risk and network security  

The Issuer’s, and each Investee’s operations rely on the secure processing, storage and transmission of 
confidential and other information in computer systems and networks.  While protective measures may be 
taken, computer systems, sensitive data, software and networks may be vulnerable to cyber-attacks, 
unauthorized access, computer viruses or other malicious code and events that could have a security impact.  
The Issuer relies on third party information technology vendors and there is the risk that third parties could 
expose it to cybersecurity breaches.  If one or more of these events occur, this could potentially jeopardize 
the Issuer’s or an Investee’s confidential and other personal information processed and stored in, and 
transmitted through, computer systems and networks, or otherwise cause interruptions or malfunctions in 
their operations.  The Issuer may be required to expend significant additional resources to modify protective 
measures or to investigate and remediate vulnerabilities or other exposures.  As a result, the Issuer may be 
subject to financial losses, litigation or liability for failure to comply with privacy and regulations.  These 
all may lead to reputational harm affecting investor confidence.  A cyber attack could also compromise any 
proprietary, confidential or sensitive information or systems that the Issuer or an Investee maintains for the 
purpose of competitive advantage and such a compromise could lead to lost revenues while it attempts to 
recover or replace the lost information or systems. 
 
Risk Factors Related to Investments in Emerging Markets  

The Issuer holds investments in Investees located or operating in each of Malaysia, India, Singapore, 
Europe, Australia and the United States.  The Issuer may in the future hold investments in other countries 
outside of Canada.  Such foreign jurisdictions may have laws, customs, business culture, language, and 
politics which differ markedly from Canada.  While the Issuer will not itself be carrying on operations in 
any foreign jurisdiction, and so is not required to comply with the laws and regulations of such jurisdictions, 
it is aware of the risks associated with holding investments in companies operating in foreign jurisdictions.  
See Item 4 – “Narrative Description of the Business – Investments in Foreign Jurisdictions”.  
 

18. PROMOTERS 

Michael Edwards can be considered the promoter of the Issuer.  Mr. Edwards has ownership and control of 
13,010,000 Shares, representing 33.49% of the issued and outstanding Shares of the Issuer as of the date of 
this Listing Statement.  In addition, his spouse, Julie Hamilton, holds 250,000 Shares.  
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No asset was acquired within the two years before the date of the Listing Statement or thereafter, or is to 
be acquired, by the Issuer from Mr. Edwards, except that Mr. Edwards was a shareholder of PAI, and 
received Shares of the Issuer upon the Amalgamation of the Issuer with PAI. 
 
For further information regarding Mr. Edwards, please refer to Section 13 – Directors and Officers and 
Section 15 – Executive Compensation. 

19. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS  

As of the date of this Listing Statement, there are no legal proceedings material to the Issuer to which the 
Issuer or a subsidiary of the Issuer is a party or of which any of their respective property is the subject 
matter, and there are no such proceedings known to the Issuer to be contemplated. 

The Issuer has not be subject to any (i) penalties or sanctions imposed against it by a court relating to 
provincial or territorial securities legislation or by a securities regulatory authority within the three years 
immediately preceding the date hereof; (ii) other penalties or sanctions imposed by a court or regulatory 
body against the Issuer necessary to contain full, true and plain disclosure of all material facts relating to 
the securities being listed; or (iii) settlement agreements entered into before a court relating to provincial 
or territorial securities legislation or with a securities regulatory authority within the three years 
immediately preceding the date of this Listing Statement.  

20. INTEREST OF MANAGEMENT AND OTHERS IN MATERIAL 
TRANSACTIONS 

No director or executive officer of the Issuer, or any person or company that has direct or indirect beneficial 
ownership of, or who exercises control or direction over, more than 10% of the Issuer’s outstanding Shares, 
nor any associate or affiliate of any of such persons or companies, has had any interest in any transaction 
within the three years preceding the date of this Listing Statement, or has any interest in any proposed 
transaction, that has materially affected or will materially affect the Issuer, save and except: 

 Michael Edwards, the CEO, was the beneficial owner of 9,500,000 shares of PAI at the time it was 
acquired by the Issuer (see Item 3.1 “General Description of the Business – Pioneer Acquisition I 
Inc.”, and Item 22 “Material Contracts” - Amalgamation Agreement).  In consideration therefor, 
he received an equivalent number of Shares of the Issuer.  

21. AUDITORS, TRANSFER AGENTS AND REGISTRARS 

Auditor 

The auditors of the Issuer are De Visser Gray LLP, Chartered Professional Accountants, Suite 401 – 905 
W. Pender Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, V6C 1L6.  

Transfer Agent and Registrar 

The Issuer’s register and transfer agent is National Securities Administrators Ltd., Suite 760 - 777 Hornby 
Street, Vancouver, British Columbia V6Z 1S4.  

22. MATERIAL CONTRACTS 

During the two years preceding the date of this Listing Statement, other than contracts entered into in the 
ordinary course of business, the Issuer has entered into the following material agreements: 
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1.  Amalgamation Agreement dated April 30, 2020 pursuant to which (i) the Issuer and PAI 
amalgamated, and (ii) all of the holders of shares and special warrants in PAI became shareholders 
of the Issuer. 

2.  Stock Option Plan.   

3.  Escrow Agreement dated February 25, 2019 among the Issuer, National Issuer Services Ltd. and 
certain principals of the Issuer regarding 172,000 Shares (as of the date of this Listing Statement).  

4.  Escrow Agreement dated February 25, 2021 among the Issuer, National Securities Administrators 
Ltd. and various Shareholders regarding 13,260,000 Shares.  

5.  Transfer Agent and Registrar Agreement dated July 9, 2018 between the Company and National 
Securities Administrators Ltd.  

Copies of the material contracts can be reviewed on SEDAR or at the offices of the Issuer’s legal counsel 
– Owen Bird Law Corporation, at Suite 2900 – 595 Burrard Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada 
V7X 1J5.  

23. INTEREST OF EXPERTS 

The only persons who are named as having prepared or certified a part of this Listing Statement or prepared 
or certified a report or valuation described or included in this Listing Statement are the Issuer’s auditors, 
De Visser Gray LLP, Chartered Professional Accountants, as such pertains to the audited financial 
statements, and auditor’s report thereon, for the fiscal years ended May 31, 2020 and 2019.  The auditors 
have advised the Issuer that they are independent in accordance with the Rules of Professional Conduct of 
the Chartered Professional Accountants of British Columbia.  

No direct or indirect interest in any property of the Issuer or of a Related Person of the Issuer has been 
received or is to be received by a person or company whose profession or business gives authority to a 
statement made by the person or company and who is named as having prepared or certified a part of this 
Listing Statement or prepared or certified a report or valuation described or included in this Listing 
Statement.  

24. OTHER MATERIAL FACTS  

There are no other material facts that are not disclosed under the preceding items and that are necessary in 
order for this Listing Statement to contain full, true and plain disclosure of all material facts relating to the 
Issuer and its securities.  

25. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Attached hereto in Schedule “C” are the audited financial statements of the Issuer for the fiscal years ended 
May 31, 2020 and 2019; and the unaudited financial statements for the three and six months ended 
November 30, 2020.  

Additional historical financial statements for the Issuer can be found under the Issuer’s profile on SEDAR. 
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FORM 2A –LISTING STATEMENT 

SCHEDULE “A” 

INVESTMENT POLICY  
 

PIONEER MEDIA HOLDINGS INC. 
(the “Company”) 

Summary 

The Company is an investment company whose primary objective is to invest its funds for purposes of 
generating returns from capital appreciation and investment income.  It intends to accomplish these goals 
through the identification of and investment in securities of private and publicly listed entities that are 
involved in or connected with the eSport and mobile gaming industries.  

Investments will be acquired and held for short-term gains, income generation, or long-term capital 
appreciation, dependent upon the specific investment.  The paramount goal of the Company will be to 
generate maximum returns from its investments.   

The Company will operate as an investment company, rather than an investment fund.  That is, the Company 
intends to be active in managing its investments and active with respect to each entity in which it holds an 
interest (each an “Investee”).  It will do this by doing one or more of (i) holding a significant equity interest, 
(ii) having representation on the board of directors, or observer status on board meetings and matters, (iii) 
appointing an advisor to the advisory board; (iv) appointing a member of management, (v) imposing 
restrictions on the management, or holding approval or veto rights over decisions made by management, 
and (vi) having a right to restrict transfer of shares of other shareholders, or the right to issue new shares. 

The Company expects to establish an investment committee to oversee the identification, review and 
implementation of investments.  The Company may also engage one or more investment managers or third 
party consultants to assist with identifying and executing upon investments, as well as monitoring 
investments over time. 

The Company’s focus will be on making investments in businesses that are involved, directly or indirectly 
in eSports or mobile gaming.  Should the Company seek to amend its investment objectives, investment 
strategy or investment restrictions in such a manner that the Company would no longer be principally 
involved in such industries, it will seek the approval of its shareholders prior to implementing such 
change(s).  

The Company anticipates re-investing the profits realized from its investments to further the growth and 
development of the Company’s investment portfolio.  The declaration and payment of dividends to 
shareholders will become a priority once Company has achieved steady or continuous cash flow from its 
investments.  
 
Investment Objectives  

The principal investment objectives of the Company are as follows:  

 to maximize the return to the Company on each of its investments;  

 to preserve its capital and limit the downside risk of its capital; 

 to minimize the risk associated with each form of investment; and  

 to seek liquidity in its investments.  
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Investment Strategy  

To achieve the investment objectives as stated above, the Company, when appropriate, shall employ the 
following disciplines:  

 The Company will obtain detailed knowledge of the relevant business in which the investment will 
be made, as well as the Investee.  

 The Company will seek to retain management or consultants having specific industry expertise within 
the industry or sector in which an investment is contemplated or has been made.  

 The Company will work closely with the Investee’s management and board, and in most cases, assist 
in sourcing experienced and qualified persons to add to the board and/or management of the Investee; 
which may, in certain circumstances, be a representative of the Company. 

 Investments may include:  

o  equity, bridge loans, secured loans, unsecured loans, convertible debentures, warrants and 
options, royalties, streaming investments, net profit interests and other hybrid instruments; 

o acquisitions, partnership interests, or joint venture interests with Investees;  

o  acquisition of a business or its assets, directly or via a wholly owned subsidiary, and 
subsequent managing or assisting in developing the underlying business;  

o  capital investment in private companies, and assistance in moving them to an acquisition or 
merger transaction with a larger company or to the public stage through initial public offering, 
reverse takeover or other liquidity event;  

o  early stage equity investments in public companies believed to have favourable management 
and business; and  

o  where appropriate, acting as a third party advisor for opportunities in target or other companies, 
in exchange for a fee. 

 The Company will actively review and monitor all of its investments on an ongoing basis.  Investees 
will be required to provide continuous disclosure of operations and financial status. In most instances 
the Company will insist on board or management representation on Investees.  

 The Company will continually seek liquidity opportunities for its investments, with a view to 
optimizing the return on its investment; recognizing that no two investments will be alike in terms of 
the duration held or the best means of exiting an investment.  

 The Company may acquire interests in Investees within the framework of the above guidelines, which 
from time to time may result in the Company holding a control or complete ownership position in an 
Investee.  

 The Company may utilize the services of both independent organizations and securities dealers to 
gain additional information on target investments where appropriate.  

 
Pending investment of available funds, monies will be held in bank or trust accounts with Schedule A 
financial institutions.  
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Investment Restrictions 

Industries:  The Company will restrict its investments to the eSport and mobile gaming sectors, including 
entities involved in providing goods or services to the industries; or other investment companies that hold 
a portfolio of various business interests within those sectors.   
 
Composition:  The actual composition of the Company’s investment portfolio will vary over time as 
investments are made and liquidated.  Management will not be bound or restricted as to the geographic, 
percentage diversity, number of investments, or other restrictive parameters; but may exercise flexibility in 
its approach to and investment of available funds. 
 
Types:  The Company will maintain a flexible position with respect to the form of investments taken, and 
may employ a wide range of investment instruments, including equity, bridge loans, secured loans, 
unsecured loans, convertible debentures, warrants and options, joint ventures, partnerships, net profit 
interests and other hybrid instruments. 
 
Jurisdictions:  The eSport and mobile gaming industries are recognized as being global in scope, and as 
such the Company anticipates that a material percentage of its investments may be in entities formed in 
jurisdictions outside of Canada and the United States.  All jurisdictions where eSport and mobile gaming 
are legal will be permissible for investment consideration. 
 
Timing:  The timing of the Company’s investments will depend, in part, on available capital at any particular 
time, and the investment opportunities identified and available to the Company.  Subject to the availability 
of capital, the Company intends to create a suitably diversified portfolio of investments and not retain 
available cash (other than as needed for ongoing general administrative expenses).  Management will not 
be bound or restricted as to the timing to invest available capital; but will seek to fully deploy available 
capital in as expeditious a manner as possible.   
 
Notwithstanding the above, the Company will seek to invest at least 60% of its available capital resources 
in Investees, in accordance with the investment objectives and strategy outlined herein, at all times (subject 
to a reasonable period of time following each raising of additional capital).  In the event it fails to meet this 
requirement for a period of 180 days or more, it will forthwith call a meeting of its shareholders for the 
purpose of seeking majority of the minority approval (excluding management and insiders) to one of (i) 
continue to seek investment opportunities in accordance with the investment policies and strategies outlined 
herein, or (ii) discontinue its operations as an investment company and seek alternative opportunities, or 
(iii) liquidate and discontinue all operations and return the proceeds therefrom to the minority shareholders 
as a return of capital or cash dividend. 
 
Size:  The Company will not be bound or restricted as to the overall size of its investment portfolio.  The 
Company may raise additional funds from time to time, for purposes of expanding its investment portfolio; 
or may choose to limit its size based on available management time or investment opportunities.  Nor will 
the Company be limited as to the size of any particular investment it may make or the percentage interest 
any one investment may be of the Company’s overall portfolio.  As such, the Company may hold a material 
or majority of its investments in one Investee or a relatively few number of Investees.  Further, the Company 
will not be limited as to the percentage interest it may hold in any Investee, which may result in the 
Company holding a control position or even complete ownership of an Investee.  
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Investee Structures:  The Company will not be bound or restricted as to the nature or structure of Investees.  
Investees may be public or private corporations, partnerships, joint ventures or other legal entities.  
 
Compliance:  The Company will be use its reasonable commercial efforts to ensure that with respect to 
every investment made by the Company that the Investee is in full compliance with all applicable regulatory 
requirements enacted by the applicable regulatory authorities in the jurisdiction in which it operates.  
 
  Management Participation 

The Company will, in most instances, seek an active role in Investees, and provide such entities with 
financial and personnel resources, as well as strategic counsel.  The Company will normally ask for board 
or management representation.  The Company’s nominee(s) shall be determined by the Board as appropriate 
in such circumstances. 
 
  Registration Status 

The Company will aim to structure its investments in such a way that the Company is not deemed to be 
either an investment fund or mutual fund, as defined by applicable securities laws, thereby avoiding the 
requirement to register as an investment fund manager or investment advisor. 
 
  Conflicts of Interest 

The Company recognizes that its directors, officers are or may be involved in other financial, investment 
and professional activities which may on occasion cause a conflict of interest with their duties to the 
Company.  These include serving as directors, officers, promoters, advisers or agents of other public and 
private companies, including Investees.  These persons may also engage in transactions with the Company 
where any one or more of them is acting in a capacity as financial advisor, broker, intermediary, principal, 
or counterparty, provided that such transactions are carried out on terms similar to those which would apply 
in a like transaction between parties not connected with any one of them and such transactions are carried 
out on normal commercial terms as if negotiated at arm’s length.  
 
The Company has no prohibition with respect to investing in Investees in which a director or member of 
management may already have an interest.  However, directors and senior officers will be required to 
disclose any conflicts of interest, including holding any interest in a potential investment.  Further, where 
a conflict is determined to exist, the person having a disclosable interest shall abstain from making further 
decisions or recommendations concerning such matter, and any potential investments where there is a 
material conflict of interest involving an employee, officer or director of the Company may only proceed 
after receiving approval from the disinterested directors of the Board. 
 
The Company will also be subject to “related party” transaction policies of the securities exchange(s) on 
which its shares are listed for trading.  Such policies may require disinterested shareholder approval and 
valuations for certain investment transactions. 
 
Prior to making any investment commitment, the Company will adopt procedures for checking for potential 
conflicts of interest, which shall include but not be limited to a circulation of the names of a potential target 
corporation and its affiliates to the Board and management. 
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  Procedures and Implementation 

The Board may appoint an Investment Committee (the “Committee”) to be responsible for assisting the 
Board in discharging the Board’s oversight responsibilities relating to investment opportunities.  These 
individuals would be expected to have a broad range of business experience and their own networks of 
business partners, financiers, venture capitalists and finders through whom potential investments may be 
identified. 
 
If appointed, prospective investments will be channeled through the Committee.  The Committee will make 
an assessment of whether each proposal fits with the investment strategy and restrictions of the Company 
as set out herein, and then proceed with preliminary due diligence, leading to a decision to reject or move 
the proposal to the next stage of detailed due diligence.  This process may involve the participation of 
outside professional consultants. 
 
Once a decision has been reached to recommend investing in a particular situation, a summary of the 
rationale behind the investment decision will be prepared by the Committee and submitted to the Board.  
This summary is expected to include, among other things, the estimated return on investment, timeline of 
investment, guidelines against which future progress can be measured, and risks associated with the 
investment.   
 
All investments will be submitted to the Board for final approval.  The Committee will monitor the 
Company’s investment portfolio on an ongoing basis, and will be subject to the direction of the Board.  The 
Committee will present an overview of the state of the investment portfolio to the Board on a quarterly 
basis. 
 
The representative(s) of the Company involved in negotiating the structure of the Company’s investment 
will be determined in each case by the circumstances of the investment opportunity. 

  Amendment 

The Company’s investment objectives, investment strategy and investment restrictions may be amended 
from time to time on the recommendation of the investment committee or senior management and approval 
by the Board, provided that if such amendments are material in nature, the same will require the prior 
approval of the shareholders of the Company.    
 
  Dividends  

The Company does not anticipate the declaration of dividends to shareholders during its initial stages and 
plans to reinvest any profits of its investments to further the growth and development of the Company’s 
investment portfolio.  As part of the Company’s overall objective of maximizing returns on its investments, 
it will seek to maximize value to its shareholders.  As such the declaration and payment of dividends to 
shareholders may become a priority once Company has achieved steady or continuous cash flow from its 
investments. 
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SCHEDULE “B” 

STATEMENT OF EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION 

This Schedule sets forth the compensation paid by the Issuer to its Named Executive Officers and directors 
during the past two fiscal years ended May 31, 2020 and 2019. 
 
For the purpose of this Listing Statement, “Named Executive Officer” or “NEO” means: each of the 
following individuals: 

(a)  each individual who, in respect of the Issuer, during any part of the most recently completed 
financial year, served as chief executive officer, including an individual performing functions 
similar to a chief executive officer; 

(b)  each individual who, in respect of the Issuer, during any part of the most recently completed 
financial year, served as chief financial officer, including an individual performing functions 
similar to a chief financial officer; 

(c)  in respect of the Issuer and its subsidiaries, the most highly compensated executive officer other 
than the individuals identified in paragraphs (a) and (b) at the end of the most recently completed 
financial year whose total compensation was more than $150,000 as determined in accordance with 
subsection 1.3(5) of Form 51-102F6V Statement of Executive Compensation – Venture Issuers for 
that financial year;  

(d)  each individual who would be a named executive officer under paragraph (c) but for the fact that 
the individual was not an executive officer of the company, and was not acting in a similar capacity, 
at the end of that financial year;  

 
During the financial years ended May 31, 2020 and 2019, the Issuer had the following Named Executive 
Officers: Steve Smith, CEO (resigned October 2019); Iqbal Boga, CFO (resigned October 2019); David 
Patterson (CEO and CFO from October 2019 to November 2019); Michael Edwards (CEO from November 
2019); and Andrew Steward (CFO from May 2020).   
 
All dollar amounts referenced herein are Canadian Dollars unless otherwise specified.   
 
Oversight and Description of Director and NEO Compensation 
 
Compensation of NEOs 

The Issuer’s board of directors (the “Board”) does not presently have a compensation committee.  From 
incorporation, the Issuer has not paid any compensation to its NEOs.  Going forward, commencing from 
the time the Issuer gains a listing on the CSE, it is expected that NEOs will begin to receive compensation 
and be eligible for stock options.  
 
Compensation of NEOs will be reviewed annually and determined by the Board. The level of compensation 
for NEOs will be determined after consideration of various relevant factors, including the expected nature 
and quantity of duties and responsibilities, past performance, and the availability of financial resources.  In 
the Board’s view, there is, and has been, no need for the Issuer to design or implement a formal 
compensation program for NEOs. 
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Elements of NEO Compensation 

Base salary and consulting fee levels will reflect the fixed component of pay that will compensate NEOs 
for fulfilling their roles and responsibilities and assist in the attraction and retention of qualified executives.  
Base salaries will be reviewed annually to ensure they reflect each respective executive’s performance and 
experience in fulfilling his or her role and to ensure executive retention.  Salary and consulting fee levels 
will be reviewed and revised as the Issuer grows. 

The second element of NEO compensation will consist of incentive stock options granted under the Issuer’s 
stock option plan.  See “Stock Options” below for details of the plan and the criteria to be used to determine 
the quantity and conditions of stock options which may be granted.   

Other than stock options, the Issuer does not offer any long term incentive plans, share compensation plans 
or any other such benefit programs for its NEOs.  
 
Compensation of Directors 

From incorporation, the Issuer has not paid any compensation to its directors.  Going forward, commencing 
from the time the Issuer gains a listing on the CSE, it is expected that directors will begin to receive a 
stipend for acting as directors and on special committees, and be eligible for stock options. 

Compensation of directors of the Issuer will be reviewed annually and determined by the Board.  The level 
of compensation for directors will be determined after consideration of various relevant factors, including 
the expected nature and quantity of duties and responsibilities, past performance, and the availability of 
financial resources.  The Board will also consider stock option grants to directors under the Issuer’s stock 
option plan from time to time.   

Other than stock options, the Issuer does not offer any long term incentive plans, share compensation plans 
or any other such benefit programs for its directors.  
 
Stock Options 

Performance-based incentives will be granted by way of stock options.  The awards are intended to align 
executive interests with those of shareholders by tying compensation to corporate performance and to assist 
in retention through vesting provisions.   

In determining the number of stock options to be granted to the NEOs and directors, the Board will take 
into account the number of stock options, if any, previously granted to each NEO and director and the 
exercise price of any outstanding options to ensure that such grants are in accordance with the policies of 
the applicable stock exchange.   

The number of stock options granted to NEO and directors will be dependent on each person’s level of 
responsibility, authority and importance to the Issuer and to the degree to which such NEO’s or director’s 
long term contribution to the Issuer will be key to its long term success. 

In monitoring or adjusting the option allotments, the Board will take into account its own observations on 
individual performance (where possible), its assessment of individual contribution to shareholder value and 
previous option grants.  The scale of options is generally commensurate to the appropriate level of base 
compensation for each level of responsibility.  The Board will make these determinations subject to and in 
accordance with the provisions of the stock option plan. 
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Director and Named Executive Officer Compensation 

The following table (presented in accordance with National Instrument Form 51-102F6V – Statement of 
Executive Compensation – Venture Issuers) sets forth all annual and long term compensation for services 
paid to or earned by each NEO and director for the financial years ended May 31, 2020 and 2019, excluding 
compensation securities.   
 

Name and position 

Fiscal 
Year 

Ended 
May 31 

Salary, 
consulting 

fee, retainer, 
commission Bonus 

Committee 
or meeting 

fees 
Value of 

perquisites 

Value of all 
other 

compen- 
sation 

Total 
compen-

sation 

  ($) ($) ($) ($) ($) ($) 

Michael Edwards 
CEO & Director 

2020 
2019 

nil 
n/a 

nil 
n/a 

nil 
n/a 

nil 
n/a 

nil 
n/a 

nil 
n/a 

Andrew Stewart 
CFO 

2020 
2019 

nil 
n/a 

nil 
n/a 

nil 
n/a 

nil 
n/a 

nil 
n/a 

nil 
n/a 

David Patterson1 
Former CEO & CFO 

2020 
2019 

nil 
n/a 

nil 
n/a 

nil 
n/a 

nil 
n/a 

nil 
n/a 

nil 
n/a 

Steve Smith2 
Former CEO & Director 

2020 
2019 

nil 
nil 

nil 
nil 

nil 
nil 

nil 
nil 

nil 
nil 

nil 
nil 

Iqbal Boga2 
Former CFO 

2020 
2019 

nil 
nil 

nil 
nil 

nil 
nil 

nil 
nil 

nil 
nil 

nil 
nil 

Zachery Dingsdale2 
Former Director 

2020 
2019 

nil 
nil 

nil 
nil 

nil 
nil 

nil 
nil 

nil 
nil 

nil 
nil 

Kenneth MacLeod2 
Former Director 

2020 
2019 

nil 
nil 

nil 
nil 

nil 
nil 

nil 
nil 

nil 
nil 

nil 
nil 

Derrick Strickland2 
Former Director  

2020 
2019 

nil 
nil 

nil 
nil 

nil 
nil 

nil 
nil 

nil 
nil 

nil 
nil 

1.  Mr. Patterson was CEO, CFO and sole director from October 3, 2019 to November 7, 2019. 

2.  Each director and NEO resigned on October 3, 2019.  
 

Stock Options and Other Compensation Securities  

The only compensation securities available to be issued or granted by the Issuer to its NEOs and directors 
during the fiscal year ended May 31, 2020 were incentive stock options under the Issuer’s stock option 
plan.  The Issuer did not grant or issue any compensation securities to its NEOs or directors for services 
provided or to be provided, directly or indirectly, to the Issuer in the financial year ended May 31, 2020.  
The Issuer did not have any compensation securities outstanding as at May 31, 2020.   

None of the directors or NEOs of the Issuer exercised any compensation securities during the financial year 
ended May 31, 2020.   
 
Employment, Consulting and Management Agreements 

There have been no employment, consulting or management contract in effect since the Issuer’s 
incorporation.  Nor has any NEO or director been eligible to receive any compensation in the event of 
dismissal without cause or in the event of a change of control.   
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Pension Disclosure 

No pension, retirement or deferred compensation plans, including defined contribution plans, have been 
instituted by the Issuer and none are proposed at this time. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

To the Shareholders of Pioneer Media Holdings Inc. (formerly Haro Metals Corp.) 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Opinion 
We have audited the financial statements of Pioneer Media Holdings Inc. (formerly Haro Metals Corp.) (the “Company”), 
which comprise the statements of financial position as at May 31, 2020 and 2019 and the statements of loss and 
comprehensive loss, changes in equity and cash flows for the years then ended, and notes to the financial statements, 
including a summary of significant accounting policies. 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of 
the Company as at May 31, 2020 and 2019 and its financial performance and its cash flows for the years ended May 
31, 2020 and 2019 in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). 

Basis for Opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section 
of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our 
audit of the financial statements in Canada, and we have fulfilled our ethical responsibilities in accordance with these 
requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion. 

Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern 
We draw attention to Note 1 in the financial statements, which indicates that the Company has incurred losses since 
inception, had a deficit of $914,590 and is dependent upon its ability to raise financing from equity markets or borrowings 
and upon successful results from its investments. As stated in Note 1, these events or conditions, along with other 
matters as set forth in Note 1, indicate that a material uncertainty exists that may cast significant doubt on the 
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter. 
 
Other Information  
Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in 
"Management's Discussion and Analysis" but does not include the financial statements and our auditor's report thereon. 

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of 
assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information, and in doing 
so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge 
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we 
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have 
nothing to report in this regard. 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with 
IFRSs, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to continue as a 
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic 
alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process. 

 



Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 
Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could 
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise professional 
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

x Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, 
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud 
is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

x Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Company’s internal control. 

x Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 
related disclosures made by management. 

x Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on 
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast 
significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty 
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the financial statements 
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence 
obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to 
cease to continue as a going concern. 

x Evaluate the overall presentation, structure, and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and 
whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 
presentation. 

x Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the Company, to express an 
opinion on the financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the 
Company’s audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing 
of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during 
our audit. 

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may 
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is G. Cameron Dong.  

 

Chartered Professional Accountants  
Vancouver, BC 
September 28, 2020 



The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 

Pioneer Media Holdings Inc.
(formerly Haro Metals Corp.)
Statements of Financial Position
(Stated in Canadian Dollars)

May 31, May 31,
Notes 2020 2019

ASSETS
Current assets

Cash 96,100$            18,693$            
GST receivable 4,475                3,114                
Advances to related parties 10 15,000              -                   
Prepaid expenses -                   28,500              

Total current assets 115,575            50,307              
Non-current assets

Investments 5 7,287,140         -                   
Exploration and evaluation assets 6 -                   123,776            

TOTAL ASSETS 7,402,715$       174,083$          

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 121,786$          77,551$            
Advances from related parties 10 -                   14,000              

Total current liabilities 121,786            91,551              
Non-current liabilities

Deferred income tax liability 678,000            9,000                
Equity 

Common shares 7 7,462,529         160,000            
Share subscriptions receivable (25,010)            -                   
Share-based payments reserve 8 80,000              80,000              
Deficit (914,590)          (166,468)          

Total equity 6,602,929         73,532              

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 7,402,715$       174,083$          

Nature and continuance of operations 1
Subsequent events 13

Approved on behalf of the Board of Directors:

"Darcy Taylor" "Michael Edwards"
Darcy Taylor, Director Michael Edwards, Director  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 

Pioneer Media Holdings Inc.
(formerly Haro Metals Corp.)
Statements of Loss and Comprehensive Loss
(Stated in Canadian Dollars)

Year ended May 31,
Notes 2020 2019

Expenses
Filing and listing fees 32,386$            -$                 
Marketing 13,737              -                   
Office and miscellaneous 1,232                16,651              
Professional fees 48,829              54,384              
Transfer agent fees 2,500                -                   

Loss before other items and income taxes 98,684              71,035              

Other items
Interest income (1,574)              -                   
Impairment of exploration and evaluation assets 6 123,776            -                   
Fair value changes on investments 5 (141,764)          -                   

Loss before income taxes 79,122              71,035              

Deferred income tax expense (recovery) 669,000            (19,000)            

Loss and comprehensive loss for the year 748,122$          52,035$            

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding
Basic and diluted 7 7,806,634         240,000            

Basic and diluted loss per common share 7 0.10$                0.22$                

 
 
 
 



The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 

Pioneer Media Holdings Inc.
(formerly Haro Metals Corp.)
Statement of Changes in Equity
(Stated in Canadian Dollars)

Share Share-based Retained
Subscriptions Payments Earnings

Number1 Amount Receivable Reserve (Deficit) Total

Balance at May 31, 2018 240,000            160,000$          -$                 80,000$            (114,433)$        125,567$          
Loss for the year -                   -                   -                   -                   (52,035)            (52,035)            

Balance at May 31, 2019 240,000            160,000            -                   80,000              (166,468)          73,532              
Common shares issued for cash 12,500,000       500,000            -                   -                   -                   500,000            
Share issue costs -                   (3,845)              -                   -                   -                   (3,845)              
Amalgamation with Pioneer Acquisition I Inc. 14,222,000       6,806,374         (25,010)            -                   -                   6,781,364         
Loss for the year -                   -                   -                   -                   (748,122)          (748,122)          

Balance at May 31, 2020 26,962,000       7,462,529$       (25,010)$          80,000$            (914,590)$        6,602,929$       

1 The number of common shares reflects a ten-for-one share consolidation which occurred on October 25, 2019 and a two-for-one share consolidation
which occurred on May 28, 2020 (note 7). All common shares disclosed in these financial statements reflect these changes.

Common Shares

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 

Pioneer Media Holdings Inc.
(formerly Haro Metals Corp.)
Statements of Cash Flows
(Stated in Canadian Dollars)

Year ended May 31,
2020 2019

Operating activities
Loss for the year (748,122)$        (52,035)$          
Items not involving cash:

Impairment of exploration and evaluation assets 123,776            -                   
Interest income (1,574)              -                   
Fair value changes on investments (141,764)          -                   
Deferred income tax expense (recovery) 669,000            (19,000)            

Changes in non-cash working capital items:
GST receivable (1,361)              (2,839)              
Prepaid expenses 28,500              (28,500)            
Trade and other payables 40,214              53,039              

Net cash used in operating activities (31,331)            (49,335)            

Investing Activity
Cash acquired upon amalgamation with Pioneer Acquisition I Inc. 93,824              -                   
Purchase of investments (467,241)          -                   

Net cash used in investing activities (373,417)          -                   

Financing Activities
Issuance of common shares, net of share issue costs 496,155            -                   
Advances from (to) related parties (14,000)            14,000              

Net cash provided by financing activities 482,155            14,000              

Change in cash during the period 77,407              (35,335)            

Cash, beginning of year 18,693              54,028              

Cash, end of year 96,100$            18,693$            

Supplemental Cash Flow Information
Income taxes paid -$                 -$                 
Interest paid (received) -$                 -$                 
Trade and other payables included in exploration and evaluation assets -$                 18,767$            
Net assets acquired upon amalgamation with Pioneer Acquisition I Inc.,

net of cash 6,712,550$       -$                  
 
 
 



Pioneer Media Holdings Inc. 
(formerly Haro Metals Corp.) 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
May 31, 2020 and 2019 
(Stated in Canadian Dollars) 
 

  

1. Nature and Continuance of Operations  
 
Pioneer Media Holdings Inc. (formerly Haro Metals Corp.) (the “Company” or “Pioneer”) was incorporated on 
November 9, 2017 pursuant to the Business Corporations Act of British Columbia. On June 3, 2019 the Company 
received a receipt for a final prospectus contemplating an initial public offering (“IPO”), concurrent private placement 
and listing on the Canadian Securities Exchange (“CSE”).  On October 3, 2019, the Company announced that it was 
unable to complete its IPO and concurrent private placement and the board of directors and officers resigned. 
Subsequently, Michael Edwards was appointed CEO, CFO and director; Darcy Taylor and Mark Rutledge were also 
appointed to be directors. The Company is a reporting issuer in each of British Columbia, Alberta and Ontario; but is 
not listed on any stock exchange. 
 
On October 25, 2019 the Company changed its business from the acquisition and exploration of mineral property assets 
to becoming an investment issuer with an initial focus on the gaming and eSport sector (note 5). With the change in 
business activities, the Company disposed of its mineral property interests for nominal consideration and impaired 
100% of its exploration and evaluation assets (note 6). 

 
On May 28, 2020 the Company amalgamated with Pioneer Acquisition I Inc., a company also in the gaming and eSport 
sector (note 4). 

 
During the first quarter of 2020, there was a global outbreak of a novel coronavirus identified as “COVID-19”.  On March 
11, 2020, the World Health Organization declared a global pandemic. In order to combat the spread of COVID-19, 
governments worldwide have enacted emergency measures including travel bans, legally enforced or self-imposed 
quarantine periods, social distancing and business and organization closures. These measures have caused material 
disruptions to businesses, governments and other organizations resulting in an economic slowdown and increased 
volatility in national and global equity and commodity markets. 
  
Central banks and governments, including Canadian federal and provincial governments, have reacted with significant 
monetary and fiscal interventions designed to stabilize economic conditions. The duration and impact of the COVID-19 
outbreak is unknown at this time, as is the efficacy of any interventions. It is not possible to reliably estimate the length 
and severity of these developments and the impact on the financial results and condition of the Company and its 
operations in future periods. 
 
As at May 31, 2020, the Company had not yet achieved profitable operations, has accumulated losses of $913,465 since 
inception, and expects to incur further losses in the development of its business. These factors indicate a material 
uncertainty that may cast substantial doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. The Company’s 
continuation as a going concern is primarily dependent upon its ability to raise financing from equity markets or 
borrowings and upon successful results from its investments. While the Company has been successful in securing 
financings in the past, there is no assurance that it will be able to do so in the future. Accordingly, these financial 
statements do not give effect to adjustments, if any, that would be necessary should the Company be unable to 
continue as a going concern. If the going concern assumption was not used, then the adjustments required to report 
the Company’s assets and liabilities on a liquidation basis could be material to these financial statements. 
 
The office of the Company is located at 2080 – 1055 West Georgia Street, Vancouver, BC, V6E 3R4.  

 
 
 
 
 



Pioneer Media Holdings Inc. 
(formerly Haro Metals Corp.) 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
May 31, 2020 and 2019 
(Stated in Canadian Dollars) 
 

  

2. Basis of Preparation 
 
a) Statement of compliance 
 

The Company has prepared its financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(“IFRS”) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and Interpretations of the IFRS 
Interpretations Committee (“IFRICs”).  

 
b) Basis of presentation 

 
The financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest dollar except 
where otherwise indicated. The financial statements have been prepared on an accrual basis and are based on 
historical costs except for certain financial instruments, which are measured at fair value, as explained in the 
accounting policies set out in note 3.  
 

c) Approval of the financial statements 
 
The financial statements of the Company for the years ended May 31, 2020 and 2019 were reviewed by the audit 
committee and approved and authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on September 28, 2020. 
 

d) Recent accounting pronouncements and changes to accounting policies 
 
During the year ended May 31, 2020, the Company adopted the following new accounting pronouncements: 
 
i) IFRS 16 Leases – In January 2016, the IASB issued IFRS 16, which establishes principles for the recognition, 

measurement, presentation, and disclosure of leases for both the lessee and lessor. The new standard introduces 
a single lessee accounting model that requires the recognition of all assets and liabilities arising from a lease. IFRS 
16 replaces IAS 17, IFRIC 4, SIC 15, and SIC 27 effective for annual periods on or after January 1, 2019. The 
Company did not have any lease contracts in place as at May 31, 2019 and did not enter into any lease contracts 
during the year ended May 31, 2020. As such, there was no material impact on the Company’s financial 
statements upon adoption of this standard. 

 
ii) IFRIC 23 – Uncertainty Over Income Tax Treatments. IFRIC 23 clarifies how to apply the recognition and 

measurement requirements in IAS 12 when there is uncertainty over income tax treatments. It is effective for 
annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019 with early adoption permitted. There was no material 
impact on the Company’s condensed interim financial statements upon adoption of this standard.  

 
At the date of authorization of these financial statements, the IASB and IFRIC have issued the following new and 
revised Standards and Interpretations which are not yet effective: 

 
i) IFRS 3 Business Combinations – The definition of a business will be amended under IFRS 3. Under the amended 

definition, to be considered a business an acquisition must include an input and a substantive process that 
together significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs. The new guidance provides a framework to 
evaluate when an input and a substantive process are present. Under the prior definition, IFRS 3 stated that a 
business need not include all of the inputs or processes that the seller used in operating that business “if 
market participants are capable of acquiring the business and continuing to produce outputs, for example, by 
integrating the business with their own inputs and processes”. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
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2. Basis of Preparation (cont’d) 
 

The reference to such integration is now deleted from IFRS 3 in the amendment and the assessment must be 
based on what has been acquired in its current state and condition. This amendment will be applied 
prospectively to future acquisitions (effective for annual periods on or after January 1, 2020). 

 
The Company has not early adopted this standard and does not expect there to be a material impact on the results 
and financial position of the Company upon adoption. 

 
3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
 

a) Cash 
 

Cash in the statements of financial position comprise cash at banks, or held in trust, and short term deposits with 
an original maturity of three months or less, which are readily convertible into a known amount of cash, and subject 
to insignificant risk of changes in fair value. 

 
b) Foreign currencies 

 
The financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars. The Company’s functional currency is the Canadian 
dollar, which is the currency of the primary economic environment in which the Company operates.  
 
Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded at the functional currency rate at the date of the 
transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated to the functional 
currency rate of exchange at the date of the statement of financial position. 

 
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the 
exchange rates as at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign 
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value is determined.  

 
c) Exploration and evaluation expenditures 
 

Costs incurred before the Company has obtained the legal rights to explore an area are expensed in the period in 
which they are incurred.  
 
Once the legal right to explore a property has been acquired, costs to acquire the property along with costs directly 
related to exploration and evaluation expenditures (“E&E”) are recognized and capitalized. These direct 
expenditures include such costs as materials used, surveying costs, drilling costs, payments made to contractors 
and depreciation on plant and equipment during the exploration phase. Costs not directly attributable to 
exploration and evaluation activities, including general administrative overhead costs, are expensed in the period 
in which they occur.  
 
Government tax credits received are recorded as a reduction to the cumulative costs incurred and capitalized on 
the related property. 

 
When a project is deemed to no longer have commercially viable prospects to the Company, exploration and 
evaluation expenditures in respect of that project are deemed to be impaired. As a result, those exploration and 
evaluation expenditure costs, in excess of estimated recoveries, are charged to profit or loss.  
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3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d) 
 

The Company assesses exploration and evaluation assets for impairment when facts and circumstances suggest 
that the carrying amount of an asset may exceed its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of 
the asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use.  
 
Once the technical feasibility and commercial viability of the extraction of mineral resources in an area of interest 
are demonstrable, exploration and evaluation assets attributable to that area of interest are first tested for 
impairment and then reclassified to mining property and development assets within that mining property. 
 
Recoverability of the carrying amount of any exploration and evaluation assets is dependent on successful 
development and commercial exploitation, or alternatively sale of the respective areas of interest. 
 
Mineral exploration and evaluation expenditures are classified as intangible assets. 

 
d) Impairment of assets 

 
The carrying amount of the Company’s assets (which include exploration and evaluation assets) is reviewed at each 
reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If such indication exists, the 
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss. An 
impairment loss is recognized whenever the carrying amount of an asset or its cash generating unit exceeds its 
recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognized in profit or loss. 
  
The recoverable amount of assets is the greater of an asset’s fair value less cost to sell and value in use. In assessing 
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate 
that reflects the current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. For an 
asset that does not generate cash inflows largely independent of those from other assets, the recoverable amount 
is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. An impairment loss is only reversed if there 
is an indication that the impairment loss may no longer exist and there has been a change in the estimates used to 
determine the recoverable amount, however, not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that would have 
been determined had no impairment loss been recognized in previous periods. 
  
Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortization and are tested annually for impairment. 

 
e) Decommissioning, restoration and similar liabilities 
 

An obligation to incur restoration, rehabilitation and environmental costs arises when environmental disturbance 
is caused by the exploration or development of a mineral property interest. Such costs arising from the 
decommissioning of plant and other site preparation work, discounted to their net present value, are provided for 
and capitalized at the start of each project to the carrying amount of the asset, along with a corresponding liability 
as soon as the obligation to incur such costs arises. The timing of the actual  expenditure is dependent on a number 
of factors such as the life and nature of the asset, the operating license conditions and, when applicable, the 
environment in which the mine operates. 

 
Discount rates using a pre-tax rate that reflects the time value of money are used to calculate the net present 
value. These costs are charged against profit or loss over the economic life of the related asset, through 
amortization using either the units-of-production or the straight-line method. The corresponding liability is 
progressively increased as the effect of discounting unwinds creating an expense recognized in profit or loss. 
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3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d) 
 

Decommissioning costs are also adjusted for changes in estimates. Those adjustments are accounted for as a 
change in the corresponding capitalized cost, except where a reduction in costs is greater than the unamortized 
capitalized cost of the related assets, in which case the capitalized cost is reduced to nil and the remaining 
adjustment is recognized in profit or loss.  
 
The operations of the Company have been, and may in the future be, affected from time to time in varying degree 
by changes in environmental regulations, including those for site restoration costs. Both the likelihood of new 
regulations and their overall effect upon the Company are not predictable.  The Company currently has no known 
material restoration, rehabilitation and environmental obligations. 

 
f) Share-based payments 

 
Employees (including directors and senior executives) of the Company may receive a portion of their remuneration 
in the form of share-based payments, whereby employees render services as consideration for equity instruments 
(“equity-settled transactions”). The costs of equity-settled transactions with employees are measured by reference 
to the fair value at the date on which they are granted. 
 
In situations where equity instruments are issued for goods or services to other than employees, the transaction 
is measured at the fair value of the goods or services received by the Company. When the value of the goods or 
services cannot be specifically identified, they are measured at the fair value of the share-based payment. 
 
The costs of equity-settled transactions are recognized, together with a corresponding increase in equity, over the 
period in which the performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled, ending on the date on which the relevant 
employees become fully entitled to the award (“vesting date”). The cumulative expense recognized for equity-
settled transactions at each reporting date until the vesting date reflects the Company’s best estimate of the 
number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The profit or loss charge or credit for a period represents 
the movement in cumulative expense recognized as at the beginning and end of that period and the corresponding 
amount is represented in share-based payments reserve. 
 
No expense is recognized for awards that do not ultimately vest, except for awards where vesting is conditional 
upon a market condition, which are treated as vesting irrespective of whether or not the market condition is 
satisfied provided that all other performance and/or service conditions are satisfied. 

 
Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, the minimum expense recognized is the expense as if 
the terms had not been modified. An additional amount is recognized on the same basis as the amount of the 
original award for any modification which increases the total fair value of the share-based payment arrangement 
or is otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at the date of modification. 

 
The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as dilution in the computation of earnings per share if 
applicable. 
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3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d) 
 

g) Taxation 
 

Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year, using tax rates 
enacted or substantively enacted at the period end date, and includes any adjustments to tax payable or receivable 
in respect of previous years. Deferred income taxes are recorded using the liability method whereby deferred tax 
is recognized in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for 
financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes.  
 
Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary differences when they 
reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the statement of financial position 
date. Deferred tax is not recognized for temporary differences which arise on the initial recognition of assets or 
liabilities in a transaction that is not a business combination and that affects neither accounting, nor taxable profit 
or loss. A deferred tax asset is recognized for unused tax losses, tax credits and deductible temporary differences, 
to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they can be utilized. 
Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each period end date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable 
that the related tax benefit will be realized. 

 
h) Income (loss) per share 

 
The Company presents basic and diluted income (loss) per share data for its common shares. Basic income (loss) 
per share is computed by dividing the income (loss) by the weighted average number of common shares 
outstanding during the period. Diluted income (loss) per share reflects the potential dilution of common share 
equivalents, such as outstanding stock options and share purchase warrants, in the weighted average number of 
common shares outstanding during the period, if dilutive.  

 
i) Financial instruments 
 

i) Recognition 
The Company recognizes a financial asset or financial liability on the statement of financial position when 
it becomes party to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument. Financial assets are initially 
measured at fair value, and are derecognized either when the Company has transferred substantially all 
the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset, or when cash flows expire. Financial liabilities 
are initially measured at fair value and are derecognized when the obligation specified in the contract is 
discharged, cancelled or expired.  
 
A write-off of a financial asset (or a portion thereof) constitutes a derecognition event. Write-off occurs 
when the Company has no reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows of a financial 
asset.  

 
ii) Classification and measurement 

The Company determines the classification of its financial instruments at initial recognition. Financial 
assets and financial liabilities are classified according to the following measurement categories: 

 
a) those to be measured subsequently at fair value, either through profit or loss (“FVTPL”) or through 

other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”); and, 
b) those to be measured subsequently at amortized cost.  
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3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d) 
 

The classification and measurement of financial assets after initial recognition at fair value depends on 
the business model for managing the financial asset and the contractual terms of the cash flows. Financial 
assets that are held within a business model whose objective is to collect the contractual cash flows, and 
that have contractual cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal 
outstanding, are generally measured at amortized cost at each subsequent reporting period. All other 
financial assets are measured at their fair values at each subsequent reporting period, with any changes 
recorded through profit or loss or through other comprehensive income (which designation is made as an 
irrevocable election at the time of recognition). 

 
After initial recognition at fair value, financial assets are classified and measured at either: 

 
i) amortized cost; 
ii) FVTPL, if the Company has made an irrevocable election at the time of recognition, or when required 

(for items such as instruments held for trading or derivatives); or 
iii) FVTOCI, when the change in fair value is attributable to changes in the Company’s credit risk.  

 
The Company reclassifies financial assets when and only when its business model for managing those 
assets changes. Financial liabilities are not reclassified. 
 
Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issuance of a financial asset or 
financial liability classified as subsequently measured at amortized cost or FVTOCI are included in the fair 
value of the instrument on initial recognition. Transaction costs for financial assets and financial liabilities 
classified at FVTPL are expensed in profit or loss. 
 
The classification and measurement of the Company’s financial assets and liabilities are as follows: 
 
Financial Assets 
Cash Amortized cost 
Investments FVTPL 
Investments – convertible debt FVTPL 
 
Financial Liabilities 
Trade and other payables Amortized cost 
Advances from/to related parties Amortized cost 
 
Financial liabilities are classified and measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method. 
The ‘effective interest rate’ is the rate that discounts estimated future cash payments over the expected 
life of the financial instrument to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset or the amortized cost 
of the financial liability. The effective interest rate is calculated considering all contractual terms of the 
financial instruments, except for the expected credit losses of financial assets. Interest expense is 
reported in profit or loss. 
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3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d) 
 

iii) Impairment 
The Company assesses all information available, including on a forward-looking basis the expected credit 
losses associated with any financial assets carried at amortized cost. The impairment methodology 
applied depends on whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk. To assess whether there 
is a significant increase in credit risk, the Company compares the risk of a default occurring on the asset 
as at the reporting date with the risk of default as at the date of initial recognition based on all information 
available, and reasonable and supportive forward-looking information.  

 
j) Related party transactions 

 
Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control the other party or 
exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial and operating decisions. Parties are also 
considered to be related if they are subject to common control or common significant influence, related parties 
may be individuals or corporate entities. A transaction is considered to be a related party transaction when there 
is a transfer of resources or obligations between related parties. Related party transactions that are in the normal 
course of business and have commercial substance are measured at the exchange amount.  

 
k) Significant accounting judgments and estimates 

 
The preparation of these financial statements requires management to make judgments and estimates and form 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and 
reported amounts of expenses during the reporting period. On an ongoing basis, management evaluates its 
judgments and estimates in relation to assets, liabilities and expenses. Management uses historical experience and 
various other factors it believes to be reasonable under the given circumstances as the basis for its judgments and 
estimates. Actual outcomes may differ from these estimates under different assumptions and conditions.  
 
The areas that require significant estimations or where measurements are uncertain are as follows: 

 
Fair value of investments in private companies 
The fair value of unquoted investments is established using valuation techniques. These may include the use of 
recent arm’s length transactions, a Black-Scholes option pricing model, discounted cash flow analysis, a probability-
weighted expected return model, or a current value method. Where a fair value cannot be estimated reliably, the 
investment is reported at the carrying value at the previous reporting date. 
 
The Company assesses at each reporting period whether there is any objective evidence that the unquoted 
investments are impaired. The unquoted investments are deemed to be impaired, if and only if, there is objective 
evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that have occurred after the initial recognition of the 
asset (an incurred ‘loss event’) and that loss event (or events) has an impact on the estimated future fair value of 
the investments that can be reliably measured.  
 
The preparation of financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires the Company to make judgments, apart 
from those involving estimates, in applying accounting policies. The most significant judgments in applying 
accounting policies in the Company’s financial statements includes: 
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3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d) 
 
Going Concern   
The determination of the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern requires significant judgment. Material 
adjustments to the Company’s assets and liabilities would be required if the going concern assumption was not 
used. 
 
Mineral Property Interests  
Although the Company has taken steps to verify title to mineral properties in which it has an interest, these 
procedures do not guarantee the Company’s title. Such properties may be subject to prior agreements or transfers 
and title may be affected by undetected defects. 

 
Exploration and Evaluation Expenditures 
The application of the Company’s accounting policy for exploration and evaluation expenditures requires judgment 
in determining whether it is likely that future economic benefits will flow to the Company, which are based on 
assumptions about future events or circumstances. Estimates and assumptions made may change if new 
information becomes available. If, after the expenditure is capitalized, information becomes available suggesting 
that the recovery of the expenditure is unlikely, the amount capitalized is charged to profit or loss in the period 
the new information becomes available. 

 
4. Amalgamation 
 

On May 28, 2020, the Company completed an amalgamation with Pioneer Acquisitions I Inc. (“PAI”). Under the terms of 
the amalgamation agreement, the Company and PAI amalgamated to form a new company, “Amalco”, and continued as 
one corporation under the Business Corporations Act of British Columbia. The Company is the continuing corporation 
as Amalco and the name of Amalco is Pioneer Media Holdings Inc. 
 
The following transactions occurred immediately upon the amalgamation: 
 

i) each PAI Share and PAI Special Warrant issued and outstanding on May 28, 2020 (excluding those held by 
Dissenting Shareholders) shall be exchanged for one (1) Amalco Common Share; 

ii) each Company Share issued and outstanding on May 28, 2020 (excluding those held by Dissenting 
Shareholders) shall be notionally exchanged for one-half of one (1/2) Amalco Common Share. 

 
All of the assets and liabilities of the Company and PAI immediately before the amalgamation became property of 
Amalco. The following table summarizes the assets and liabilities of PAI that were combined with the Company: 
 
Cash 93,824$            
Loans and other receivables 15,000              
Investments 6,676,561         

Total assets 6,785,385         

Trade and other payables 4,021                

Net assets 6,781,364$       
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4. Amalgamation (cont’d) 
 
For accounting purposes, the amalgamation is accounted for as a business combination whereby the Company issued 
14,222,000 of its common shares to acquire the net assets of PAI amounting to $6,781,364. 
 
The Company and PAI had directors in common and the amalgamation is considered to be a related party transaction 
(note 10). 

 
5. Investments 
 

The Company’s investments at May 31, 2020 and May 31, 2019 consisted of the following: 
 

Acquired on
May 31, Amalga- Change in May 31,

2019 Purchases mation Interest Fair Value 2020

Blue Star Capital Plc -$             -$             204,567$     -$             -$             204,567$     
The Dibs eSports Corp. -               50,000         -               1,574           2,690           54,264         
The Drops eSports Inc. -               100,000       -               -               -               100,000       
Diemens eSports Pty Ltd. -               44,995         -               -               825              45,820         
Dynasty eSports Pte Ltd. -               96,140         140,712       -               1,400           238,252       
Eastside Games Inc. -               -               381,024       -               -               381,024       
Googly eSports Plc -               50,553         85,015         -               456              136,024       
The Guild eSports Plc -               50,553         127,523       -               456              178,532       
Leaf Mobile Inc. -               75,000         5,695,213    -               135,937       5,906,150    
Streaks eSports Plc -               -               42,507         -               -               42,507         

-$             467,241$     6,676,561$  1,574$         141,764$     7,287,140$  

 
a) Blue Star Capital Plc 
 

During the year ended May 31, 2020, the Company (through PAI) purchased 114,583,333 common shares for 
$210,648. Blue Star Capital Plc is a UK based public company with a focus on investing in new technologies. 

 
b) The Dibs eSports Corp. 
 

On October 28, 2019, the Company entered into an agreement to acquire a $50,000 (US$38,196) convertible 
promissory note of The Dibs eSports Corp. (“Dibs”). The note pays 5% simple interest accruing daily on the basis 
of actual number of days elapsed over 365 days. All unpaid principal and accrued interest is due and payable on 
the earliest to occur of the following:  
 

i) 36 months from the date of register (the “Maturity Date”);  
ii) upon the closing of a sale of Dibs; or 

iii) upon an event of default. 
 
The Company has the right to convert the note into common shares of Dibs at any time prior to the Maturity Date.  
The fair value change of $2,690 represents foreign currency translation gain. 
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5. Investments (cont’d) 
 
Dibs is a US based private company with a focus on the North American eSports market (note 10).  

 
c) The Drops eSports Inc. 
 

On October 28, 2019, the Company entered into an agreement to acquire 6,666,667 common shares at $0.015 per 
share of The Drops Esports Inc. (“Drops”) for $100,000.  
 
Drops is a Canadian based private company with a focus on the Canadian eSports market.  

 
d) Diemens eSports Pty Ltd. (formerly The Cubs eSports Pty Ltd.) 
 

On October 28, 2019, the Company entered into an agreement to acquire 3,333,333 common shares at AUD0.015 
per share of Diemens eSports Pty Ltd. (formerly The Cubs eSports Pty Ltd.) (“Diemens”) for $44,995 (50,000 
Australian Dollars). The fair value change of $825 represents foreign currency translation gain. 
 
Diemens is an Australian based private company with a focus on the Australian eSports market.  

  
e) Dynasty eSports Pte Ltd. 
 

On October 28, 2019, the Company entered into an agreement to acquire 95,686 common shares at SGD1.045082 
per share of Dynasty eSports Pte Ltd. (“Dynasty”) for $96,140 (100,000 Singapore Dollars) and on March 13, 2020, 
the Company (through PAI) entered into an agreement to acquire 138,038 common shares at SGD1.045083 per 
share of Dynasty for $140,080 (144,261 Singapore Dollars). The fair value change of $1,400 represents foreign 
currency translation gain. 
 
Dynasty is a Singapore based private company with a focus on the Singapore eSports market (note 10).  

 
f) Eastside Games Inc. 

 
On April 21, 2020, the Company (through PAI) purchased 74,258 Class A common shares of Eastside Games Inc. 
(“Eastside”) at $5.13 per share for $381,024. Eastside is a privately owned game studio based in Vancouver, B.C. 
(note 10). 
 

g) Googly eSports Plc 
 

On October 28, 2019, the Company entered into an agreement to acquire 3,000,000 common shares at 1 pence 
per share of Googly eSports Plc (“Googly”) for $50,553 (30,000 Pounds Sterling) and on March 13, 2020, the 
Company (through PAI) entered into an agreement to acquire 5,000,000 common shares at 1 pence per share of 
Googly for $86,730 (50,000 Pounds Sterling). The fair value change of $456 represents foreign currency translation 
loss. 
 
Googly is an India based private company with a focus on the Indian eSports market.  
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5. Investments (cont’d) 
 

h) The Guilds eSports Plc (formerly The Lords eSports Plc) 
 

On October 28, 2019, the Company entered into an agreement to acquire 3,000,000 common shares at 1 pence 
per share of The Guilds eSports Plc (formerly The Lords Esports plc) (“Guilds”) for $50,553 (30,000 Pounds Sterling), 
on March 25, 2020 the Company (through PAI) purchased 2,500,000 common shares at 1 pence per share for 
$43,078 (25,000 Pounds Sterling), and on April 14, 2020 the Company (through PAI) purchased 5,000,000 common 
shares at 1 pence per share for $90,000 (50,000 Pounds Sterling). The fair value change of $456 represents foreign 
currency translation gain. 
 
Guilds is a United Kingdom based private company with a focus on the European eSports market.  

 
i) Leaf Mobile Inc. 
 

On March 26, 2020, the Company (through PAI) entered into an agreement to acquire 10,000,000 common shares  
at $0.00001 per share of Leaf Mobile Inc. (“Leaf”) for $500,000, and on April 20, 2020, the Company entered into 
agreements to acquire 3,125,000 (2,656,250 through PAI) common shares at $0.16 per share for $500,000. Leaf is 
a game studio based in Vancouver, B.C. and its shares are publicly traded on the TSX Venture Exchange (note 10).  
 

j) Streaks eSports Plc 
 

On March 25, 2020, the Company (through PAI) entered into an agreement to acquire 2,500,000 common shares 
at 1 pence per share of Streaks eSports Plc (“Streaks”) for $43,077 (25,000 Pounds Sterling).  
 
Streaks is a UK based private company with a focus on the European eSports market.  

 
6. Exploration and Evaluation Assets 
 

On November 30, 2017, the Company entered into an option agreement (the “Option Agreement”) with Bear Mountain 
Gold Mines Ltd. to acquire 60% interest in five contiguous mineral claims in south-western British Columbia comprising 
the Harrison South Property.  

 
With the change in business activities discussed in note 1, the Company assigned all of its interests in the Option 
Agreement to a third party for nominal consideration. As a result, the Company impaired 100% of its exploration and 
evaluation assets as at August 31, 2019. 

 
The Company’s exploration and evaluation assets consist of the following costs as at May 31, 2020 and 2019: 
 

May 31, May 31,
2019 2019

Exploration, geological work, geochemical analysis, mapping and labour -$                 111,576$          
Compliance and technical reporting -                   12,200              

-$                 123,776$          
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7. Common Shares 
 
a) Authorized and issued share capital: 

 
The Company has authorized an unlimited number of common shares without par value. 

 
As at May 31, 2020, the Company has 26,962,000 (May 31, 2019 – 240,000) common shares outstanding. 

 
On October 25, 2019, the Company’s issued and outstanding common shares were consolidated on a ten-for-one 
basis. On May 28, 2020, the Company’s issued and outstanding common shares were consolidated on a two-for-
one basis. As such, all common share numbers disclosed in these financial statements have been presented as if 
the share consolidations had occurred at inception, unless otherwise stated. 

 
On October 30, 2019, the Company completed a private placement raising $500,000 through the sale of 12,500,000 
common shares at $0.04 per share. The Company paid a cash commission of $900 and incurred legal fees of $2,945 
in connection with the private placement. 

 
On May 28, 2020, the Company completed an amalgamation with Pioneer Acquisition I Inc. (note 4). For accounting 
purposes, the amalgamation is accounted for as a business combination whereby the Company issued 14,222,000 
of its common shares to acquire the net assets of PAI amounting to $6,781,364.  

 
b) Escrowed shares: 
 

Pursuant to an escrow agreement dated February 25, 2019 (the “Escrow Agreement”) between the Company and 
certain shareholders of the Company, 172,500 common shares (the “Escrowed Shares”) were deposited in escrow.  
Pursuant to the Escrow Agreement, the Escrowed Shares shall be released pro-rata to the shareholders as to 10% 
upon the date the Company’s common shares are listed on a Canadian stock exchange and as to the remainder in six 
equal tranches of 15% every six months thereafter for a period of 36 months. These escrowed shares may not be 
transferred, assigned or otherwise dealt without the consent of the regulatory authorities.  
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7. Common Shares (cont’d) 
 

c) Loss per share: 
 

Basic and diluted loss per share  
 

Year ended Year ended
May 31, May 31,

2020 2019
Numerator:

Net income (loss) (748,122)$       (52,035)$      

Denominator:
Weighted average number of common

shares (basic) 7,806,634       240,000       
Dilutive effect of share options -                  -                  

Weighted average number of common shares (diluted) 7,806,634       240,000          

Basic and diluted income (loss) per common share (0.10)$             (0.22)$             

 
8. Share-based Payments 
 

a) Common shares 
 

In November 2017, the Company issued 100,000 common shares to founders at a price of $0.20 per share for gross 
proceeds of $20,000. The fair value of the 100,000 common shares was estimated to be $100,000. Accordingly, 
the Company recorded share-based payments of $80,000 and a corresponding increase to share-based payments 
reserve.  

 
b) Stock options 

 
The Company has a rolling Stock Option Plan (‘Plan’) for directors, officers, employees and consultants of the 
Company. The Company may grant non-transferable options to individuals (which are exercisable over periods of 
up to ten years) as determined by the Board of Directors of the Company, to buy shares of the Company at the fair 
market value on the date the option is granted. The maximum number of shares which may be issuable under the 
Plan cannot exceed 10% of the total number of issued and outstanding shares on a non-diluted basis.  
 
On June 5, 2018 the Company determined a total of 45,000 share purchase options will be granted to directors 
and officers of the Company on the date upon which the Company becomes listed on a stock exchange. These 
options were exercisable at a price of $2.00 for a period of five years from the date the Company becomes listed. 
As a result of the failure to complete the IPO and the change in the board of directors and officers, these share 
purchase options expired unexercised in January 2020.  
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9. Financial Instruments and Capital Management 
 

The investment operations of the Company’s business involve the purchase and sale of securities and, accordingly, the 
majority of the Company’s assets are currently comprised of financial instruments. The use of financial instruments can 
expose the Company to several risks, including interest rate, credit, currency, liquidity and market risk. A discussion of the 
Company’s use of financial instruments and their associated risk is provided below: 
 
a)  Fair value  

 
The Company classifies its financial instruments using a fair value hierarchy as a framework for disclosing fair value of 
financial instruments based on inputs used to value the Company’s investments. The hierarchy of inputs and 
description of inputs is described as follows: 
 

Level 1: fair values are based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 
Level 2: fair values are based on inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the 
 asset or liability, either directly (as prices) or indirectly (derived from prices); or 
Level 3: fair values are based on inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data, 
 which are unobservable inputs.  
 

Notes Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
FVTPL
Convertible debenture 5 -$                 -$                 54,264$            54,264$            
Private company shares 5 -                   -                   1,122,158         1,122,158         
Public company shares 5 6,110,717         -                   -                   6,110,717         

6,110,717$       -$                 1,176,422$       7,287,140$       

Year ended May 31, 2020

 

Notes Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
FVTPL
Convertible debenture 5 -$                 -$                 -$                 -$                 
Private company shares 5 -                   -                   -                   -                   
Public company shares 5 -                   -                   -                   -                   

-$                 -$                 -$                 -$                 

Year ended May 31, 2019

 
Fair value estimates are made at the statement of financial position date, based on relevant market information 
and other information about financial instruments. As at May 31, 2020, the Company’s financial instruments were 
cash, investments, trade and other payables, and advances from related parties. The amounts reflected in the 
statements of financial position for cash, trade and other payables, and advances from related parties are carrying 
amounts and approximate their fair values due to their short-term nature. 
 
The fair value of unquoted investments is established using valuation techniques. These may include the use of 
recent arm’s length transactions, a Black-Scholes option pricing model, discounted cash flow analysis, a probability-
weighted expected return model, or a current value method. Where a fair value cannot be estimated reliably, the 
investment is reported at the carrying value at the previous reporting date. 
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9. Financial Instruments and Capital Management (cont’d) 
 
The Company assesses at each reporting period whether there is any objective evidence that the unquoted 
investments are impaired. The unquoted investments are deemed to be impaired, if and only if, there is objective 
evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that have occurred after the initial recognition of the 
asset (an incurred ‘loss event’) and that loss event (or events) has an impact on the estimated future fair value of 
the investments that can be reliably measured.  

 
b) Credit risk 
 

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the other party by failing 
to discharge an obligation. The Company’s cash is exposed to credit risk, with the carrying value being the 
Company’s maximum exposure. The Company’s cash consists of funds held at a chartered Canadian bank and legal 
counsel trust accounts. The Company is required to review impairment of its financial assets at amortized costs at 
each reporting period and to review its allowance for doubtful accounts for expected future credit losses.  The 
Company minimizes credit risk by performing credit reviews, ongoing credit evaluation and account monitoring 
procedures. Management believes that the credit risk with respect to advances from related parties and share 
subscriptions receivable is minimal.  

 
c) Liquidity risk 
 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not have sufficient cash resources to meet its financial obligations 
as they come due. The Company’s liquidity and operating results may be adversely affected as a result of downturn 
in stock market conditions generally or related to matters specific to the Company, or if the value of the Company’ 
investments declines, resulting in losses upon disposition. The Company currently generates cash flow primarily 
from issuances of its common shares. The Company may in the future dispose of certain investments in order to 
fund obligations as they become due under normal operating conditions.  
 

d) Market risk 
 

The Company is exposed to certain market risk that the value of, or future cash flows from, the Company’s financial 
assets will significantly fluctuate due to changes in market prices. The value of the financial assets may be affected 
by changes in interest rates, foreign exchange rates, and equity and commodity prices. The Company is exposed 
to market risk in its investments, and unfavorable market conditions could result in dispositions of investments at 
less than favorable prices. Additionally, the Company is required to mark to market its FVTPL investments at the 
end of each reporting period. This process could result in significant write-downs of the Company’s investments 
over one or more reporting periods, particularly during periods of overall market instability, which would have a 
significant unfavorable effect on the Company’s financial position.  
 
The Company’s investments include public company shares. The following table shows the estimated sensitivity 
on the statement of loss and comprehensive loss for the year ended May 31, 2020 of the closing price of the 
Company’s public company shares with all other variables held constant as at May 31, 2020: 
 

Percentage of change Change in loss and comprehensive Change in loss and comprehensive
in closing prices loss from % increase in closing price loss from % decrease in closing price

5% $305,536 $(305,536)
10% $611,072 $(611,072)
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9. Financial Instruments and Capital Management (cont’d) 
 
e) Interest rate risk 
 

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because 
of changes in market interest rates. The Company is not exposed to significant interest rate risk as cash only 
comprised bank account balances and legal counsel trust accounts as of May 31, 2020 and 2019. The Company 
had no interest rate swaps or financial contracts in place as at or during the years ended May 31, 2020 and 2019.  

 
f) Currency risk 
 

Currency risk is the risk that fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes 
in foreign exchange rates. Financial instruments that impact the Company’s earnings or loss due to currency 
fluctuations include foreign currency denominated assets and liabilities. The Company does not use derivative 
instruments or hedges to manage currency risks. The sensitivity of the Company’s earnings or loss due to changes in 
the exchange rate between the foreign currency and Canadian dollar is included in the table below: 
 

Effect of +/-
10% change in

Currency denomination Investments currency

Australia 45,820$            4,582$              
Singapore 238,252$          23,825$            
United Kingdom 561,629$          56,163$            
United States of America 54,264$            5,426$              

899,965$          89,997$            

 
Based on the above net exposures at May 31, 2020, a 10% depreciation or appreciation of the foreign currencies 
against the Canadian dollar would result in an increase or decrease, respectively, in the Company’s loss by $89,997. 
 

g) Capital management 
 

The Company’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Company’s ability to continue as a going 
concern in order to identify and acquire new investments or business opportunities. The Company does not have 
any externally imposed capital requirements to which it is subject. The Company considers the aggregate of its 
cash and common shares as capital. The Company manages the capital structure and makes adjustments to it in 
light of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. To maintain or adjust 
the capital structure, the Company may attempt to issue new common shares; issue debt; acquire or dispose of 
assets; or adjust the amount of cash. 
 
Most of the Company’s investments are in the early stage of development and are not producing positive cash 
flow. As such, the Company is dependent on external financing to fund its activities. In order to carry out 
operations, the Company will spend its existing working capital and raise additional amounts as needed.  
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10. Related Party Transactions 
 

The following is a summary of the related party transactions that occurred during the years ended May 31, 2020 and 
2019.  
 
a) Compensation of key management personnel 

 
The Company has determined that key management personnel consist of its Directors, the CEO and CFO. 
 
During the years ended May 31, 2020 and 2019, key management personnel did not receive any short-term 
employee benefits from the Company. Also, key management personnel were not paid post-employment benefits, 
termination benefits, or other long-term benefits during these periods.  

 
b) Other related party transactions 

 
i) The Company repaid in full a $14,000 loan to a company controlled by the former CEO. The amount was 

unsecured, non-interest bearing, due on demand.   
 

ii) The Company advanced $15,000 to a company with a common director. The amount is unsecured, non-
interest bearing and due on August 31, 2020 (note 13). 

 
iii) The Company paid $6,300 to a company with a common director for promotion and marketing costs. 
 
iv) The Company has a director in common with Dynasty. 
 
v) The Company has a director in common with Leaf. The Company acquired the 10,000,000 common shares at 

$0.00001 per share from a company related by a common director. 
 
vi) The Company has a director in common with Dibs. 
 
vii) The Company acquired 74,258 Class A common shares of Eastside at $5.13 per share from a company related 

by a common director.  
 
viii) The amalgamation with PAI (note 4) is a related party transaction because the Company and PAI had directors 

in common.  
 
11.  Segmented Information 

 
At May 31, 2020 the Company has one reportable operating segment, being the investment in gaming and eSport 
businesses. The Company’s current assets are located in Canada. The Company’s investments, in Canadian dollars, are 
located in the following geographic locations: 
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11.  Segmented Information (cont’d) 
 

Australia 45,820$            
Canada 6,387,174         
India 136,024            
Singapore 238,252            
United Kingdom 425,605            
United States of America 54,264              

7,287,140$       

 
An operating segment is defined as a component of the Company: 
 

� that engages in business activities from which it may earn revenues and incur expenses; 
� whose operating results are reviewed regularly by the entity’s chief operating decision maker; and 
� for which discrete financial information is available. 

 
12. Income Taxes 
 

Tax expense differs from the amount computed by applying the combined Canadian federal and provincial income tax 
rates, applicable to the Company, to the income (loss) before income taxes due to the following:  

 
Year ended Year ended

May 31, May 31,
2020 2019

Income (loss) before income taxes (79,122)$          (71,035)$          
Canadian federal and provincial income tax rate 27.0% 27.0%

Income tax expense (recovery) based on Canadian federal and provincial
income tax rates (21,000)            (19,000)            

Increase (decrease) in income taxes attributable to:
Fair value changes on investments 656,000            -                   
Impairment of exploration and evaluation assets 33,000              -                   
Other 1,000                -                   

Income tax (recovery) 669,000$          (19,000)$          
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12. Income Taxes (cont’d) 
 
Unrecognized deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses are attributable to the following: 

 
Year ended Year ended

May 31, May 31,
2020 2019

Investments (729,000)$        -$                 
Exploration and evaluation assets 4,000                (30,000)            
Share issuance costs 1,000                -                   
Non-capital loss carry forwards 46,000              21,000              

(678,000)          (9,000)              
Less: tax benefits not recognized -                   -                   

Net deferred income tax asset (liability) (678,000)$        (9,000)$            

 
At May 31, 2020 the Company has non-capital losses of approximately $175,000 available for carry-forward to reduce 
future years’ income taxes, expiring on May 31, 2040. 
 
Expiry Date Amount

May 31, 2038 6,000$              
May 31, 2039 71,000              
May 31, 2040 98,000              

175,000$          

 
13. Subsequent Events 
 

Subsequent to May 31, 2020, the following transactions occurred: 
 
a) The Company acquired 20,500,000 common shares of Guild for $1,289,000. 

 
b) The Company acquired 11,000,000 common shares of Googly for $19,250. 

 
c) The Company acquired 38,430 common shares of Dynasty for $256,118. 

 
d) The Company acquired 2,500,000 common shares of Streaks for $43,750. 

 
e) The Company acquired 100,000 common shares of Leaf for $25,540. 

 
f) The Company acquired 12,500,000 common shares of Formation eSports for $39,304. The Company has directors 

in common with Formation. 
 

g) The Company issued 6,375,000 common shares for proceeds of $1,275,000. 
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13. Subsequent Events (cont’d) 
  

h) The Company received $300,000 in subscription receipts for the issuance of 1,500,000 common shares. 
 

i) A company related by a common director loaned the Company $105,000. The loan is unsecured, non-interest 
bearing and due on demand. 
 

j) The $15,000 loan to a company with a common director was repaid in full (note 10).  
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The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed interim financial statements. 

Pioneer Media Holdings Inc.
Condensed Interim Statements of Financial Position
(Stated in Canadian Dollars)

(Unaudited)

November 30, May 31,

Notes 2020 2020

ASSETS

Current assets

Cash 130,477$          96,100$            

GST receivable 6,305                4,475                

Advances to related parties 8 -                   15,000              

Total current assets 136,782            115,575            

Non-current assets

Investments 4 8,064,863         7,287,140         

TOTAL ASSETS 8,201,645$       7,402,715$       

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 146,389$          121,786$          

Advances from related parties 8 103,836            -                   

Total current liabilities 250,225            121,786            

Non-current liabilities

Deferred income tax liability 536,000            678,000            

Equity 

Common shares 6 9,037,529         7,462,529         

Share subscriptions (receivable) (2,510)              (25,010)            

Share-based payments reserve 80,000              80,000              

Deficit (1,699,599)       (914,590)          

Total equity 7,415,420         6,602,929         

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 8,201,645$       7,402,715$       

Nature and continuance of operations 1

Subsequent events 4,8,9

Approved on behalf of the Board of Directors:

"Darcy Taylor" "Michael Edwards"

Darcy Taylor, Director Michael Edwards, Director  
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Pioneer Media Holdings Inc.
Condensed Interim Statements of Income (Loss) and Comprehensive Income (Loss)
(Stated in Canadian Dollars)
(Unaudited)

Three months ended November 30, Six months ended November 30,

Notes 2020 2019 2020 2019

Expenses

Filing and listing fees 2,104$              2,292$              3,001$              29,098$            
Management fees 6,075                -                   10,050              -                   

Marketing -                   5,612                -                   5,612                
Office and miscellaneous 3,708                1,169                15,996              1,227                

Professional and consulting fees 10,811              11,770              22,922              17,270              
Transfer agent fees 630                   2,375                630                   2,500                

Loss before other items and income taxes (23,328)            (23,218)            (52,599)            (55,707)            

Other items

Interest and other income 21,576              235                   22,241              235                   
Impairment of exploration

and evaluation assets 5 -                   -                   -                   (123,776)          
Fair value changes on investments 1,545,908         3,671                (896,651)          3,671                

Earnings (loss) before income taxes 1,544,156         (19,312)            (927,009)          (175,577)          

Deferred income tax expense (recovery) 196,000            -                   (142,000)          -                   

Earnings (loss) and comprehensive
earnings (loss) for the period 1,348,156$       (19,312)$          (785,009)$        (175,577)$        

Weighted average number of
common shares outstanding

Basic and diluted 6 34,658,429       4,910,330         33,616,372       2,562,405         

Basic and diluted earnings (loss) per
common share 6 0.04$                (0.00)$              (0.02)$              (0.07)$              
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Pioneer Media Holdings Inc.
Condensed Interim Statements of Changes in Equity
(Stated in Canadian Dollars)
(Unaudited)

Share Share-based
Subscriptions Payments

Number Amount (Receivable) Reserve Deficit Total

Balance at May 31, 2020 26,962,000       7,462,529$       (25,010)$          80,000$            (914,590)$        6,602,929$       
Common shares issued for cash 7,875,000         1,575,000         (62,000)            -                   -                   1,513,000         
Share subscriptions received -                   -                   84,500              -                   -                   84,500              
Loss for the period -                   -                   -                   -                   (785,009)          (785,009)          

Balance at November 30, 2020 34,837,000       9,037,529$       (2,510)$            80,000$            (1,699,599)$     7,415,420$       

Share Share-based
Subscriptions Payments

Number Amount (Receivable) Reserve Deficit Total

Balance at May 31, 2019 240,000            160,000$          -$                 80,000$            (166,468)$        73,532$            
Common shares issued for cash 12,500,000       500,000            -                   -                   -                   500,000            
Share issue costs -                   (3,845)              -                   -                   -                   (3,845)              
Loss for the period -                   -                   -                   -                   (175,577)          (175,577)          

Balance at November 30, 2019 12,740,000       656,155$          -$                 80,000$            (342,045)$        394,110$          

Common Shares

Common Shares

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed interim financial statements. 

Pioneer Media Holdings Inc.
Condensed Interim Statements of Cash Flows
(Stated in Canadian Dollars)
(Unaudited)

Six months ended November 30,

2020 2019

Operating activities

Loss for the period (785,009)$        (175,577)$        
Items not involving cash:

Foreign exchange gain (1,164)              -                   
Impairment of exploration and evaluation assets -                   123,776            

Interest income (1,311)              (235)                 
Fair value changes on investments 896,651            (3,671)              

Deferred income tax expense (recovery) (142,000)          -                   
Changes in non-cash working capital items:

GST receivable (1,830)              (456)                 
Prepaid expenses -                   28,500              

Trade and other payables 24,603              9,610                

Net cash used in operating activities (10,060)            (18,053)            

Investing Activity

Purchase of investments (1,673,063)       (392,241)          

Net cash used in investing activity (1,673,063)       (392,241)          

Financing Activities

Share subscriptions received 84,500              -                   
Common shares issued for cash, net of share issue costs 1,513,000         496,155            

Advances from (to) related parties 120,000            -                   

Net cash provided by financing activities 1,717,500         496,155            

Change in cash during the period 34,377              85,861              

Cash, beginning of period 96,100              18,693              

Cash, end of period 130,477$          104,554$          

Supplemental Cash Flow Information

Income taxes paid -$                 -$                 
Interest paid (received) -$                 -$                  
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1. Nature and Continuance of Operations  
 
Pioneer Media Holdings Inc. (the “Company” or “Pioneer”) was incorporated on November 9, 2017 pursuant to the 
Business Corporations Act of British Columbia. The Company is a reporting issuer in each of British Columbia, Alberta 
and Ontario; but is not listed on any stock exchange. 
 
During fiscal 2020, the Company restructured its business by 1) changing its business from the acquisition and 
exploration of mineral property assets to an investment issuer with an initial focus on the gaming and eSport sector 
(note 4); 2) disposing of its mineral property interests for nominal consideration and impairing 100% of its exploration 
and evaluation assets (note 5); and 3) amalgamating with Pioneer Acquisition I Inc., a company also in the gaming and 
eSport sector (note 3). 

 
During the first quarter of 2020, there was a global outbreak of a novel coronavirus identified as “COVID-19”.  On March 
11, 2020, the World Health Organization declared a global pandemic. In order to combat the spread of COVID-19, 
governments worldwide have enacted emergency measures including travel bans, legally enforced or self-imposed 
quarantine periods, social distancing and business and organization closures. These measures have caused material 
disruptions to businesses, governments and other organizations resulting in an economic slowdown and increased 
volatility in national and global equity and commodity markets. 
  
Central banks and governments, including Canadian federal and provincial governments, have reacted with significant 
monetary and fiscal interventions designed to stabilize economic conditions. The duration and impact of the COVID-19 
outbreak is unknown at this time, as is the efficacy of any interventions. It is not possible to reliably estimate the length 
and severity of these developments and the impact on the financial results and condition of the Company and its 
operations in future periods. 
 
These condensed interim financial statements have been prepared on the assumption that the Company will continue 
as a going concern and realize its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business rather than through 
a process of forced liquidation.  
 
As at November 30, 2020, the Company had not yet achieved profitable operations, has accumulated losses of 
$1,699,599 since inception, and expects to incur further losses in the development of its business. These factors 
indicate a material uncertainty that may cast substantial doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. 
The Company’s continuation as a going concern is primarily dependent upon its ability to raise financing from equity 
markets or borrowings and upon successful results from its investments. While the Company has been successful in 
securing financings in the past, there is no assurance that it will be able to do so in the future. Accordingly, these 
financial statements do not give effect to adjustments, if any, that would be necessary should the Company be unable 
to continue as a going concern. If the going concern assumption was not used, then the adjustments required to report 
the Company’s assets and liabilities on a liquidation basis could be material to these financial statements. 

 
The condensed interim financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest 
dollar except where otherwise indicated.  
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2. Basis of Preparation 
 
a) Statement of compliance 
 

These condensed interim financial statements, including comparatives, are unaudited and have been prepared in 
accordance with IAS 34, Interim Financial Reporting (“IAS 34”) using accounting policies consistent with the 
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board 
(“IASB”) and Interpretations of the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”).  

 
b) Basis of presentation 

 
These condensed interim financial statements have been prepared on the basis of accounting policies and methods 
of computation consistent with those applied in the Company’s May 31, 2020 annual financial statements, with 
the exception of the following (described in note 2c): 
 

• IFRS 3 Business Combinations (“IFRS 3”), described in note 2(c) 
 
The preparation of interim financial statements in conformity with IAS 34 requires management to make 
judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets and 
liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates. These condensed interim financial 
statements do not include all of the information required for full annual financial statements. Accordingly, these 
condensed interim financial statements should be read in conjunction with the Company’s last annual financial 
statements as at and for the year ended May 31, 2020 and filed on SEDAR.com. 
 
These condensed interim financial statements, including comparatives, have been prepared on the basis of IFRS 
standards that are published and effective at the time of preparation. 
 
These condensed interim financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for certain 
financial instruments, which are measured at fair value. 
 

c) Recent accounting pronouncements and changes to accounting policies 
 
IFRS 3 Business Combinations – The definition of a business will be amended under IFRS 3. Under the amended 
definition, to be considered a business an acquisition must include an input and a substantive process that together 
significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs. The new guidance provides a framework to evaluate when 
an input and a substantive process are present. Under the prior definition, IFRS 3 stated that a business need not 
include all of the inputs or processes that the seller used in operating that business “if market participants are 
capable of acquiring the business and continuing to produce outputs, for example, by integrating the business with 
their own inputs and processes”. 

 
The reference to such integration is now deleted from IFRS 3 in the amendment and the assessment must be based 
on what has been acquired in its current state and condition. There was no material impact on the Company’s 
condensed interim financial statements upon adoption of this standard.  
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2. Basis of Preparation (cont’d) 
 

d) Approval of the financial statements 
 
The condensed interim financial statements of the Company for the three and six months ended November 30, 
2020 were reviewed by the audit committee and approved and authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on 
February 17, 2021. 

 
3. Amalgamation 
 

On May 28, 2020, the Company completed an amalgamation with Pioneer Acquisitions I Inc. (“PAI”). Under the terms of 
the amalgamation agreement, the Company and PAI amalgamated to form a new company, “Amalco”, and continued as 
one corporation under the Business Corporations Act of British Columbia. The Company is the continuing corporation 
as Amalco and the name of Amalco is Pioneer Media Holdings Inc. 
 
The following transactions occurred immediately upon the amalgamation: 
 

i) each PAI Share and PAI Special Warrant issued and outstanding on May 28, 2020 (excluding those held by 
Dissenting Shareholders) were exchanged for one (1) Amalco Common Share; 

ii) each Company Share issued and outstanding on May 28, 2020 (excluding those held by Dissenting 
Shareholders) was notionally exchanged for one-half of one (1/2) Amalco Common Share. 

 
All of the assets and liabilities of the Company and PAI immediately before the amalgamation became property of 
Amalco. The following table summarizes the assets and liabilities of PAI that were combined with the Company: 

 

Cash 93,824$            
Loans and other receivables 15,000              
Investments 6,676,561         

Total assets 6,785,385         

Trade and other payables 4,021                

Net assets 6,781,364$       
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4. Investments 
 

The Company’s investments at November 30, 2020 consisted of the following: 
 

May 31, Change in November 30,
2020 Purchases Interest Fair Value 2020

Blue Star Capital Plc 204,567$     -$             -$             122,624$     327,191$     
The Dibs eSports Corp. 54,264         -               1,311           (3,269)          52,307         
The Drops eSports Inc. 100,000       -               -               -               100,000       
Diemens eSports Pty Ltd. 45,820         -               -               1,900           47,720         
Dynasty eSports Pte Ltd. 238,252       256,118       -               (3,002)          491,368       

Eastside Games Inc. 381,024       -               -               -               381,024       
Formation eSports -               39,304         -               (377)             38,928         
Googly eSports Plc 136,024       19,250         -               2,211           157,485       
Guild eSports Plc 178,532       1,289,000    -               1,939,155    3,406,687    
Leaf Mobile Inc. 5,906,150    25,641         -               (2,956,166)   2,975,625    

Streaks eSports Plc 42,507         43,750         -               273              86,530         

7,287,140$  1,673,062$  1,311$         (896,651)$    8,064,863$  

 
a) Blue Star Capital Plc (“Blue Star”) 
 

Blue Star is a UK based public company with a focus on investing in new technologies. 
 

The fair value change of $122,624 represents a gain on mark-to-market of Blue Star’s common shares. 
 

b) The Dibs eSports Corp. (“Dibs”) 
 

Dibs is a US based private company with a focus on the North American eSports market (note 8).  
 

On October 28, 2019, the Company entered into an agreement to acquire a $50,000 (US$38,196) convertible 
promissory note of Dibs. The note pays 5% simple interest accruing daily on the basis of actual number of days 
elapsed over 365 days. All unpaid principal and accrued interest is due and payable on the earliest to occur of the 
following:  
 

i) 36 months from the date of register (the “Maturity Date”);  
ii) upon the closing of a sale of Dibs; or 

iii) upon an event of default. 
 
The Company has the right to convert the note into common shares of Dibs at any time prior to the Maturity Date.  
The fair value change of $3,269 represents foreign currency translation loss. 
 

c) The Drops eSports Inc. (“Drops”) 
 

Drops is a Canadian based private company with a focus on the Canadian eSports market.  
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 4. Investments (cont’d) 

 
d) Diemens eSports Pty Ltd. (“Diemens”)  
 

Diemens is an Australian based private company with a focus on the Australian eSports market. The fair value 
change of $1,900 represents foreign currency translation gain. 

 
e) Dynasty eSports Pte Ltd. (“Dynasty”) 
 

Dynasty is a Singapore based private company with a focus on the Singapore eSports market (note 8).  
 

On July 30, 2020, the Company acquired 10,122 common shares at SGD6.85 per share for $67,455 (69,332 
Singapore Dollars). On September 14, 2020, the Company acquired 28,308 common shares at SGD6.85 per share 
of Dynasty for $256,118 (263,245 Singapore Dollars). The fair value change of $3,002 represents foreign currency 
translation loss. 

 
f) Eastside Games Inc. (“Eastside”) 

 
Eastside is a privately owned game studio based in Vancouver, B.C. During the three months ended November 30, 
2020, the Company received $20,930 of dividends from Eastside. Subsequent to November 30, 2020, the Company 
received $94,454 of dividends from Eastside pursuant to Eastside being acquired by Leaf Mobile Inc. (see note 4(j)). 
The Company received $306,103 in cash and 590,224 common shares (to be released from escrow over a 36 month 
period) of Leaf Mobile Inc. for all of its shares of Eastside. The Company may receive further cash and shares of 
Leaf Mobile Inc. pursuant to certain revenue targets being met at February 5, 2022 and February 5, 2023. 
 

g) Formation eSports (“Formation”) 
 
Formation is a France based private company with a focus on the European eSports market. 
 
The Company acquired 12,500,000 common shares for $39,304 (25,100 Euros). The fair value change of $377 
represents foreign currency translation loss. 
 

h) Googly eSports Plc (“Googly”) 
 

Googly is an India based private company with a focus on the Indian eSports market.  
 

On July 30, 2020, the Company acquired 11,000,000 common shares at 0.001 pence per share of Googly for 
$19,250 (11,000 Pounds Sterling). The fair value change of $2,211 represents foreign currency translation gain. 
 

i) The Guild eSports Plc (“Guild”) 
 

Guild is a United Kingdom based public company with a focus on the European eSports market. In October 2020, 
Guild completed its initial public offering and its common shares commenced trading on the Alternative 
Investment Market (“AIM”) of the London Stock Exchange. 

 
 
 
 



Pioneer Media Holdings Inc. 
Notes to the Condensed Interim Financial Statements 
November 30, 2020 
(Stated in Canadian Dollars) 
(Unaudited) 

 

  

 4. Investments (cont’d) 

 
During the six months ended November 30, 2020, the Company acquired 8,000,000 common shares at 0.001 pence 
per share for $14,000 (8,000 Pounds Sterling), and 12,500,000 common shares at 6 pence per share for $1,275,000 
(750,000 Pounds Sterling). The fair value change of $1,939,155 represents a gain on mark-to-market of Guild’s 
common shares. 

 
j) Leaf Mobile Inc. (“Leaf”) 
 

Leaf is a game studio based in Vancouver, B.C. and its shares are publicly traded on the TSX Venture Exchange 
(note 8). In October 2020, Leaf announced that it would be acquiring 100% of the common shares of Eastside 
subject to a number of conditions, including but not limited to completion of a $20 million financing and receipt of 
shareholder approval. This acquisition closed on February 5, 2021. 
 
During the six months ended November 30, 2020, the Company acquired 100,000 common shares for $25,641. 
The fair value change of $2,956,166 represents a loss on mark-to-market of Leaf’s common shares.  
 

k) Streaks eSports Plc (“Streaks”) 
 

Streaks is a United Kingdom based private company with a focus on the European eSports market.  
 

On July 30, 2020, the Company acquired 2,500,000 common shares at 1 pence per share for $43,750 (25,000 
Pounds Sterling). The fair value change of $273 represents foreign currency translation gain. 
 

5. Exploration and Evaluation Assets 
 

On November 30, 2017, the Company entered into an option agreement (the “Option Agreement”) with Bear Mountain 
Gold Mines Ltd. to acquire 60% interest in five contiguous mineral claims in south-western British Columbia comprising 
the Harrison South Property.  

 
With the change in business activities discussed in note 1, the Company assigned all of its interests in the Option 
Agreement to a third party for nominal consideration. As a result, the Company impaired 100% of its exploration and 
evaluation assets as at August 31, 2019. 

 
6. Common Shares 

 
a) Authorized and issued share capital: 

 
The Company has authorized an unlimited number of common shares without par value. 

 
As at November 30, 2020, the Company has 34,837,000 common shares outstanding. 

 
On June 12, 2020, the Company issued 6,375,000 common shares for proceeds of $1,275,000. On August 28, 2020, 
the Company issued 250,000 common shares for proceeds of $50,000. On September 14, 2020, the Company 
issued 1,250,000 common shares for proceeds of $250,000. 
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6. Common Shares (cont’d) 
 

b) Escrowed shares: 
 

Pursuant to an escrow agreement dated February 25, 2019 (the “Escrow Agreement”) between the Company and 
certain shareholders of the Company, 172,500 common shares (the “Escrowed Shares”) were deposited in escrow.  
Pursuant to the Escrow Agreement, the Escrowed Shares shall be released pro-rata to the shareholders as to 10% 
upon the date the Company’s common shares are listed on a Canadian stock exchange and as to the remainder in six 
equal tranches of 15% every six months thereafter for a period of 36 months. These escrowed shares may not be 
transferred, assigned or otherwise dealt without the consent of the regulatory authorities.  

 
c) Loss per share: 
 

Basic and diluted loss per share  
 

Three months Three months Six months Six months
ended ended ended ended

November 30, November 30, November 30, November 30,
2020 2019 2020 2019

Numerator:

Net (loss) income 1,348,156$    (19,312)$     (785,009)$      (175,577)$   

Denominator:
Weighted average number of common

shares (basic) 34,658,429    4,910,330      33,616,372    2,562,405   
Dilutive effect of share options -                 -                 -                 -                 

Weighted average number of common
shares (diluted) 34,658,429    4,910,330      33,616,372    2,562,405      

Basic and diluted (loss) income per
common share 0.04$             (0.00)$            (0.02)$            (0.07)$            

 
7. Financial Instruments and Capital Management 
 

The investment operations of the Company’s business involve the purchase and sale of securities and, accordingly, the 
majority of the Company’s assets are currently comprised of financial instruments. The use of financial instruments can 
expose the Company to several risks, including interest rate, credit, currency, liquidity and market risk. A discussion of the 
Company’s use of financial instruments and their associated risk is provided below: 
 
a)  Fair value  

 
The Company classifies its financial instruments using a fair value hierarchy as a framework for disclosing fair value of 
financial instruments based on inputs used to value the Company’s investments. The hierarchy of inputs and 
description of inputs is described as follows: 
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7. Financial Instruments and Capital Management (cont’d) 
 

Level 1: fair values are based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 
Level 2: fair values are based on inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the 
 asset or liability, either directly (as prices) or indirectly (derived from prices); or 
Level 3: fair values are based on inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data, 
 which are unobservable inputs.  
 

Notes Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
FVTPL

Convertible debenture 4 -$                 -$                 52,307$            52,307$            
Private company shares 4 -                   -                   1,303,053         1,303,053         
Public company shares 4 6,709,503         -                   -                   6,709,503         

6,709,503$       -$                 1,355,360$       8,064,863$       

November 30, 2020

 

Notes Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
FVTPL

Convertible debenture 4 -$                 -$                 54,264$            54,264$            
Private company shares 4 -                   -                   1,122,158         1,122,158         
Public company shares 4 6,110,718         -                   -                   6,110,718         

6,110,718$       -$                 1,176,422$       7,287,140$       

May 31, 2020

 
Fair value estimates are made at the statement of financial position date, based on relevant market information 
and other information about financial instruments. As at November 30, 2020, the Company’s financial instruments 
were cash, investments, trade and other payables, and advances to and from related parties. The amounts 
reflected in the statements of financial position for cash, trade and other payables, and advances to and from 
related parties are carrying amounts and approximate their fair values due to their short-term nature. 
 
The fair value of unquoted investments is established using valuation techniques. These may include the use of 
recent arm’s length transactions, a Black-Scholes option pricing model, discounted cash flow analysis, a probability-
weighted expected return model, or a current value method. Where a fair value cannot be estimated reliably, the 
investment is reported at the carrying value at the previous reporting date. 
 
The Company assesses at each reporting period whether there is any objective evidence that the unquoted 
investments are impaired. The unquoted investments are deemed to be impaired, if and only if, there is objective 
evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that have occurred after the initial recognition of the 
asset (an incurred ‘loss event’) and that loss event (or events) has an impact on the estimated future fair value of 
the investments that can be reliably measured.  
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7. Financial Instruments and Capital Management (cont’d) 
 

b) Credit risk 
 

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the other party by failing 
to discharge an obligation. The Company’s cash is exposed to credit risk, with the carrying value being the 
Company’s maximum exposure. The Company’s cash consists of funds held at a chartered Canadian bank and legal 
counsel trust accounts. The Company is required to review impairment of its financial assets at amortized costs at 
each reporting period and to review its allowance for doubtful accounts for expected future credit losses.  The 
Company minimizes credit risk by performing credit reviews, ongoing credit evaluation and account monitoring 
procedures. Management believes that the credit risk with respect to advances from and to related parties and 
share subscriptions receivable is minimal.  

 
c) Liquidity risk 
 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not have sufficient cash resources to meet its financial obligations 
as they come due. The Company’s liquidity and operating results may be adversely affected as a result of downturn 
in stock market conditions generally or related to matters specific to the Company, or if the value of the Company’s 
investments declines, resulting in losses upon disposition. The Company currently generates cash flow primarily 
from issuances of its common shares. The Company may in the future dispose of certain investments in order to 
fund obligations as they become due under normal operating conditions.  
 

d) Market risk 
 

The Company is exposed to certain market risk that the value of, or future cash flows from, the Company’s financial 
assets will significantly fluctuate due to changes in market prices. The value of the financial assets may be affected 
by changes in interest rates, foreign exchange rates, and equity and commodity prices. The Company is exposed 
to market risk in its investments, and unfavorable market conditions could result in dispositions of investments at 
less than favorable prices. Additionally, the Company is required to mark to market its FVTPL investments at the 
end of each reporting period. This process could result in significant write-downs of the Company’s investments 
over one or more reporting periods, particularly during periods of overall market instability, which would have a 
significant unfavorable effect on the Company’s financial position.  
 
The Company’s investments include public company shares. The following table shows the estimated sensitivity 
on the statement of loss and comprehensive loss for the six month period ended November 30, 2020 of the closing 
price of the Company’s public company shares with all other variables held constant as at November 30, 2020: 
 

Percentage of change Change in loss and comprehensive Change in loss and comprehensive

in closing prices loss from % increase in closing price loss from % decrease in closing price

5% $335,475 $(335,475)

10% $670,950 $(670,950)

 
e) Interest rate risk 
 

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because 
of changes in market interest rates. The Company is not exposed to significant interest rate risk as cash only 
comprised bank account balances and legal counsel trust accounts as of November 30, 2020. The Company had no 
interest rate swaps or financial contracts in place as at or during the six months ended November 30, 2020. 
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7. Financial Instruments and Capital Management (cont’d) 
 
f) Currency risk 
 

Currency risk is the risk that fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes 
in foreign exchange rates. Financial instruments that impact the Company’s earnings or loss due to currency 
fluctuations include foreign currency denominated assets and liabilities. The Company does not use derivative 
instruments or hedges to manage currency risks. The sensitivity of the Company’s earnings or loss due to changes in 
the exchange rate between the foreign currency and Canadian dollar is included in the table below: 
 

Effect of +/-

10% change in

Currency denomination Investments currency

Australia 47,720$            4,772$              

Euros 38,928$            3,893$              

Singapore 491,368$          49,137$            

United Kingdom 3,977,892$       397,789$          
United States of America 52,307$            5,231$              

4,608,214$       460,821$          

 
Based on the above net exposures at November 30, 2020, a 10% depreciation or appreciation of the foreign currencies 
against the Canadian dollar would result in an increase or decrease, respectively, in the Company’s loss by $460,821. 
 

g) Capital management 
 

The Company’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Company’s ability to continue as a going 
concern in order to identify and acquire new investments or business opportunities. The Company does not have 
any externally imposed capital requirements to which it is subject. The Company considers the aggregate of its 
cash and common shares as capital. The Company manages the capital structure and makes adjustments to it in 
light of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. To maintain or adjust 
the capital structure, the Company may attempt to issue new common shares; issue debt; acquire or dispose of 
assets; or adjust the amount of cash. 
 
Most of the Company’s investments are in the early stage of development and are not producing positive cash 
flow. As such, the Company is dependent on external financing to fund its activities. In order to carry out 
operations, the Company will spend its existing working capital and raise additional amounts as needed.  

 
8. Related Party Transactions 
 

The following is a summary of the related party transactions that occurred during the six months ended November 30, 
2020. 
 
a) Compensation of key management personnel 

 
The Company has determined that key management personnel consist of its Directors, the CEO and CFO. 
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8. Related Party Transactions (cont’d) 
 
The Company paid its CFO $10,050 (2019 - $nil) for management fees.  
 
Key management personnel were not paid post-employment benefits, termination benefits, or other long-term 
benefits.   

 
b) Other related party transactions 

 
i) The Company advanced $15,000 to a company with a common director. The amount was unsecured, non-

interest bearing and due on August 31, 2020. The amount was repaid in full in September 2020. 
 
ii) A company related by a common director loaned the Company $103,836 (60,000 Pounds Sterling). The loan is 

unsecured, non-interest bearing and due on demand (note 9(a)). 
 
iii) The Company paid $6,000 for rent to a company with a common director. 
 
iv) The Company has a director in common with Dynasty.  
 
v) The Company has a director in common with Leaf. 
 
vi) The Company has a director in common with Dibs. 
 
vii) The Company has directors in common with Formation. 
 
viii) The amalgamation with PAI (note 3) was a related party transaction because the Company and PAI had directors 

in common.  
 
9. Subsequent Events 
 

Subsequent to November 30, 2020, the following transactions occurred: 
 

a) The Company converted the $103,836 related party loan to 510,000 common shares.  
 

b) The Company issued 2,000,000 common shares for proceeds of $400,000.  
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Description of Business 
 
Pioneer Media Holdings Inc. (the “Company” or “Pioneer”) was incorporated on November 9, 2017 
pursuant to the Business Corporations Act of British Columbia.  
 
On June 3, 2019 the Company received receipt for a Prospectus contemplating an Initial Public Offering 
(“IPO”), concurrent private placement and listing on the Canadian Securities Exchange (“CSE”).  On 
October 3, 2019, the Company announced that it was unable to complete its IPO and concurrent private 
placement. As such the Company is a reporting issuer in each of British Columbia, Alberta and Ontario, 
but not listed on any stock exchange.  
 
Along with the announcement of the failed IPO and concurrent private placement, the board of directors 
and officers resigned. Consequently, Michael Edwards was appointed CEO, CFO and director; and Darcy 
Taylor and Ian MacLeod became directors. On April 1, 2020 Ian MacLeod resigned as a director and Mark 
Rutledge was appointed as a director. On May 26, 2020, Andrew Stewart was appointed CFO. 
 
On October 25, 2019 the Company changed its name from “Haro Metals Corp.” to “Pioneer Media 
Holdings Inc.” Along with the name change and change in directors and management, the Company 
changed its business operations from mineral exploration investing in the gaming and eSport sector. The 
Company disposed of its mineral property interests for nominal consideration. 
 
On May 28, 2020, the Company completed an amalgamation with Pioneer Acquisitions I Inc. (“PAI”). Under 
the terms of the amalgamation agreement, the Company and PAI amalgamated to form a new company, 
“Amalco”, and continued as one corporation under the Business Corporations Act of British Columbia. The 
Company is the continuing corporation as Amalco and the name of Amalco is Pioneer Media Holdings Inc. 
Refer to note 4 of the May 31, 2020 financial statements. 
 
The head office of the Company is located at Suite 2080 – 1055 West Georgia Street, Vancouver, BC, V6E 
3R4.  The registered office of the Company is located at 29th Floor, 595 Burrard Street, Vancouver, BC, V7X 
1J5.  
 
The following management’s discussion and analysis (“MD&A”) of the results of operations and financial 
condition for the Company should be read in conjunction with the Company’s audited financial statements 
for the year ended May 31, 2020 which are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (“IFRS”). All dollar amounts are expressed in Canadian dollars unless otherwise stated. 
 
Additional information about the Company may be found on SEDAR at www.sedar.com.   
 
The effective date of this MD&A is September 28, 2020. 
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Forward-Looking Statements 
 
Certain statements contained in this MD&A may constitute forward-looking statements. These 
statements include statements regarding: 

• the ability of the Company to obtain necessary financing;  

• the ability of the Company to locate, negotiate and make investments; 

• performance of the Company’s business and operations as it relates to its investees;  

• the eSports and gaming markets and the profitability thereof;  

• the Company’s future liquidity and financial capacity;  

• costs, timing and future plans concerning the business and operations of the Company and its 
investees; 

• the Company’s intention to complete its listing of its securities on a stock exchange and all 
transactions related thereto; and  

• results and expectations concerning various and prospective investments of the Company. 
 
Such forward-looking statements involve a number of known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other 
factors which may cause the actual results, performance or achievements of the Company to be materially 
different from any future results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by such forward-
looking statements. These risks have not been fully delineated by the Company at this time, but are 
expected to include the risks associated with the Company’s proposed new venture of becoming an 
investment company, such as having no operating history in this sector; the lack of appropriate investment 
opportunities; the inability to identify, select and acquire successful investments; its inability to generate 
or obtain funds for future investments; competition from other entities having similar investment 
objectives, including institutional investors and strategic investors; changing economic conditions, 
financial market volatility, and to other factors that adversely affect the eSport industry; regulations and 
laws governing electronic commerce and the internet; and dependence upon the efforts, skill and 
business contacts of key members of management.  Readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance 
on these forward-looking statements. 
 
Risks and Uncertainties 
 
The Company is in the early stages of its gaming and eSport investment business. As such, the Company 
does not have any cash generating assets and is reliant on equity financings in order to maintain 
operations and participate in any new investments.  These additional equity funds may not be available 
on terms acceptable to the Company. There is no assurance that the Company will identify a business or 
asset that warrants acquisition or participation.  
 
During the first quarter of 2020, there was a global outbreak of a novel coronavirus identified as “COVID-
19”.  On March 11, 2020, the World Health Organization declared a global pandemic. In order to combat 
the spread of COVID-19, governments worldwide have enacted emergency measures including travel 
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bans, legally enforced or self-imposed quarantine periods, social distancing and business and organization 
closures. These measures have caused material disruptions to businesses, governments and other 
organizations resulting in an economic slowdown and increased volatility in national and global equity 
and commodity markets. 
 
Central banks and governments, including Canadian federal and provincial governments, have reacted 
with significant monetary and fiscal interventions designed to stabilize economic conditions.  The duration 
and impact of the COVID-19 outbreak is unknown at this time, as is the efficacy of any interventions. It is 
not possible to reliably estimate the length and severity of these developments and the impact on the 
financial results and condition of the Company and its operations in future periods. 
 
International Financial Reporting Standards – Changes in Accounting Policies 
 
Refer to note 2 of the May 31, 2020 financial statements.  
 
Investments – Gaming and eSport 
 
During the year ended May 31, 2020, the Company made the following investments: 
 
a) The Drops eSports Inc. 
 

The Company acquired 6,666,667 common shares at $0.015 per share of The Drops Esports Inc. 
(“Drops”) for $100,000. The Company currently owns approximately 5% of the issued and outstanding 
common shares of Drops.  
 
Drops is a Canadian based private company with a focus on the Canadian eSports market. Drops 
intends to create or acquire a competitive eSports franchise to generate revenue from tournament 
winnings, digital marketing opportunities, sponsorships, membership, merchandise and promotional 
tours and events.  

 
On January 12, 2020, Drops entered into a non-binding letter of intent with Fibresources Corporation 
(“Fibresources”), a reporting issuer currently listed on the NEX branch of the TSX Venture Exchange, 
whereby Fibresources would acquire all of the issued common shares of Drops in exchange for 
common shares of Fibresources (the “Transaction”). The non-binding letter of intent terminated 
without a definitive agreement being completed. 
 

b) The Dibs eSports Corp. 
 

The Company acquired a $50,000 (US$38,196) convertible promissory note of The Dibs eSports Corp. 
(“Dibs”). The note pays 5% simple interest accruing daily on the basis of actual number of days elapsed 
over 365 days. All unpaid principal and accrued interest is due and payable on the earliest to occur of 
the following:  
 

i) 36 months from the date of register (the “Maturity Date”);  
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ii) upon the closing of a sale of Dibs; or 
iii) upon an event of default. 

 
The Company has the right to convert the note into common shares of Dibs at any time prior to the 
Maturity Date. At the date of acquisition, if the note was converted into common shares, the Company 
would own approximately 3% of the issued and outstanding common shares of Dibs.  
 
Dibs is a US based private company with a focus on the North American eSports market. Dibs intends 
to create or acquire an all-female competitive eSports franchise to generate revenue from 
tournament winnings, digital marketing opportunities, sponsorships, membership, merchandise and 
promotional tours and events.  

 
c) Guild eSports PLC (formerly The Lords eSports Plc) 
 

The Company acquired 10,500,000 common shares at 1 pence per share of Guild eSports PLC (“Guild”) 
(formerly The Lords Esports Plc) for $183,631 (105,000 Pounds Sterling). Subsequent to May 31, 2020, 
the Company acquired a further 20,500,000 common shares for $1,289,000 (758,000 Pounds 
Sterling). As at the date of this report, the Company currently owns approximately 12% of the issued 
and outstanding common shares of Guild. 

 
Guild is a United Kingdom based private company with a focus on the European eSports market. Guild 
intends to create or acquire a competitive eSports franchise to generate revenue from tournament 
winnings, digital marketing opportunities, sponsorships, membership, merchandise and promotional 
tours and events.  

 
On September 9, 2020, Guild announced its intention to seek a listing of its common shares to the 
Standard Listing segment of the London Stock Exchange. Guild expects to complete the listing during 
Q4. 

 
d) Googly eSports Plc 
 

The Company acquired 8,000,000 common shares at 1 pence per share of Googly eSports Plc 
(“Googly”) for $137,283 (80,000 Pounds Sterling). Subsequent to May 31, 2020, the Company 
acquired a further 11,000,000 common shares for $19,250 (11,000 Pounds Sterling). As at the date of 
this report, the Company currently owns approximately 15% of the issued and outstanding common 
shares of Googly. 
 
Googly is an India based private company with a focus on the Indian eSports market. Googly intends 
to create or acquire a competitive eSports franchise to generate revenue from tournament winnings, 
digital marketing opportunities, sponsorships, membership, merchandise and promotional tours and 
events.  
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e) Diemens eSports Pty Ltd. (formerly The Cubs eSports Pty Ltd.) 
 

The Company acquired 3,333,333 common shares at AUD0.015 per share of Diemens eSports Pty Ltd. 
(“Diemens”) (formerly The Cubs eSports Pty Ltd.) for $44,995 (50,000 Australian Dollars). The 
Company currently owns approximately 3% of the issued and outstanding common shares of 
Diemens.  

 
Diemens is an Australian based private company with a focus on the Australian eSports market. 
Diemens intends to create or acquire a competitive eSports franchise to generate revenue from 
tournament winnings, digital marketing opportunities, sponsorships, membership, merchandise and 
promotional tours and events.  

 
On February 3, 2020, Diemens announced its intention to merge with Critical Hit Entertainment Pty 
Ltd. (“Critical”). On March 15, 2020, Diemens and Critical mutually agreed to not pursue the merger.  

 
f) Dynasty eSports Pte Ltd. 
 

The Company acquired 233,724 common shares at SGD1.045 per share of Dynasty eSports Pte Ltd. 
(“Dynasty”) for $236,220 (244,261 Singapore Dollars). Subsequent to May 31, 2020, the Company 
acquired a further 38,430 common shares for $256,118 (263,245 Singapore Dollars). As at the date of 
this report, the Company currently owns approximately 10% of the issued and outstanding common 
shares of Dynasty. 

 
Dynasty is a Singapore based private company with a focus on the Singapore eSports market. Dynasty 
intends to create or acquire a competitive eSports franchise to generate revenue from tournament 
winnings, digital marketing opportunities, sponsorships, membership, merchandise and promotional 
tours and events.  

 
On June 24, 2020, Dynasty announced that it has signed a five year exclusive partnership agreement 
with Malaysia ESports Federation ("MESF",) via its Kuala Lumpur based subsidiary Dynasty eSports 
(M) Sdn Bhd, to provide its eSports Portal Management ("EPM") platform to enable effective 
management and control of the eSports ecosystem within Malaysia. 
 
On August 11, 2020, Dynasty announced that it has raised SGD3.1M by way of an oversubscribed 
fundraising round that values the company at SGD18M. Dynasty intends to use the proceeds from the 
raise to further develop its world leading EPM Platform, and to support the company’s strategic 
execution and growth plans. 
 

g) Streaks eSports Plc 
 
The Company acquired 2,500,000 common shares at 1 pence per share of Streaks eSports Plc 
(“Streaks”) for $43,077 (25,000 Pounds Sterling). Subsequent to May 31, 2020, the Company acquired 
a further 2,500,000 common shares for $43,750 (25,000 Pounds Sterling). As at the date of this report, 
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the Company currently owns approximately 5% of the issued and outstanding common shares of 
Streaks. 
 
Streaks is a UK based private company with a focus on the European eSports market. Streaks intends 
to create or acquire a competitive eSports franchise to generate revenue from tournament winnings, 
digital marketing opportunities, sponsorships, membership, merchandise and promotional tours and 
events.  

 
h) Blue Star Capital Plc 

 
The Company acquired 114,583,333 common shares for $210,648 (117,500 Pounds Sterling). Blue 
Star Capital Plc is a UK based public company with a focus on investing in new technologies. 
 

i) Eastside Games Inc. 
 

The Company acquired 74,258 Class A common shares of at $5.13 per share of Eastside Games Inc. 
(“Eastside”) for $381,024. As at the date of this report, the Company currently owns approximately 
2% of the issued and outstanding common shares of Eastside. Eastside is a privately owned game 
studio based in Vancouver, B.C. 

 
j) Leaf Mobile Inc. 

 
The Company acquired 13,125,000 common shares of Leaf Mobile Inc. (“Leaf”) for $500,000. 
Subsequent to May 31, 2020, the Company acquired a further 100,000 common shares for $25,540. 
The Company owns approximately 6% of the issued and outstanding common shares of Leaf. Leaf is 
a game studio based in Vancouver, B.C. and its shares are publicly traded on the TSX Venture 
Exchange.  

 
k) Formation eSports 

 
Subsequent to May 31, 2020, the Company acquired 12,500,000 common shares of Formation eSports 
(“Formation”) for $39,304 (25,100 Euros).  
 
Formation is a French based private company with a focus on the European eSports market. 
Formation intends to create or acquire a competitive eSports franchise to generate revenue from 
tournament winnings, digital marketing opportunities, sponsorships, membership, merchandise and 
promotional tours and events.  

 
Investments – Exploration and Evaluation Assets 
 
On November 30, 2017, the Company entered into an option agreement with Bear Mountain Gold Mines 
Ltd. (the “Option Agreement”) to acquire 60% interest in five contiguous mineral claims in south-western 
British Columbia comprising the Harrison South Property.  
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With the change in business activities discussed above, the Company assigned all of its interests in the 
Option Agreement to a third party for nominal consideration. As a result, the Company impaired 100% of 
its exploration and evaluation assets as at August 31, 2019. 
 
Selected Annual Information 
 
The following selected financial data has been prepared in accordance with IFRS and should be read in 
conjunction with the Company’s audited financial statements. All dollar amounts are in Canadian dollars. 

Year ended Year ended Period ended
May 31, 2020 May 31, 2019 May 31, 2018

Financial Results
Net loss (748,122)$          (52,035)$            (114,433)$          
Basic and diluted loss per share (0.10)$                 (0.22)$                 (0.60)$                 

Financial Position
Working capital (deficit) (6,211)$              (41,244)$            29,791$             
Total assets 7,402,715$        174,083$           178,079$            

 
During Fiscal 2020, the Company received a receipt for a final prospectus contemplating an initial public 
offering (“IPO”), concurrent private placement and listing on the Canadian Securities Exchange (“CSE”).  
On October 3, 2019, the Company announced that it was unable to complete its IPO and concurrent 
private placement and the board of directors and officers resigned. A new board of directors was 
appointed and the Company changed its business from the acquisition and exploration of mineral 
property assets to becoming an investment issuer with an initial focus on the gaming and eSport sector. 
With the change in business activities, the Company disposed of its mineral property interests for nominal 
consideration and incurred an impairment charge of $123,776.  
 
On May 28, 2020, the Company completed an amalgamation with PAI whereby the Company issued 
14,222,000 common shares to acquire the net assets of PAI amounting to $6,781,364. PAI was also focused 
on the gaming and eSport sector. 
 
The Company reported an unrealized gain on fair value changes on its investments of $141,764. The 
Company reported a deferred income tax charge of $669,000 pursuant to the fair value changes on 
investments. 
 
During Fiscal 2019, the Company generated no revenues and expenses were $52,035. The expenses were 
comprised of professional fees and listing fees that were paid in relation to listing with the Canadian 
Securities Exchange. 
  
During Fiscal 2018, the Company generated no revenues and incurred a net loss of $114,433. The net loss 
was comprised of a share-based payment of $80,000 related to the issuance of flow through shares and 
a deferred income tax expense of $28,000. 
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Selected Quarterly Information 
 
The following table presents selected financial information for each of the last eight fiscal quarters:  

Working
Expenses - Capital

Fiscal Quarter Ended G&A Net Loss Loss per Share (Deficit)

May 31, 2020 38,296$          (566,967)$      (0.08)$             (6,211)$           
February 29, 2020 4,681$            (5,578)$           -$                (1,426)$           
November 30, 2019 23,218$          (19,312)$         -$                6,963$            
August 31, 2019 32,489$          (156,265)$      (0.02)$             (73,733)$         
May 31, 2019 53,157$          (34,157)$         (0.15)$             (41,244)$         
February 28, 2019 12,564$          (12,564)$         (0.05)$             11,913$          
November 30, 2018 4,882$            (4,882)$           (0.02)$             24,477$          
August 31, 2018 432$               (432)$              -$                29,358$           
 
The majority of the Company’s G&A expenses are for professional fees and filing and listing fees relating 
to the Company’s failed IPO. 
 
The net loss of $156,265 reported in August 2019 is primarily the result of the exploration and evaluation 
asset impairment charge of $123,776.  
 
The net loss of $566,967 reported in May 2020 is primarily the result of the deferred income tax expense 
of $669,000 from the fair value changes on investments.  
 
Results of Operations 
 
For the year ended May 31, 2020, the Company reported a loss of $748,122 (2019 - $52,035). The 
Company’s loss per share was $0.10 (2019 - $0.22). The significant components of the loss were: 
 

• Impairment of exploration and evaluation assets was $123,776 (2019 - $nil) pursuant to the change 
in business and assignment of the Option Agreement discussed above. 

• Filing and listing fees were $32,386 (2019 - $12,953) and were incurred for the purposes of completing 
the failed IPO, subsequent private placement, and CSE listing application fees.  

• Marketing costs were $13,737 (2019 - $nil) and were incurred for the purposes of website and social 
media site development.  

• Professional fees were $48,829 (2019 - $54,384). Accounting and audit fees amounted to $25,037 
(2019 - $13,925) and legal fees amounted to $23,792 (2019 - $40,459). 

• The Company reported an unrealized gain of on fair value changes on investments of $141,764 (2019 
- $nil). Of this amount, $135,937 relates to changes in fair value of public company holdings and 
$5,827 relates to foreign currency translation gain. 

• The Company reported a deferred income tax charge of $669,000 (2019 - $19,000 recovery) pursuant 
to the fair value changes on investments. 
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Fourth Quarter Operations 
 
For the three months ended May 31, 2020 (Q4/2020), the Company incurred a loss of $566,967 compared 
to a loss of $34,157 for the three months ended May 31, 2019 (Q4/2019). Expenses incurred and 
significant discrepancies between Q4/2020 and Q4/2019 are as follows:  
 

• The Company incurred $8,125 (Q4/2019 - $nil) of marketing costs during Q4/2020. The Company has 
started to build its website and social media presence.  

• The Company incurred $26,463 (Q4/2019 - $49,559) of professional fees during Q4/2020. These fees 
were incurred for preparation of the quarterly financial statements, year end audit costs, and 
corporate legal fees. The fees were higher in Q4/2019 due to the preparation of the IPO materials.  

• The Company reported an unrealized gain on investments of $135,937 (Q4/2019 - $nil) from the mark-
to-market of its publicly traded investments.  

• The Company reported a deferred income tax charge of $669,000 (Q4/2019 - $19,000 recovery) 
pursuant to the fair value changes on investments.any time. 

 
Financial Condition, Liquidity and Capital Resources 
 
As at May 31, 2020, the Company’s cash position was $96,100 (May 31, 2019 - $18,693) and it had a 
working capital deficiency of $6,211 (May 31, 2019 - $41,244).  
 
Sources of cash for the Company included 1) the issuance of 12,500,000 common shares for gross 
proceeds of $500,000; and 2) cash acquired of $93,824 upon amalgamation with PAI. 
 
Uses of cash by the Company included 1) $31,331 for operating activities; 2) $467,241 for the purchase of 
investments; and 3) $14,000 for the repayment of related party advances.  
 
Subsequent to May 31, 2020, the Company 1) issued 6,375,000 common shares for proceeds of 
$1,275,000; 2) received $300,000 in subscription receipts for the issuance of 1,500,000 common shares; 
and 3) received $105,000 from a company related by a common director as a unsecured, non-interest 
bearing and due on demand loan. 
 
The continuing operations of the Company are primarily dependent on its ability to raise future financing. 
The Company is pursuing a new listing with the Canadian Securities Exchange with the hopes of 
completing a new IPO in fiscal 2021.  
 
Financial Instruments 
 
Refer to notes 3 and 9 of the May 31, 2020 financial statements. 
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Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements 
 
The Company has not engaged in any off-balance sheet arrangements such as obligations under guarantee 
contracts, a retained or contingent interest in assets transferred to an unconsolidated entity, any 
obligation under derivative instruments or any obligation under a material variable interest in an 
unconsolidated entity that provides financing, liquidity, market risk or credit risk support to the Company 
or engages in leasing or hedging services with the Company. 
 
Related Party Transactions 
 
Refer to note 10 of the May 31, 2020 financial statements. 
 
Outstanding Share Data 
 
As at September 28, 2020, the Company has 33,337,000 common shares issued and outstanding. The 
Company has no stock options or warrants outstanding.  
 
Directors and Officers 
 
Michael Edwards Director and CEO 
Darcy Taylor Director 
Mark Rutledge Director 
Andrew Stewart CFO 
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Background and Corporate Update 
 
This Management Discussion and Analysis – Quarterly Highlights (“Quarterly Highlights”) for Pioneer Media Holdings 
Inc. (the “Company”) is prepared as at January 29, 2021 and should be read in conjunction with the Company’s 
unaudited condensed interim financial statements for the three and six months ended November 30, 2020 and in 
conjunction with its audited financial statements as at and for the year ended May 31, 2020. 
 
The unaudited condensed interim financial statements for the three and six months ended November 30, 2020, and 
comparative information presented therein, have been prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standard (“IFRS”) and with International Accounting Standard 34, “Interim Financial Reporting”, as issued 
by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”). 
 
All dollar figures included therein and in the following Quarterly Highlights are quoted in Canadian dollars. Additional 
information relevant to the Company’s activities can be found on SEDAR at www.sedar.com. 
 
During fiscal 2020, the Company restructured its business by 1) changing its business from the acquisition and 
exploration of mineral property assets to an investment issuer with an initial focus on the gaming and eSport sector; 
2) disposing of its mineral property interests for nominal consideration and impairing 100% of its exploration and 
evaluation assets; and 3) amalgamating with Pioneer Acquisition I Inc., a company also in the gaming and eSport 
sector. 
 
Forward-Looking Statements 
 
Certain statements contained in these Quarterly Highlights may constitute forward-looking statements. These 
statements include statements regarding: 

• the ability of the Company to obtain necessary financing;  

• the ability of the Company to locate, negotiate and make investments; 

• performance of the Company’s business and operations as it relates to its investees;  

• the eSports and gaming markets and the profitability thereof;  

• the Company’s future liquidity and financial capacity;  

• costs, timing and future plans concerning the business and operations of the Company and its investees; 

• the Company’s intention to complete its listing of its securities on a stock exchange and all transactions related 
thereto; and  

• results and expectations concerning various and prospective investments of the Company. 
 

Such forward-looking statements involve a number of known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors 
which may cause the actual results, performance or achievements of the Company to be materially different from 
any future results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements. These 
risks have not been fully delineated by the Company at this time, but are expected to include the risks associated 
with the Company’s proposed new venture of becoming an investment company, such as having no operating history 
in this sector; the lack of appropriate investment opportunities; the inability to identify, select and acquire successful 
investments; its inability to generate or obtain funds for future investments; competition from other entities having 
similar investment objectives, including institutional investors and strategic investors; changing economic 
conditions, financial market volatility, and to other factors that adversely affect the eSport industry; regulations and 
laws governing electronic commerce and the internet; and dependence upon the efforts, skill and business contacts 

http://www.sedar.com/
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of key members of management.  Readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on these forward-looking 
statements. 
 
Risks and Uncertainties 
 
The Company is in the early stages of its gaming and eSport investment business. As such, the Company does not 
have any cash generating assets and is reliant on equity financings in order to maintain operations and participate 
in any new investments.  These additional equity funds may not be available on terms acceptable to the Company. 
There is no assurance that the Company will identify a business or asset that warrants acquisition or participation.  
 
During the first quarter of 2020, there was a global outbreak of a novel coronavirus identified as “COVID-19”.  On 
March 11, 2020, the World Health Organization declared a global pandemic. In order to combat the spread of COVID-
19, governments worldwide have enacted emergency measures including travel bans, legally enforced or self-
imposed quarantine periods, social distancing and business and organization closures. These measures have caused 
material disruptions to businesses, governments and other organizations resulting in an economic slowdown and 
increased volatility in national and global equity and commodity markets. 
 
Central banks and governments, including Canadian federal and provincial governments, have reacted with 
significant monetary and fiscal interventions designed to stabilize economic conditions.  The duration and impact of 
the COVID-19 outbreak is unknown at this time, as is the efficacy of any interventions. It is not possible to reliably 
estimate the length and severity of these developments and the impact on the financial results and condition of the 
Company and its operations in future periods. 
 
Analysis of the Company’s Financial Performance and Condition 
 
Three months ended November 30, 2020 
 
The Company reported earnings of $1,348,156 (2019 – loss of $19,312) and earnings per share of $0.04 (2019 - $nil) 
for the three months ended November 30, 2020. The earnings were comprised the following items: 
 

• The Company reported a gain on fair value changes on investments of $1,545,908 (2019 - $3,671) primarily 
due to the mark-to-market gain of $1,903,167 of Guild eSports Plc. offset by the mark-to-market loss of 
$264,500 of Leaf Mobile Inc. and the mark-to-market loss of $92,025 of Blue Star Capital Plc.   

• The Company reported interest and other income of $21,576 (2019 - $235) primarily composed of $20,930 
(2019 - $nil) of dividends received from Eastside Games Inc. 

• The Company reported an expense of $196,000 (2019 - $nil) of deferred income taxes primarily from the 
gain on fair value changes on investments.   

• Management fees were $6,075 (2019 - $nil) paid to the CFO. 

• Office and miscellaneous expenses were $3,708 (2019 - $1,169) and consisted of 1) rent of $4,000; 2) 
website hosting and maintenance of $1,050; and 3) foreign exchange gain of $1,159.  

• Professional fees were $10,811 (2019 - $11,770) and were composed of $3,000 (2019 - $1,425) of 
accounting and audit fees and $7,811 (2019 - $10,345) of legal fees. 

 
Six months ended November 30, 2020 
 
The Company reported a loss of $785,009 (2019 – $175,577) and a loss per share of $0.02 (2019 - $0.07) for the six 
months ended November 30, 2020. The loss was comprised the following items: 
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• The Company reported a loss on fair value changes on investments of $896,651 (2019 – gain of $3,671) 
primarily due to the mark-to-market loss of $2,956,166 of Leaf Mobile Inc. offset by the mark-to-market 
gain of $1,939,155 of Guild eSports Plc. and the mark-to-market gain of $122,624 of Blue Star Capital Plc. 

• The Company reported interest and other income of $22,241 (2019 - $235) primarily composed of $20,930 
(2019 - $nil) of dividends received from Eastside Games Inc. 

• Impairment of exploration and evaluation assets was $nil (2019 - $123,776) pursuant to the change in 
business and assignment of the Option Agreement. 

• The Company reported a recovery of $142,000 (2019 - $nil) of deferred income taxes primarily from the 
loss on fair value changes on investments.   

• Filing and listing fees were $3,001 (2019 - $29,098). The higher fees reported in 2019 were incurred for the 
purposes of attempting to complete the failed IPO. 

• Management fees were $10,050 (2019 - $nil) paid to the CFO. 

• Office and miscellaneous expenses were $15,996 (2019 - $1,227) and consisted of 1) new investment 
investigative costs of $5,000; 2) website hosting, maintenance and development costs of $5,625; and 3) 
rent of $6,000.  

• Professional fees were $22,922 (2019 - $17,270) and were composed of $3,000 (2019 - $6,925) of 
accounting and audit fees and $19,922 (2019 - $10,345) of legal fees. 

 
Liquidity and Changes to Expense Structure 
 
As at November 30, 2020, the Company’s cash position was $130,477 (May 31, 2020 - $96,100) and it had a working 
capital deficiency of $113,443 (May 31, 2020 - $6,211). 
 
Sources of cash for the Company included 1) the issuance of 7,875,000 common shares for proceeds of $1,513,000; 
2) share subscriptions received of $84,500; and 3) advances from related parties of $120,000.  
 
Uses of cash by the Company included 1) $10,070 for operating activities; and 2) $1,673,063 for the purchase of 
investments.  
 
Subsequent to November 30, 2020, the Company 1) issued 2,000,000 common shares for proceeds of $400,000; and 
2) converted the $103,836 related party loan into 510,000 common shares.  
 
The continuing operations of the Company are primarily dependent on its ability to raise future financing. The 
Company is pursuing a new listing with the Canadian Securities Exchange with the hopes of completing a new IPO in 
fiscal 2021.  
 
Related Party Transactions 
 

1) The Company paid its CFO $10,050 (2019 - $nil) for management fees. 
 

2) A loan in the amount of $15,000 advanced to a company with a common director was repaid in full in 
September 2020. The amount was unsecured and non-interest bearing.  

 
3) A Company related by a common director loaned the Company $103,836. The loan is unsecured, non-

interest bearing, and due on demand. The loan was converted into 510,000 common shares subsequent to 
November 30, 2020. 
 

4) The Company paid $6,000 (2019 - $nil) for rent to a company with a common director. 
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CERTIFICATE OF THE ISSUER 

Pursuant to a resolution duly passed by its Board of Directors, Pioneer Media Holdings Inc. hereby applies 
for the listing of its common shares on the CSE.  The foregoing contains full, true and plain disclosure of 
all material information relating to Pioneer Media Holdings Inc.  It contains no untrue statement of a 
material fact and does not omit to state a material fact that is required to be stated or that is necessary to 
prevent a statement that is made from being false or misleading in light of the circumstances in which it 
was made. 

Dated this 6th day of April, 2021. 

 

     “Michael Edwards”  “Andrew Stewart” 

_______________________________  ______________________________  
Michael Edwards, CEO  Andrew Stewart, CFO 
 
 

     “Darcy Taylor”  “Mark Rutledge” 

______________________________  ______________________________  
Darcy Taylor, Director Mark Rutledge, Director 
 
 

“Michael Edwards” 

_______________________________ 
Michael Edwards, Promoter 
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CERTIFICATE OF PIONEER ACQUISITION I INC. 

The foregoing contains full, true and plain disclosure of all material information relating to Pioneer 
Acquisition I Inc.  It contains no untrue statement of a material fact and does not omit to state a material 
fact that is required to be stated or that is necessary to prevent a statement that is made from being false or 
misleading in light of the circumstances in which it was made. 

Dated this 6th day of April, 2021. 

 

     “Michael Edwards”  “Jonathan Bixby” 

_______________________________  ______________________________  
Michael Edwards, Former CEO and Director  Jonathan Bixby, Former Director 
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